KUOPION YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA D. LÄÄKETIEDE 435 KUOPIO UNIVERSITY PUBLICATIONS D. MEDICAL SCIENCES 435

JUHA SALTEVO

Low-Grade Inflammation and Adiponectin in the Metabolic Syndrome

Doctoral dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Kuopio for public examination in Auditorium in the Central Finland Central Hospital, Jyväskylä, on Saturday 28th June 2008, at 12 noon

> Departments of Medicine and General Medicine Central Finland Central Hospital and University of Kuopio



KUOPIO 2008

Distributor:	Kuopio University Library P.O. Box 1627 FI-70211 KUOPIO FINLAND Tel. +358 17 163 430 Fax +358 17 163 410 www.uku.fi/kirjasto/julkaisutoiminta/julkmyyn.html
Series Editors:	Professor Esko Alhava, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Department of Surgery
	Professor Raimo Sulkava, M.D., Ph.D. School of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition
	Professor Markku Tammi, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Anatomy
Author's address:	Department of Medicine Central Finland Central Hospital FI-40260 JYVÄSKYLÄ FINLAND
Supervisors:	Academy Professor Markku Laakso, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Medicine University of Kuopio
	Professor Mauno Vanhala, M.D., Ph.D. Unit of Family Practice Central Finland Central Hospital, Jyväskylä Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio
Reviewers:	Professor Johan Eriksson, M.D., Ph.D. Department of General Practice and Primary Health Care University of Helsinki
	Docent Jorma Lahtela, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Medicine University of Tampere
Opponent:	Professor Pirjo Nuutila, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Medicine University of Turku

ISBN 978-951-27-0955-7 ISBN 978-951-27-1052-2 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

Kopijyvä Kuopio 2008 Finland Saltevo, Juha. Low-grade inflammation and adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome. Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences 435. 2008. 109 p. ISBN 978-951-27-0955-7 ISBN 978-951-27-1052-2 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

ABSTRACT

The metabolic syndrome (MetS) is an established risk factor cluster for cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type 2 diabetes (T2DM). A rapid increase in the prevalence of obesity worldwide is also associated with an increase of the MetS. Abdominal obesity and insulin resistance are probably the key elements of the syndrome. The role of low-grade inflammation and hypoadiponectinemia remains unclear in the MetS.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the association and significance of low-grade inflammation, measured by high-sensitivity(hs)-CRP and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra), and adiponectin with the MetS in a population-based study.

The study population consisted of subjects from five different age groups (mean age 46 years) living in the city of Pieksämäki. Altogether 923 of 1 294 (71.3%) individuals participated in the cross-sectional studies in 1997-98. The prevalence of the MetS according to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) definition was 38% in men and 34% in women. The corresponding figures according to the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) definition were 34% and 27%.

The levels of pro-inflammatory markers, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra, were significantly higher among women with the MetS compared to men with the MetS, independently of the definition used. In contrast, no gender difference in these markers between men and women was observed in subjects without the MetS.

The relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood and the levels of adiponectin and markers of a low-grade inflammation were related. The association was particularly strong among women. Insulin sensitivity correlated significantly with adiponectin and IL-1 Ra levels, independently of confounding factors, but did not correlate with hs-CRP. The levels of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra were similarly and linearly correlated with the number of components of the MetS in both sexes according to the IDF and NCEP definitions.

In conclusion, the MetS was associated with hypoadiponectinemia and low-grade inflammation measured by hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra in this cross-sectional population-based study. An association was found between the relative change in BMI between childhood and adulthood, insulin sensitivity, the number of components of the MetS and, above all, female gender. Low-grade inflammation could be one explanation why prediabetic women tend to have a more atherogenic risk profile than males years before the diagnosis of diabetes. This long-lasting inflammatory stress may in part explain why T2DM is related to relatively higher CVD mortality in women than in men.

National Library of Medicine Classification: WB 286, WD 210, WD 200.5.H8, WG 120, WK 810 Medical Subject Headings: Adiponectin; Adult; Body Mass Index; C-Reactive Protein; Cross-Sectional Studies; Diabetes Mellitus, Type 2; Cardiovascular Diseases; Child; Female; Finland; Humans; Inflammation; Insulin Resistance; Interleukin 1 Receptor Antagonist Protein; Male; Metabolic Syndrome X; Obesity; Risk Factors

Tiedon määrä on rajaton, mutta sen totuus rajallinen.

"Hiljaa pitää miehen kairassa kulkea ja nostaa hattua kelopuulle" (Alpiini, Lapin mies)

To my wife Sirke and, children Ilona, Inari, Saana, Onni and grandchildren Veeti, Aslak and Hilla

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out in the Departments of Medicine and General Medicine, Central Finland Central Hospital and University of Kuopio. It is based on the metabolic syndrome project conducted in the Pieksämäki area where the first stage screening was done by Professor Mauno Vanhala, M.D., Ph.D., in 1993-94. The subjects were studied again in 1997-98 and this thesis is based on these data.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my principal supervisor Academy Professor Markku Laakso, M.D., Ph.D., who in September 2003 telephoned me, when I was visiting Oxford Diabetes Center. He asked whether or not I was willing to do an academic dissertation on the Pieksämäki data. I was happy to answer "Yes" (there was no other choice). All the adiponectin and cytokine measurements were done under his guidance in the scientific laboratory of Kuopio University. His vast experience in writing scientific papers and showing me the way towards shorter and better reports was of the greatest importance during this thesis. I am grateful that he opened up for me a new scientific world alongside the clinical world, which we had studied together at Kuopio University Hospital in 1984-85 under the guidance of Professor (emeritus) Kalevi Pyörälä.

I owe also my deepest gratitude to my second supervisor, Professor Mauno Vanhala, M.D., Ph.D., Unit of Family Practice, Central Finland Central Hospital and University of Kuopio, who is the father of this Pieksämäki metabolic syndrome project. His pioneer works in finding out the prevalence and the best ways to detect the metabolic syndrome on the population level, were the foundation of this study. He has a very long clinical career at health centers, which has taught him straightward thinking. This practical wisdom has helped me in my conversations with him to find the most appropriate, simple and hopefully best ideas about the metabolic syndrome. He trusted, like the father should , throughout these years in me and this thesis. Thank you, Manu!

During many visits to Äänekoski and with excellent help in statistical problems from biostatistician Hannu Kautiainen from Medcare Foundation I learned much about how statistically valid data is found and turned into figures and tables from the large raw material. For all friendly visits, relaxed intellectual atmosphere and coffee breaks I thank Hannu and the ladies, Pia and Katja, from Medcare.

I Thank Professor Esko Kumpusalo, M.D., Ph.D., Kuopio University, Department of General Medicine for his intellectual academic and practical conversations of the topics and valuable comments about the articles. I owe a specially warm thank to Professor Sirkka Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi, M.D., Ph.D., from Oulu University, the reliable Lapp Lady with her vast experience in this field for preparing together with excellent statistical help of Jari Jokelainen, M.Sc., the insulin sensitivity paper (Study II).

My warm thanks goes to the head of our Internal Medicine department in the Central Finland Central Hospital, Professor Pekka Hannonen, M.D., Ph.D., who believed in this project and made this work possible. I owe sincere thanks also to Professor Jukka Puolakka, M.D., Ph.D., who is nowadays the doctor-in-chief of our hospital district. 10 years ago Jukka and I published our first paper on the metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. During that period Jukka gave me valuable help and tips about scientific work and the problems it involves.

I express my sincere thanks to the official reviewers of this thesis, Professor Johan Eriksson, M.D., Ph.D., University of Helsinki and Docent Jorma Lahtela, M.D., Ph.D., University of Tampere, for their fast and valuable comments and criticism for the improvement of this thesis.

My co-worker, diabetes nurse Marianne Laukkanen, with whom I have done clinical work and conducted many clinical studies during the past twenty years, I warmly thank for her continuous support and excellent clinical work For practical help and psychosocial support I thank Mrs. Kaija Korpela, M.Sc., and Mrs Nina Peränen, M.Sc., and the D2D project team. I thank also scientific assistant Jani Saalamo, in our hospital district, for his help in making all kinds of figures and posters and Mrs. Aila Ruokokoski, M.A., from the scientific library of our hospital for so quickly finding all the important missing publications and page numbers.

I express my thanks to Mr. Michael Freeman, of the English department of Jyväskylä University for his skillful revision of the English language of my thesis.

My very best thanks go to all the subjects who participated in this study and especially to study nurses Päivi Lappi and Maarit Kovanen from Pieksämäki Health center who took care of all the study subjects and reliably performed all the measurements.

Finally, I would like to thank those who have supported me during my life. My greatest and warmest thanks goes to my wife Sirke for her endless love and support during our shared life together. She has without doubt had the main responsibility for taking care of our four children llona, M.D., Inari, M.Sc., Saana and Onni. We are also proud of our three lovely grandchildren Veeti, Aslak and Hilla. From my father, head of the foniatric department in the Central Finland Central Hospital, Esko Saltevo, M.D., and mother, dentist Pirkko Saltevo, I "inherited" this profession and learned the " never give up" attitude. Thank you for all that. I also warmly thank my friends in the " Poikien kirjakerho", "Vappuporukat" and the cross-country Lapland team with whom I hope to share many more events.

This work was financially supported by Central Finland Health Care District and the department of Internal Medicine of the Central Finland Central Hospital by personal grants for the thesis. Department of General Practice of Kuopio University Hospital gave financial support for the measurements of cytokines.

Jyväskylä, 13 th May 2008

Juha Saltevo

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

	Amorican Association of Clinical Endocrinologists
ACE	angiotensin-converting enzyme
ADA	American Diabetes Association
AHA	American Heart Association
ANOVA	analysis of variance
BMI	body mass index
CB	cannabinoid
CHD	coronary heart disease
CI	confidence interval
CRP	C-reactive protein
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DM	diabetes mellitus
DPP	Diabetes Prevention Program
DPS	Diabetes Prevention Study
FASD	European Association for the Study of Diabetes
ECG	electrocardiogram
ECID	European Group for the Study of Inculin Resistance
	European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ER	
FFA	free fatty acid
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
HMW	high-molecular weight
HOMA	homeostasis model assessment
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IGT	impaired glucose tolerance
IL	interleukin
IL-1 Ra	interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
LDL	low-density lipoprotein
LMW	low-molecular weight
MetS	metabolic syndrome
MI	myocardial infarction
MMW	middle-molecular weight
mRNA	messenger ribonucleid acid
NCEP	National Cholesterol Education Program
	non-esterified fatty acid
	normal alugase talarange
	Notional Health and Nutritian Examination Survey
NO	
NS	non-significant
OGII	oral glucose tolerance test
OR	odds ratio
PAI	plasminogen activator inhibitor
PCOS	polycystic ovary syndrome
PVD	peripherial vascular disease
QUICKI	quantitative insulin sensitivity check index
ROS	reactive oxyxen species
SD	standard deviation
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TRL	triglyceride rich lipoprotein
TZD	thiazolidinedione
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus
	V 1

WHOWorld Health OrganizationVLDLvery-low-density lipoproteinWHRwaist-to-hip ratio

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to their Roman numerals I-IV:

I Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Kautiainen H, Laakso M. Levels of adiponectin, C-reactive protein and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist are associated with the relative change in body mass index between childhood and adulthood. Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research. 2007;4:328-31

II Saltevo J, Laakso M, Jokelainen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Kumpusalo E, Vanhala M. Levels of adiponectin, C-reactive protein and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist are associated with insulin sensitivity: a population-based study. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews.2008;2Apr (http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/cgi-bin/fulltext/117952371/main.html,ftx_abs)

III Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Kautiainen H, Kumpusalo E, Laakso M. Association of Creactive protein, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and adiponectin with the metabolic syndrome. The Mediators of Inflammation. 2007; Article ID 93573:1-8

IV Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Kautiainen H, Kumpusalo E, Laakso M. Gender differences in C-reactive protein, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and adiponectin levels in the metabolic syndrome: a population-based study. Diabetic Medicine 2008;23 Apr:e-pub ahead a print (DOI.10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02440.x)

The original publications are reprinted with a kind permission of the copyright holders.

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	15
2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	16
2.1. Metabolic syndrome	16
2.1.1. Evolution of the concept of the metabolic syndrome	16
2.1.2. Definitions of the metabolic sydrome	17
2.1.3. Epidemiology of the metabolic syndrome	20
2.1.3.1. Prevalence of the metabolic sydrome	20
2.1.3.2. Metabolic syndrome and the risk of cardiovascular disease and type 2 dia	betes
	21
2.1.4. Inflammation and metabolic disorders	23
2.1.5. Future challenges for diagnostics and definition	24
2.2. Etiology and components of the metabolic syndrome	25
2.2.1. Abdominal obesity and fat distribution	
2.2.1.1. Adipokines secreted by adipose tissue	
2.2.2. Insulin resistance and glucose intolerance	
2.2.3. Dyslipidemia	
2.2.4. Blood pressure	
2.2.5. Low-grade inflammation and adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome	
2.2.5.1. Adiponectin	
2.2.5.2. C-reactive protein	
2.2.5.3. Interleukin-1 Receptor antagonist	
2.2.6. Other features in the metabolic syndrome	
2.2.6.1. Prothrombotic state	
2.2.6.2. Hyperuricemia	
2.2.6.3. Endothelial dysfunction	40
2.2.6.4. Microalbuminuria	40
2.2.6.5. Polycystic ovary syndrome	41
2.2.6.6. Depression	41
2.3. Genetics of the metabolic syndrome	41
2.4. Life style and other factors in the metabolic syndrome	
2.5. Treatment and clinical aspects of the metabolic syndrome	45
2.6. Early life and the metabolic syndrome in adulthood	47
2.7. Gender differences in the metabolic syndrome, diabetes and cardiovascular	
disease	
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY	50

4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS	51
4.1. Subjects	51
4.2. Clinical methods	52
4.3. Assays and calculations	52
4.4. Statistical analyses	53
5. RESULTS	54
5.1. Characteristics of the study subjects	54
5.2. Associations of adiponectin and pro-inflammatory markers with relative cha	nge in
BMI between childhood and adulthood (Study I)	56
5.3. Associations of adiponectin, C-reactive protein and interleukin-1 receptor	
antagonist with insulin sensitivity in a population-based cohort (Study II)	59
5.4. The associations of CRP, IL-1 Ra and adiponectin with the metabolic	62
syndrome defined by the NCEP and the IDF criteria (Study III)	62
5.5. Gender differences in CRP , IL-1 Ra and adiponectin levels in the metabolic	
syndrome defined by the NCEP and the IDF definitions (Study IV)	66
6. DISCUSSION	68
6.1. Study population and design	68
6.2. Study methods	68
6.3. Associations of cytokines and adiponectin with growth between childhood a	and
adulthood	69
6.4. Associations of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra with insulin sensitivity	70
6.5. Hypoadiponectinemia and pro-inflammation in the metabolic syndrome	72
6.6. Gender differences in hs-CRP, IL-1 Ra and adiponectin levels in the metabol	ic
syndrome	73
6.7. Implications for clinical practice and research	74
7. SUMMARY	75
8. REFERENCES	77

1. INTRODUCTION

The metabolic syndrome (MetS) is the clustering of multiple cardiovascular risk factors in an individual. The constellation of metabolic abnormalities includes glucose intolerance (type 2 diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance, or impaired fasting glycemia), insulin resistance, central obesity, dyslipidemia, and hypertension, all well-documented risk factors for CVD. These conditions co-occur in an individual more often than expected by chance and are associated with increased risk for cardiovascular disease (CVD) (1,2) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (3,4).

Over the past two decades, there has been a striking increase in the number of people with the MetS worldwide. This increase is associated with a global epidemic of obesity and diabetes (5), and the syndrome is seen more often in young adults and children (6).

The pathophysiology of the MetS is complex and not completely understood. The detrimental effects of visceral adipose tissue accumulation and the active endocrine role of adipose tissue have been ackowledged in recent years. Abdominal obesity is believed to be the cause for the MetS, as it clusters with diabetogenic, atherogenic, prothrombotic and proinflammatory metabolic abnormalities (7). Adipose tissue secretes a variety of bioactive substances called adipocytokines, which are closely linked to the MetS and its complications (8). A recently discovered protein, adiponectin, is the most abundant adipocytokine (9), and its expression is highly specific to adipose tissue. Adiponectin has insulin-sensitising properties (10). Reduced adiponectin levels are observed in viscerally obese subjects which contribute to an atherogenic and diabetogenic metabolic risk factor profile (11). In obesity, there is evidence of macrophage infiltration in adipose tissue, leading to an inflammatory condition characterised by elevation of the Interleukin (IL) cytokine superfamily, tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and C-reactive protein (CRP). Adipose tissue produces, presumably as an adaptive response to chronic stress, anti-inflammatory factors suchs as interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) (12). Insulin resistance is increasingly recognized as a chronic, low-grade, inflammatory state. Atherosclerosis and insulin resistance share similar pathophysiogical mechanisms. This lowgrade inflammation could be the link between T2DM and atherosclerosis ("common soil hypothesis") (13). Thus, understanding of the pathophysiology of the MetS and identification of subjects with MetS is highly important. There is urgent need for effective strategies to prevent this emerging global epidemic to be able to prevent the increase of CVD and T2DM (5).

In this population-based study the association and the role of adiponectin, CRP and IL-1 Ra applying two different definitions of the MetS were examined. The association of the abovementioned proinflammatory markers and adiponectin were also analyzed with relative change in BMI between childhood and adulthood, insulin sensitivity and gender differences in the prevalence of the MetS in a cohort of 5 age groups born in 1942, 1947, 1952, 1957 and 1962 (N=1294) in the town of Pieksämäki (population about 20 000), in eastern Finland.

The review of literature will discuss the evolution of the concept, different definitions, epidemiology, and the closely related components of the MetS, especially low-grade inflammation and hypoadiponectinemia. The genetics, lifestyle factors, treatment, early life aspects and gender differences with the MetS will also be discussed.

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1. Metabolic syndrome

2.1.1. Evolution of the concept of the metabolic syndrome

Some 250 years ago in the 18 th century Joannes Baptista Morgagni introduced the mechanistic concept in human physiology and pathology. With the help of only knife for anatomical dissection he was able to identify the intra-abdominal and mediastinal fat accumulation in android obesity. He described the association between visceral obesity, hypertension, hyperuricemia, atherosclerosis and obstructive sleep apnea (14). In modern medical literature the same clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, hypertension, hyperglycemia and hyperurikemia, was first described in 1923 by Kylin, a Swedish physician (15). Later, in 1947, the French physician, Vague, drew attention to upper body adiposity (android or male type obesity) as the obesity phenotype that was often associated with metabolic abnormalities, diabetes and cardiovascular disease (16).

In his Banting Lecture professor Gerald Reaven in 1988 described "Syndrome X" (17). This syndrome was "a cluster of risk factors for diabetes and cardiovascular disease" and tightly associated with insulin resistance. Subsequently, the MetS was called " the deadly quartet"(18) or "the insulin resistance syndrome" (19). However, the etiology of the syndrome has remained unclear. In 1998, the World Health Organization (WHO) proposed the first internationally accepted criteria for the MetS (20). The term "metabolic syndrome" was preferred over "insulin resistance syndrome" (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The classical features of metabolic syndrome. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia are the core of the syndrome. Central obesity may also have an etiological role. Dysplipidemia, elevated blood pressure and glucose intolerance are included in the criteria and they might result from the underlying insulin resistance.

2.1.2. Definitions of the metabolic sydrome

Despite general recognition of the syndrome, the lack of knowledge of its etiology and uniform diagnostic criteria complicated epidemiological studies of the MetS for many years. The WHO diagnostic criteria was the first attempt to achieve some agreement on the definition, particularly for research purposes (20). Insulin resistance was the primary abnormality of this diagnosis. It had to be coupled with any two other features of the syndrome (central obesity, elevated blood pressure, dyslipidemia and microalbuminuria). The report clearly stated that the definition did not imply causal relationships and that the definition could he modified as new information was gathered.

The WHO criteria have been criticized because of the inclusion of microalbuminuria as a component of the syndrome. Microalbuminuria in non-diabetic individuals is uncommon (21) and its association with other components of the syndrome is not consistent (22,23). Furthermore, the requirement that insulin resistance should be measured with the hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp technique (24) in glucose tolerant subjects made the criteria

17

impractical for epidemiological studies. For these reasons the European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR) presented a simpler definition, particularly for epidemiological studies (25). Insulin resistance was still the central element of the diagnosis, but it was defined as the presence of fasting hyperinsulinemia (25,26). Other differences compared to the WHO criteria were the cut-off points for hypertension and dyslipidemia (Table 1). Furthermore, instead of the waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), waist circumference was proposed as a measure of abdominal obesity because it showed a stronger correlation with intra-abdominal adipose tissue mass (27). Microalbuminuria was not included in the EGIR criteria.

The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) published their diagnostic criteria for the MetS in 2001 (28). This definition was based on fasting triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, plasma glucose, waist circumference and blood pressure with equal weight on each component. Insulin resistance was not included in the definition of the syndrome. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) published their slightly different modified NCEP criteria in 2002 to refocus on insulin resistance as the primary cause of metabolic risk factors. Like the EGIR, they used the name insulin resistance syndrome. Major criteria were IGT, elevated triglycerides, reduced HDL cholesterol, elevated blood pressure, and obesity. No specified number of factors qualified for diagnosis, which was left to clinical judgment (29).

Recently, the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) revised the definition of the MetS (30) to be globally more useful. In the IDF criteria abdominal obesity is recognized as an underlying factor for the syndrome. Therefore, a large waist circumference was defined as a compulsatory component for the diagnosis of the MetS. For the first time ethnic-specific cut-points for waist circumference were given. For Caucasian men the cut-off point is \geq 94 cm and for European women \geq 80 cm, based on the sensitivity and specificity of these cut-off points to identify subjects with body mass index (BMI) \geq 25 kg/ m² or WHR \geq 0.9 for men and \geq 0.85 for women (31). The cut-off points for waist circumference for Asian populations are lower since their risk for T2DM and CVD is apparent at lower levels of adiposity than in Europeans (32). The criteria for dyslipidemia and elevated blood pressure are identical to those of the NCEP definition, but the limit for hyperglycemia has been lowered to \geq 5.6 mmol/1 according to the new definition of impaired fasting glucose by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) (33).

	ОНМ	EGIR	NCEP	AACE	IDF	Updated NCEP
Required	f-insulin in top 25%; f- glucose ≧6.1 mmo//L; 2 h glucose ≥7.8 mmo//L	f-insulin in top 25%		High risk of being insulin resistant	Waist ≥94 cm in men or ≥80 cm in women	
	and ≥2 of:	and ≧2 of:	≥3 of:	and ≥2 of:	and ≥2 of:	≥3 of:
Fasting glucose		≧6.1 mmol/L	≥6.1 mmol/L	≧6.1 mmol/L	≥5.6 mmol/L	≥5.6 mmol/L
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	<0.9 in men or <1.0 in women	<1.0	<1.03 men or <1.29 women	<1.03 men or <1.29 women	<1.03 men or <1.29 women	<1.03 men or <1.29 women
	or	or				
Triglycerides	≥1.7 mmol/L	>2.0 mmol/L	≥1.7 mmol/L	≧1.7 mmol/L	≧1.7 mmol/L	≥1.7 mmol/L
Obesity	Waist/hip ratio > 0.90 in men or > 0.85 women;BMI ≥ 30 kg/m ²	Waist ≥94 cm men or ≥80 cm women	Waist ≥102 cm men or ≥88 cm women			Waist ≥102 cm in men or ≥88 cm in women
Hypertension (mmHg)	≥140/90 or drug treatment	≥140/90 or drug treatment	≧130/85 or drug treatment	≥130/85 or drug treatment	≥130/85 or drug treatment	≥130/85 or drug treatment
Microalbuminuria	u-albumin ≥ 20 µg/min					

Table 1. Definitions of the MetS by the WHO, EGIR, NCEP, ACE, IDF, and updated NCEP criteria (modified from 34).

f=fasting, HDL= high-density cholesterol, u= urinary.

19

2.1.3. Epidemiology of the metabolic syndrome

2.1.3.1. Prevalence of the metabolic sydrome

The prevalence and consequences of the MetS were difficult to estimate before more generally accepted definitions of the syndrome were published. It has become obvious that simultaneously with an increase in obesity there has been an increase in the prevalence of the MetS. Analysis of data on a representative sample of 8814 men and women in the United States (Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey from 1988-1999), estimated that the age-adjusted prevalence of the MetS according to the NCEP criteria was 23.6% (35). The prevalence of the MetS increased from 6.7% among participants aged from 20 to 29 years to 43.5% for participants aged from 60 to 69 years. There were also considerable differences in the prevalence of MetS among different ethnic groups (35). The prevalence was highest among Mexican Americans (31.9%) and lowest among Caucasians (21.6%), African Americans (21.6%) and people reporting "another" race or ethnicity (20.3%). Comparison of the WHO and the NCEP definitions showed that the age-adjusted prevalence of the MetS was quite similar, 25.1% and 23.9%, respectively, but 15-20% of the individuals were classified as having the syndrome based on one definition but not on the other, with equal discordance (36).

In a Finnish study of 1 209 middle-aged men (42-60 years) the prevalence of MetS in 1984-1989 was 14.2%, according to the WHO (insulin resistance estimated as hyperinsulinemia), and 8.8 % according to the NCEP definitions. The prevalence numbers are rather low, but subjects with diabetes and CVD were excluded from this cohort (2). More recent data from Finland show that according to the modified WHO criteria, the prevalence numbers in the 1992 FINRISK survey, conducted as part of the FINMONICA cardiovascular risk factor study, were much higher in men (38.8 %) and in women (22.2 %). The prevalence rates were also analyzed in different categories of glucose tolerance in this cross-sectional, population-based sample of 2 049 individuals. The prevalence of the MetS was 14.4% in men and 10.1% in women with normal glucose tolerance (NGT), 84.8% and 65.4% among those with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and 91.1% and 82.7% in subjects with type 2 diabetes, respectively (37). In the same publication, the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (DPS) cohort was analyzed and the prevalence of the MetS in 522 participants with IGT was 78.4% for men, and 72.2% for women (37).

The prevalence of the MetS in a random sample of 207 middle-aged subjects in Tampere and 1 148 subjects in Pieksämäki in 1993-94 were 17% in men and 8% in women. In this study the MetS was defined as a clustering of dyslipidemia (hypertriglyceridemia, low HDL cholesterol or both) and insulin resistance (abnormal glucose tolerance, hyperinsulinemia, or both) (38,39). Recent data on 1 099 healthy Finnish male military conscripts around 19 years of age showed prevalence numbers of the MetS to be 6.8% according to the IDF and 3.5% by the NCEP (40).

A recent study of 9 669 subjects representative of the Greek population reported a prevalence of the MetS 24.5% according to the NCEP criteria, which is very similar to the prevalence in US and Finnish adults (41). According to the new IDF definition, the age-adjusted prevalence of the MetS in the same Greek population was 43.4% and thus much higher. The significantly higher prevalence of the MetS by the IDF definition was attributable to the lower cut-off points for waist circumference and fasting glucose since most subjects with only one or two NCEP diagnostic criteria had the MetS according to the IDF definition (41).

Little is known about the prevalence of the MetS among children and adolescents. Data from the U.S. on adolescents aged 12-17 years in 1999-2004 showed that the prevalence of the MetS using the IDF definition was about 4.5%. It increased with age, was higher among males (6.7%) than females (2.1%), and was highest among Mexican-Ameican adolescents (7.1%) (42). These figures are possibly higher nowadays, because of the rapid rise in adiposity among youth.

2.1.3.2. Metabolic syndrome and the risk of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes

The main reason for identifying subjects with the metabolic syndrome is the fact that these individuals are at a high risk for developing CVD and T2DM (43).

Several prospective population-based studies have investigated the association between metabolic risk factors and CVD. In a large cohort of about 20 000 men and women, followed for an average of 7 years, the all-cause and CVD mortality increased with increasing number of abnormalities associated with the MetS (44).

In the Helsinki policemen study cohort, the insulin resistance factor during the 22-year followup had an age-adjusted hazard ratio of 1.28 for CVD risk and 1.64 for stroke risk. In the same study the lipid factor predicted the risk of CVD, but not that of stroke (45). The MetS also predicted coronary heart disease events in elderly (65-74 years) non-diabetic Finnish men followed up for 7 years (hazard ratio 1.33) (46).

In the Botnia study 4 483 subjects aged 35-70 years were evaluated for cardiovascular risk associated with the MetS applying the WHO definition (insulin resistance estimated by HOMA). The prevalence of CHD and stroke was 3-fold higher in subjects with the syndrome and their mortality markedly increased (12.0%) during the 7-year prospective follow-up compared to subjects without the syndrome (2.2%) (1).

In the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study, a population-based, prospective cohort study of 1 209 Finnish men aged 42 to 60 years at baseline (1984-1989) who were initially without CVD, cancer, or diabetes were followed up until December 1998. Those with the

MetS defined applying the NCEP criteria (waist > 102 cm) had 4.2 times and those with the MetS defined by the other NCEP criteria (waist > 94 cm) 2.9 times higher risk to death from CHD than men without the MetS after adjustment for conventional cardiovascular risk factors. The corresponding figures, according to the WHO definition of the MetS were from 2.9 (waist-hip ratio >0.90 or BMI \ge 30) to 3.3 (waist \ge 94cm) (2).

The predictive value of the WHO and NCEP criteria were compared in the San Antonio Heart Study (2 815 subjects aged 25-64 years, average follow-up time 12.7 years), where the prevalence rate of the MetS in the general population was 25.2% using both definitions. In the general population the NCEP criteria were predictive of all-cause mortality (hazard ratio 1.5) and CVD mortality (hazard ratio 2.5). The WHO criteria only predicted CVD mortality (hazard ratio 1.6) (47).

The Hoorn Study comprised 615 men and 749 women aged 50 to 75 years without diabetes and a history of CVD at baseline in 1989-1990. The prevalence of the MetS ranged from 17-32% using different definitions (NCEP,WHO, EGIR). All the definitions increased the risk for incident cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in 10 years about 2-fold (48).

In the ARIC study population men and women fulfilling the NCEP definition of the MetS had a 1.5 to 2 times higher risk for developing CHD or stroke after adjustments, but having the MetS did not improve CHD risk prediction beyond the level achieved by the Framingham Risk Score (49). In contrast in the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study(4S) and Air Force/Texas Coronary Aterosclerosis Prevention Study (AFCAPS/TexCAPS) placebo-treated patients with MetS defined by the NCEP criteria showed increased risk for major coronary events irrespective of their Framingham-calculated 10-year-risk score category (50).

In a prospective 4-year follow-up study of 750 coronary patients who underwent coronary angiography, the NCEP-definition of the MetS conferred a significantly higher risk for vascular events than the IDF definition (51). The MetS, as defined by all the main criteria, also predicted incident end-stage peripherial vascular disease (PVD) in a prospective population based study in the elderly, but only when adjusted for diabetes status. Two of the single components of the MetS, elevated fasting plasma glucose and microalbumiuria, predicted PVD (52).

The other major complication of the MetS is T2DM (3,4). Overall, the risk for type 2 diabetes in patients with the MetS is 3-5-fold higher (53). In the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study the IDF and NCEP definitions were shown to predict type 2 diabetes equally well (54). A close relationship between the MetS and glucose tolerance was demonstrated in the Botnia study, where the prevalence of the MetS was 10% in women and 15% in men with normal glucose tolerance compared to 42 and 62% in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) and 78 and 84% in subjects with T2DM (1). The predictive power of the MetS for incident diabetes in a Chinese high-risk population was tested during a 5-year follow-up. The NCEP, WHO, EGIR and

AACE definitions identified men as having a 3,7-4.5-fold and women a 1.6-2.8-fold risk of developing diabetes during the 5-year follow-up (55).

Finally, in the San Antonio Heart Study, the WHO, NCEP and IDF definitions showed a similar ability to predict incident diabetes, which ability was not fully explained by glucose intolerance. All definitions predicted incident diabetes independently of age, sex, ethnic origin or family history of diabetes (56).

2.1.4. Inflammation and metabolic disorders

The metabolic and immune systems are among the most fundamental requirements for survival. Many metabolic and immune response pathways or nutrient-pathogen-sensing systems have been evolutionarily conserved throughout species. As a result, immune response and metabolic regulation are highly integrated and the proper function of each is dependent on the other. This interface can be viewed as a central homeostatic mechanism, dysfunction of which can lead to a cluster of chronic metabolic disorders, particularly obesity, type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (57).

The finding in 1993 that tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) is overexpressed in the adipose tissue of obese mice provided the first clear link between obesity, diabetes and chronic inflammation (58). With regard to inflammation, the traditional features of this state do not apply to the diseases in question. In the classic literature, inflammation is described as the principal response of the body invoked to deal with injuries, the hallmarks of which include swelling, redness, pain and fever (tumor, rubor, dolor and calor) (59). This, often short-term, adaptive response is a crucial component of tissue repair and involves the integration of many complex signals in distinct cells and organs. However, the long-term consequences of prolonged inflammation are often not beneficial. Although many of the same mediators are involved in obesity and diabetes, few, if any, of the classic features of inflammation have been observed. Therefore, this new distinct form of injury response is called low-grade or chronic inflammation. This condition is principally triggered by nutrients and metabolic surplus, and engages a similar set of molecules and signalling pathways to those involved in classical inflammation (57).

Both adipose tissue and the liver have an architectual organization in which metabolic cells (adipocytes or hepatocytes) are in close proximity to immune cells (Kupffer cells or macrophages) and both have immediate access to a vast network of blood vessels. This interface might contribute to the emerging importance of these two organs in the initiation and development of metabolic diseases, particularly in the context of obesity and type 2 diabetes. This chronic inflammation is characterized by abnormal cytokine production, increased acute-

phase reactants and other mediators, and activation of a network of inflammatory signalling pathways (60,61).

2.1.5. Future challenges for diagnostics and definition

Although the diagnosis of the MetS has been established and accepted by international organizations, the reasons for using the diagnosis have recently been questioned (63). Diagnosis is warranted if a syndrome reflects a unifying pathological process or predicts future adverse event(s) better than the sum of its components. According to its critics, the current data on the MetS does not fulfill either of these criteria, and thus the labeling of subjects with the term MetS shoud be avoided. In their critical joint statement the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) expressed concerns regarding the MetS that the criteria are ambiguous or incomplete and the rationale for thresholds are ill defined. The value of including diabetes in the definition is questionable and insulin resistance as the unifying etiology is uncertain. It is stated that there is no clear basis for excluding other CVD risk factors as smoking and elevated LDL cholesterol, and therefore the CVD risk associated with the syndrome appears to be no greater than the sum of its parts. The treatment of the syndrome is not different from the treatment of each of its components (62).

Furthermore, the separate components of the syndrome may show different risk profiles (49,63,64), suggesting that the different combinations do not carry equal risk. According to a recent review by Richard Kahn, entitled " The metabolic syndrome (emperor) wears no clothes", the dichotomous nature of the diagnosis of the MetS is problematic, because the criteria included in the definition are continuous variables with no upper limits given for any of them (65).

The high intercorrelation between the components of the MetS complicates the use of traditional statistical methods and therefore, confirmatory factor analysis, a multivariate correlation method, has been used to investigate the relationship of the variables included in the syndrome (66,67). Factor analysis identifies statistically independent latent factors underlying the associations of the included variables. If an analysis reveals only a single factor this supports the hypothesis that the MetS has a common etiology e.g. insulin resistance. The other case is that several factors represent distinct physiological phenotypes, which suggests a more complex etiology. However, if a variable is associated with more than one factor, this overlap indicates unifying commonalities between physiological domains and provides an insight into the common factor underlying the syndrome (66). Factor analysis has consistently yielded from 2 to 4 factors for the MetS with a separate obesity-hyperinsulinemia factor (46,68-72) that in many cases also included dyslipidemia. Blood pressure has most consistently loaded on a separate factor (68,69,71,72).

Confirmatory factor analysis supports the current clinical definition of the MetS, as well as the existance of a single factor that links all of the core components (73). The same one factor model was found also in adolescents and the model appeared to be consistent across sex and racial/ethnic subgroups (74). Further investigation is needed to determine whether the core factor is genetic or environmental (73).

2.2. Etiology and components of the metabolic syndrome

The original description of the MetS was based on the assumption that the syndrome is a clinical manifestation of insulin resistance. However, it is unlikely that insulin resistance can explain all the components of the MetS. As more data have been published and many new features have been proposed as being part of the syndrome (low-grade inflammation, hypoadiponectinemia, endothelial dysfunction and prothrombotic state), abdominal obesity has been nominated as a marker of " dysfunctional adipose tissue", and is of central importance in the clinical diagnosis of the MetS (7). Also environmental, possibly preventive, intrauterine and early life factors are involved along with genetics in the pathophysiology of the MetS (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Components of the metabolic syndrome. Diet, genes and physical inactivity contribute to the pathophysiology of the MetS.

2.2.1. Abdominal obesity and fat distribution

The dramatic worldwide increase in the prevalence of obesity, defined as BMI > 30 kg/m², is the most important underlying cause for the increasing prevalence of the MetS and T2DM (5). Basically, obesity results from an imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure. However, this balance is modified by numerous genetic, environmental and psychososial factors (75). In 1956, Vaque reported for the first time that android-type upper body fat deposition is associated with increased risk for chronic diseases, including diabetes, atherosclerosis and gout (76).

In the NHANES study conducted in the U.S between 1989 and 1994 according to the NCEP criteria 30.1% of men had abdominal obesity, while 5 years later it had increased to 36.0%. A similar increase was observed in women during the same period from 45.7% to 51.9% (77). In a recent Finnish population-based study of 45 to 65-year old persons, the prevalence of abdominal obesity was 68.8% in men and 76.4 % in women, according to the IDF criteria (\geq 94 cm for men and \geq 80 cm for women), and 36.4% and 51.8%, according to the NCEP criteria (\geq 102 for men and \geq 88 cm for women) (78).

Randomly chosen primary care physicians in 63 countries recruited consecutive patients aged 18 to 80 years on 2 prespecified half days. Waist circumference and BMI were measured and the presence of CVD and diabetes mellitus recorded. Overall, 24% of 69 409 men and 27% of 98 750 women were obese (BMI > 30 kg/m²). A further 40% and 30 % of men and women, respectively, were overweight. Increased waist circumference (>102 cm for men and > 88 cm for women) was noted in 29% and 48%, CVD in 16% and 13%, and diabetes mellitus in 13% and 11% of men and women, respectively. A statistically significant graded increase existed in the frequency of CVD and diabetes mellitus for both BMI and waist (79).

While BMI provides an indicator of overall obesity for epidemiological purposes, a more accurate assessment of total body composition can be obtained by bioelectrical impedance (80), underwater weighing (81) or dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) (82). Waist circumference is probably the most important anthropometric measure, because the impact of the distribution of body fat is crucial for the metabolic consequences. Waist circumference correlates with abdominal obesity better than waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) (28). The most reliable assessment of abdominal fat distribution can be obtained with computed tomography (83) or magnetic resonance imaging (84).

Adipose tissue is distributed throughout the body as large homogeneous discrete compartments and as small numbers of cells "marbling" or adjacent to other tissues. Most adipose tissue (about 85% of total adipose tissue mass) is located under the skin (subcutaneous fat) in both lean and obese persons (85). In both sexes, older men and women had a significantly greater increase in visceral fat measured by MRI for a given waist

circumference than younger men and women (< 50 years) (86). The term "visceral fat" is commonly used to describe intra-abdominal fat, and includes both intraperitoneal fat (mesenteric and omental fat), which drains directly into portal circulation, and retroperitoneal fat, which drains into the systemic circulation. The relative contribution of intra-abdominal fat mass to total body fat is influenced by sex, age, race/ethnicity, physical activity, and total adiposity (87). At any given level of waist circumference, the prevalence of diabetes is consistently higher in Asians than in Caucasians (88,89).

Since Vaque's work a large number of both cross-sectional and prospective studies have assessed the impact of body fat distribution and confirmed the link of abdominal obesity with insulin resistance (90,91), the metabolic syndrome (92,93), T2DM (94,95), CVD (96,97) and mortality independently of BMI (98). An increase in visceral fat mass, despite similar total fat mass, has been demonstated in subjects with family history of T2DM compared with subjects without. This suggests that increased visceral fat mass may be an early sign of predisposition to the development of insulin resistance and T2DM (99).

In addition to its function as a store of surplus energy, adipose tissue has multiple regulatory functions in metabolism. Changes in biological properties of adipocytes are thought to contribute to the adverse metabolic effects of abdominal fat tissue. In the normal state the balance between adipose tissue, lipolysis and triglyceride synthesis is carefully governed by energy status, various hormones and the autonomic nervous system. This balance is disrupted in abdominal obesity due to an increase in both fasting and postprandial free fatty acid (FFA) levels (100,101). Furthermore, visceral adipose tissue has been shown to be more sensitive to β -adrenergic lipolysis than subcutaneous adipose tissue because of the larger numbers of β -adrenergic receptors on the cell surface (102). The antilipolytic effect of insulin has shown to be impaired in visceral adipose tissue, resulting in an excess supply of FFAs and causing multiple adverse events closely associated with insulin resistance (103,104). Viscerally obese subjects are also characterized by an exaggerated postprandial triglyceride response (105,106).

However, it is not known whether the storage of an absolute or relative excess amount of triglycerides in abdominal fat depots is directly responsible for increased disease risk or whether such deposition is simply associated with other processes that cause risk (87). In one of the earliest hypotheses, Björntorp proposed that intra-abdominal fat mass was the result of activation of the hypothalamic-hypopituitary-adrenal axis by environmental stress (107-109). More recently, it has been suggested that the limited ability of subcutaneous fat depots to store excess energy results in "overflow" of chemical energy to intra-abdominal fat tissue and "ectopic" sites, causing insulin resistance in the liver (110) and skeletal muscle (111), whereas fat accumulation in the liver rather than in skeletal muscle is associated more with features of the MetS (112). Liver fat content has been found to be 4-fold higher in subjects with the MetS than without, independently of age, gender, or body mass index (113), and type 2 diabetic patients

have 80% more liver fat, underestimated by ALT level, than age-, weight-, and gender-matched non-diabetic subjects (114). Even in obese adolescents high visceral and low abdominal subcutaneous fat stores, measured in many different ways are the main determinants of an adverse metabolic phenotype (115).

The biological activity of an adipocyte changes as its lipid storage increases. Compared with small adipocytes, large cells are more insulin-resistant and lipolytic, release more inflammatory cytokines and less adiponectin (116,117), and are more frequently found in people with obesity-related metabolic disorders (118).

These hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, and it is possible that all, including genetic factors, are involved in the association between abdominal fat mass and adverse metabolic consequences.

2.2.1.1. Adipokines secreted by adipose tissue

Adipose tissue is not only involved in the storage and mobilization of lipids but is also an important endocrine organ releasing numerous polypeptides, collectively termed adipokines. The term adipokine is generally applied to biologically active substances found in the adipocytes of adipose tissue (119). Adipokines include a variety of proinflammatory peptides: TNF- α , Interleukin(IL)-6, CRP, adiponectin, leptin, resistin, visfatin, PAI-1, apelin, hepcidin, vaspin and IL-1 Ra (120) (Table 2).

TNF- α is a paracrine mediator in adipocytes and appears to act locally to reduce insulin sensitivity of adipocytes (121). This leads to high release of FFA:s and atherogenic dyslipidemia (122). TNF- α also increases the secretion of other inflammatory mediators (121).

IL-6 is a systemic adipokine, which not only impairs insulin sensitivity, but is also a major determinant of the hepatic production of C-reactive protein (CRP), the most important source of this inflammatory marker (123). The role of CRP in the MetS is discussed later in section 2.2.5.2. During the last decade, an accumulating amount of data has suggested that IL-6 plays a pivotal role as a multifaceted pleiotropic cytokine. IL-6 produced in the working muscle during physical activity could act as an energy sensor by activating AMP-activated kinase and enhancing glucose disposal, lipolysis and fat oxidation (124).

Adiponectin is the most abundant adipokine in the plasma (125). In contrast to other adipokines, adiponectin level is inversely associated with insulin resistance, obesity, the MetS and type 2 diabetes (8,126), and women have higher levels of adiponectin compared to men (127). The role of adiponectin is discussed later in section 2.2.5.1.

Leptin was first identified in 1994 as a hormone secreted by adipocytes. It is a 16 kDa nonglycosylated peptide hormone encoded by the gene obes(ob), the murine homolog of the human gene LEP (128). Adipose tissue is the only known source of leptin, and its secretion is proportional to adipocyte size (129). Leptin participates in the regulation of appetite and energy expenditure (130), acts as a potential modulator of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-axis (131), and is considered a hormone with pleiotropic actions (132). Leptin acts as a fundamental signal for the brain to modulate food intake as a function of energy status. Loss of leptin function results in obesity (133). In men (134) and patients with type 2 diabetes (135), plasma leptin levels are associated with the occurrence of cardiovascular diseases. Because the level of leptin increases with obesity and that of adiponectin decreases with obesity, the ratio of leptin to adiponectin can be used as an index of insulin resistance (136). In a recent study with young Finnish adults it was found that the ratio between hs-CRP and leptin was independent of obesity and cardiovascular risk factors. Because the effect of leptin was not restricted to obesity, it was suggested that leptin might regulate development of chronic low-grade inflammation at all levels of body weight (137). In a prospective population-based study leptin levels significantly predicted the development of the MetS, independently of baseline BMI (138).

Resistin is a dimeric protein that is highly expressed in mouse adipose tissue (139). In humans resistin is mainly produced by macrophages and is involved in an inflammatory process that may be related to atherosclerosis (140). Abdominal fat depots showed a 418% increase in resistin mRNA expression compared with thigh fat (141).

Visfatin, originally identified as a pre-B-cell colony-enhancing factor, is highly expressed in visceral adipose tissue, and plasma visfatin levels correlated with obesity (142). Visfatin lowers blood glucose levels in mice, and in vitro visfatin directly activates the insulin-receptor signalling cascade (142). However, in humans no correlation was found between plasma visfatin levels and parameters of insulin sensitivity (143).

High levels of plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 contribute to the procoagulant state in the MetS. Although PAI-1 is synthesized in many cell types, adipose tissue is the major source of PAI-1, and circulating PAI-1 levels correlate with visceral obesity (144). In obese individuals PAI-1 levels are increased in those with MetS (145). The fibrinolytic system could play a role in the regulation of adiopose tissue development and insulin signaling in adipocytes (146).

Apelin is a bioactive peptide that was originally identified as the endogenous ligand of orphan G-protein-coupled receptor APJ (147). It has been suggested that production of apelin in the obese might be an adaptive response to obesity-related disorders such as mild chronic inflammation (148).

The most recently discovered adipokines are hepcidin and vaspin. Hepcidin was discovered in 2001 as a urinary antimicrobial peptide synthesized in the liver, and was later identified as an adipokine. It has a function as a key regulator of iron homeostasis, hypoxia and inflammatory stimuli (149,150). Vaspin was discovered in 2005 as a serpin (serine protease inhibitor) produced in visceral adipose tissue. It might also constitute a compensatory mechanism in response to obesity and inflammation (151).Vaspin concentrations are higher in female

compared to male subjects. In the normal glucose-tolerant (NGT) group, circulating vaspin significantly correlated with BMI and insulin sensitivity (152).

Table 2. Overview of key adipokines (modified from 120, 154).

Adipokine	Key Properties	Secretion in obesity
	Pro athorogonia diabatagonia	Increased
Turriour Necrosis-	Pro-atherogenic, diabelogenic,	Increased
Factor (TNF)- a	paracrine role in adipocyte	
	Decreased insulin signalling	
	modiatora	
Interloukin (II.) 6	Promotos inflammation, pro athorogonia	Increased
Inteneukin (IL)-0	diabetogenic	Increased
	Increased vascular inflammation	
	Increased hepatic C-reactive protein proc	luction
	Decreased insulin signalling	
	Possible enhances glucose disposal and	lipolysis
C-reactive protein	Promotes inflammation, pro-atherogenic,	Increased
	diabetogenic	
	Marker of chronic low-grade inflammation	1
	Predicts adverse cardiovascular outcome	s
Adiponectin	Anti-atherogenic, anti-diabetogenic	Decreased
	Decreased differentation of	
	macrophages into foam cells	
	Decreased atherogenic vascular remodel	ling
	Decreased hepatic glucose output	
	Increased insulin sensitivity	
Leptin	Inhibits appetite and weight gain in hypothalam	us Increased
	Decreased insulin signalling	
	Pleiotropic actions	
Resistin	Exarberates insulin resistance	Increased
	Decreased insulin signalling	
	Decreased endothelial function	
	Increased vascular smooth muscle prolife	eration
Vistatin	Activates insulin signalling in mice	Increased
Plasminogen Activator-	Pro-atherogenic, pro-coagulant	Increased
Inhibitor (PAI)-1	Increased atherothrombotic risk	
Apelin	Adaptive response to obesity (?)	Increased
	Increased by TNF	
Hepcidin	Regulator of iron homeostasis and inflammato	ry Increased
	stimulus	
Vaspin	Compensatory mechanism	Increased
	to obesity and inflammation (?)	
Interleukin-1 Receptor	Adaptive response to inflammation	Increased
antagonist (IL-1 Ra)	Prevents IL-1 responses	
	Acute phase reactant	
	Increases insulin resistance	

Adipose tissue produces, presumably as an adaptive response, anti-inflammatory factors such as interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra), which binds competitively to the type 1

receptor without triggering activity within the cell (153). The role of IL-1 Ra is discussed later in section 2.2.5.3.

Accumulating evidence suggests that an increase in visceral abdominal fat mass is the primary perturbation in the pathogenesis of the MetS, providing mediators, adipokines, for cross-talk with other tissues and finally leading to insulin resistance and vascular disorders (154).

2.2.2. Insulin resistance and glucose intolerance

Insulin is a hormone with important metabolic functions. By stimulating the uptake of glucose into skeletal muscle cells and adipocytes and inhibiting hepatic glucose production, insulin can be regarded as the most important regulator of the plasma glucose level. In addition, insulin stimulates lipogenesis and glycogen and protein synthesis in adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle cells and inhibits glycogenolysis, lipolysis and protein breakdown (155).

Insulin resistance can be defined as an insufficient response of the target organs (liver, skeletal muscle cells and adipose tissue) to physiological plasma insulin levels. A disruption in the insulin signalling transduction pathway is considered to be the most important underlying mechanism. Insulin resistance has different effects in different organs and leads to a compensatory increase in the production of insulin by pancreatic beta-cells, resulting in hyperinsulinemia (155). The impact of genetic factors has been demonstated by reduced insulin sensitivity in certain ethnic groups (156) and in first-degree relatives of T2DM patients (157). Also free fatty acids and TNF- α and other adipokines play a central role. Insulin resistance is a strong predictor of the risk for developing T2DM (158). In large prospective population studies hyperinsulinemia (a surrogate marker of insulin resistance) has also predicted CVD and mortality (159-161).

The hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp is widely recognized as the gold standard for measuring insulin sensitivity (24). However, it is complex, costly and time consuming, and therefore not suitable for population-based studies. The homeostasis model assessment (HOMA-IR) of insulin resistance is a simple and less expensive method and therefore widely used in epidemiological studies. HOMA-IR gives an estimate of basal insulin resistance from the mathematical modeling of fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations. The correlation with clamp-measured insulin sensitivity is generally around -0.80 (162). Fasting insulin level has also been used as a marker of insulin resistance in epidemiological studies. The correlation of insulin levels and clamp measured insulin sensitivity is around -0.70 in subjects with normal glucose tolerance (26). In the large DECODE study, hyperinsulinemia, defined by the highest quartile for fasting insulin, was significantly associated with cardiovascular mortality in both men and women independently of other risk factors (163). Hyperinsulinemia and insulin

resistance may partly represent different phenotypes (164). The quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI) is an alternative method of measuring insulin sensitivity in large population studies, and is determined by fasting glucose and insulin levels. QUICKI correlates significantly with the glucose clamp method (165,166), and predicts better than fasting insulin the onset of type 2 diabetes (167).

The biological action of insulin is mediated via the insulin receptor, which is widely expressed in human tissues. Insulin resistance is believed to result from a defect inherent in the insulin signalling pathway, which is common to many insulin-responsive cell types. Individuals who lack the insulin receptor or have antibodies against it develop severe insulin resistance (168). However, this intrinsic receptor defect does not explain the link between obesity and insulin resistance. As insulin is anabolic and enhances fat storage, insulin resistance in adipose tissue might be expected to mitigate obesity (169).

An alternative theory postulates that insulin resistance arises when pathological levels of humoral factors disrupt insulin signalling in responsive tissues. This humoral theory emerged from the recently recognized role of adipose tissue as a secretory organ (170), and provided an obvious link between obesity and insulin resistance. In 2005 this was confirmed and extended by demonstrating that inflammation in the liver can be the primary source of systemic factors that lead to the development of insulin resistance (171). Insulin has been found to be an anti-inflammatory hormone. It has been shown to suppress several proinflammatory transcription factors, such as nuclear factor- κ B, EGR-1 and activating protein-1 and the corresponding genes regulated by them, which mediate inflammation (172,173). Impairment in the action of insulin because of insulin resistance would thus result in the activation of these proinflammatory transcription factors and an increase in the expression of the corresponding genes (174).

The integration of all these mechanisms might lead to so called endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. This theory was presented by Hotamisligil (175). It is believed that inflammatory responses in obesity can be triggered in the adipocyte or macrophages by extracellular mediators such as cytokines or lipids, or initiated through ER stress. Signals from all these mediators converge on inflammatory signalling pathways. The mediators include kinases: c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase and protein kinase C (PKC), and reactive oxygen species (ROS). Once activated they lead to the production of additional inflammatory mediators through transcriptional regulation and this starts a vicious circle. They also directly inhibit insulin receptor signalling (175).

Glucose intolerance develops when insulin secretion from pancreatic β cells fails to compensate for insulin resistance in target tissues. Insufficient insulin action in the liver leads to increased gluconeogenesis and to glycogenolysis of stored glycogen. An increase in FFA levels, due to adipose tissue insulin resistance, contributes to glucose production by stimulating gluconeogenesis (176). Rising hyperglycemia per se also contributes via so-called glucose

toxicity to impaired insulin secretion (177). Diminished insulin secretion patterns, which might be genetically determined, are also observed in first-degree relatives of T2DM even during euglycemia (178,179).

In many subjects, atherosclerosis precedes the development of type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular complications are often present in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes patients. In the Euro Heart Survey 31% of patients with acute or chronic CHD had diabetes. In the patients with acute CHD, 36% had IGT, and 22% had newly detected diabetes. In the stable group these proportions were 37% and 14%. Only about 30% of the CHD patients had normal glucose tolerance (180). On the other hand diabetes without prior myocardial infarction was CHD equivalent in an 18-year follow-up study of Finnish subjects, if prior CHD was defined as myocardial infarction. When less stringent criteria for prior CHD were used (myocardial infarction or ischemic ECG changes or angina pectoris), type 2 diabetes carried a larger risk than prior CHD, especially in women (181). The metabolic syndrome and diabetes carry increased risk of stroke (182). These findings indicate that diabetes and cardiovascular disease may share an underlying cause (13,183). It is possible that this common link between T2DM and CVD is insulin resistance (184).

2.2.3. Dyslipidemia

Dyslipidemia in the MetS is characterized by elevated triglycerides (TG) and low levels of HDL-C (20,25,29,30). Plasma LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) levels are often normal in the MetS. A common finding, however, is that LDL particles are smaller and denser than normal (185), a state believed to be associated with increased cardiovascular risk.

The predominant mechanism in the insulin resistance setting is increased influx of FFAs into the liver, which increases hepatic production of triglyceride-rich VLDL particles (186). Insulin resistance may also lead to impaired LPL activity, and thus reduced triglyceride clearence may contribute to elevated triglyceride levels in the MetS (187). A recent study links postprandial elevation of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL) to high hepatic fat content and low adiponectin levels. Elevation of postprandial TRL exposes the liver to excess FFA and can influence hepatocellular lipid metabolism, leading to hepatic steatosis and disturbance in the insulin signaling pathways (188). Hypertriglyceridemia is an excellent reflection of the insulin resistant condition and one important criteria for diagnosis of the MetS.

In the presence of hypertriglyceridemia, a decrease in the cholesterol content of HDL results from decreases in the cholesterol ester content of the lipoprotein core along with variable increases in triglycerides making the particle small and dense. This process is in part a function of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (189). This change in lipoprotein composition also results in increased clearance of HDL from the circulation (190). The relation of these changes

in HDL to insulin resistance are probably indirect, arising in concert with the changes in triglyceride-rich lipoprotein metabolism (53).

In addition to HDL, the composition of LDL is modified. With fasting serum triglycerides > 2,0 mmol/l, almost all individuals have a predominance of small dense LDL (191), which might be more atherogenic than buoyant LDL. The propensity towards small dense LDL is attributable to its facilitated transit through the endothelium and tight adherence to intimal proteoglycans, in addition to its susceptibility to oxidation (192). All these changes are not independent, but related to concominant changes in other lipoproteins and risk factors (193).

2.2.4. Blood pressure

The association of elevated blood pressure and insulin resistance or hyperinsulinemia was first reported more than 40 years ago (194). Insulin resistance is found to be directly correlated with the severity of hypertension (195). About a half of hypertensive subjects are insulin-resistant (196,197). The association of hyperinsulinemia and hypertension has also been confirmed in prospective studies. In the San Antonio Heart Study (198), and in Swedish middle-aged men (199) and women (200), fasting insulin levels were associated with hypertension 8-12 years later.

The underlying mechanisms connecting insulin resistance and hypertension are not clear. Insulin is a vasodilator when given intravenously to normal-weight subjects (201), with secondary effects on natrium re-absorption in the kidney (202). In insulin-resistant subjects the vasodilatory effect of insulin is lost, possibly impairing endothelium-derived nitric oxide (NO) production (201), but the renal effect of natrium reabsorption is preserved (202). Hyperinsulinemia also increases the activity of the sympathetic nervous system (203) and modifies transmembrane cation transport (204). Furthermore, locally enhanced glucocorticoid activity in the adipose and muscle tissue of obese subjects contributes to metabolic abnormalities associated with the MetS, and this may lead to hypertension via the activation of the renin-angiotensin system (205). The role of adipokines and cytokines in hypertension and the MetS have not yet been established (206), but adiponectin concentrations have been found to be low in subjects with essential hypertension (207).

Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia may in the long term promote increases in blood pressure, complementing many other mechanisms in the pathogenesis of hypertension, or they might even be the primary defect (208).

2.2.5. Low-grade inflammation and adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome

The finding that TNF- α is overexpressed in the adipose tissue of obese mice provided the first clear link between obesity, diabetes and chronic low-grade inflammation (58). However, the first indication of this pathophysiological connection between diabetes and inflammation was presented over 130 years ago, when Ebstein reported that high doses of salicylate improved glucosuria in diabetic patients (209).

This idea was then forgotten until a group of epidemiologists in the mid-1990s discussed the possibility that diabetes and atherosclerosis have common antecedents (the"common soil hypothesis") (13). In 1998 Pickup and Crook (210) finally laid out a more specific pathophysiological hypothesis. Based on the observation that dyslipidemia, common to people with T2DM, is also a feature of the experimental disease and naturally occurring acute-phase reactions, Pickup and Crook proposed that in individuals with an innately hypersensitive acutephase response, long-term lifestyle and environmental stressors, such as high-fat diet, produce disease (T2DM) instead of repair. They further explained that the innate immune system is primarily responsible for the acute-phase response, a self-limiting process induced by a variety of stressors (infection, tissue injury, and malignancy) causing a number of cells (macrophages, adipocytes, and endothelial cells) to secrete cytokines (interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6 and TNF-a), which act on the liver to synthesize acute-phase proteins (fibrinogen, C-reactive protein, serum amyloid A, and others). Due to its self-limiting nature, the acute-phase response is aimed at restoring the homeostasis disturbed by an acute stressor. However, in response to chronic stressors, the system may become allostatic, i.e., the sustained effort to acutely battle challenges may ultimately result in overload of the system's resources, and thus the system breaks down (211) and type 2 diabetes develops (212). Adipose tissue produces, presumably as an adaptive response to chronic stress, anti-inflammatory factors such as interleukin-1 receptor antagonists (IL-1 Ra) (153).

2.2.5.1. Adiponectin

Adiponectin is an anti-inflammatory cytokine produced exclusively by adipocytes. Physiological plasma adiponectin concentrations are very high (5-10 μ g/ml, higher in women than in men, accounting for about 0.05% of total serum proteins) and visceral obesity has been shown to be negatively correlated with plasma adiponectin levels (213). The mechanism by which (visceral) obesity leads to a reduction in plasma adiponectin levels has not yet been elucidated (155), but reduced adiponectin levels can be caused by interactions of genetic factors such as single nucleotide polymorphism 276 in the adiponectin gene itself and environmental factors, i.e., lifestyle changes that cause obesity, such as a high-fat diet and sedentary lifestyle (214).

Adiponectin, also termed Acrp30 (adipocyte complement-related protein of 30 kDa) (9), AdipoQ (215), apM1 (adipose most abundant gene transcript 1) (216) or gelatin binding protein of 28 kDa (217), was originally identified independently by 4 groups using different approaches in 1995-96. Adiponectin exists in a wide range of multimer complexes in plasma and combines via its collagen domain to create 3 major oligomeric forms: a low-molecular weight (LMW) trimer, a middle-molecular weight (MMW) hexamer, and high-molecular weight (HMW) 12- to 18-mer adiponectin (218).

Several mechanisms for the metabolic effects of adiponectin have been described (169). In the liver, adiponectin enhances insulin sensitivity, decreases the influx of NEFAs, increases fatty acid oxidation, and reduces hepatic glucose output. In muscle, adiponectin stimulates glucose use and fatty acid oxidation. Within the vascular wall, adiponectin inhibits monocyte adhesion by decreasing the expression of adhesion molecules, inhibits macrophage transformation to foam cells by inhibiting scavenger receptors, and decreases proliferation of migrating smooth cells in response to growth factors. Adiponectin has a sticky nature, binding to collagen I, III and V, which are present in vascular intima. Hence the name adiponectin. In addition, adiponectin increases nitric oxide production in endothelial cells and stimulates angiogenesis. These effects are mediated via increased phosphorylation of the insulin receptor, activation of AMP-activated protein kinase, and modulation of the nuclear factor KB pathway.

White adipose tissue is the only source of adiponectin, and in contrast to other adipokines, adiponectin level is inversely associated with insulin resistance, obesity, the MetS (219,220), T2DM (221), and atherosclerosis (222,223). In prospective studies a low level of adiponectin has been predictive of the development of insulin resistance, T2DM , hypertension and cardiovascular disease (224-228). High adiponectin levels have been found to be protective against development of T2DM (229,230). Pima Indians with high concentrations of adiponectin were 40% less likely to develop T2DM than those with low concentrations after adjustment for BMI, indicating that adiponectin could be used as a predictor of the future development of T2DM (229).

In both humans and rodents females have higher plasma adiponectin levels than males, suggesting that hormones regulate the production of adiponectin, although it is controversial how these hormones, such as estrogen and testosterone, are involved (125,214). Relatively little is known about how plasma adiponectin is metabolized and cleared from the circulation, but it is detected in urine in T2DM subjects and healthy males, and shows elevated levels in patients with macro-albuminuria (231).

According to the adiponectin hypothesis, a therapeutic strategy for the treatment of insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, the MetS, and cardiovascular disease may include the elevation of plasma adiponectin levels by the upregularion of adiponectin receptors, Adipo R1 and Adipo R2 (232), or the development of adiponectin receptor agonists (214). The increase in the level of
adiponectin is observed after administration of insulin-sensitizing thiazolidinediones (TZD) (243), which serve as agonist for the transcription factor PPAR, and angiotensin II receptor blockers (234) or angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (235). Also weight loss (236), Rouxen-Y gastric bypass surgery (237) and some dietary factors such as soy protein (238) and fish oils (239) increase adiponectin levels. Physical training resulted in increased adiponectin receptors 1 and 2 mRNA expression in subcutaneous fat, and thus may mediate the improvement of insulin resistance in response to exercise (240).

The exact role of adiponectin in health, the MetS, insulin resistance, T2DM and cardiovascular disease is not clear, but it is assumed to play a key role in these contexts and can be called an endogenous insulin sensitizer. It has been suggested that a low level of circulating adiponectin represents an independent risk factor and a possible biomarker for the metabolic syndrome (241). The idea of increasing the level of adiponectin by upregulation of receptors makes adiponectin an even more promising treatment option in the future (11).

2.2.5.2. C-reactive protein

C-reactive protein was first described in 1944. An increase in the concentration of serum capsular swelling protein (later named as CRP) was seen in a patient with acute myocardial infarction accompanied by a rise in body temperature and white blood cell count (242). It was four decades later that this increase in CRP in unstable coronary disease was recognized as potentially reflecting more than an inflammatory response to necrosis (243). Since then many epidemiological studies have demonstrated a significant association between elevated CRP and the prevalence of underlying CVD, the risk of recurrent CVD events among those with established disease, or the incidence of first CVD event among those at risk (244). In particular it has been shown that there is a consistent and robust relationship between high-sensitivity CRP (hs-CRP) and the risk of future CV events (245,246). High CRP levels are associated with an increased risk of CVD among subjects with the MetS or diabetes, even independently of currently established lifestyle risk factors, blood lipids, and glycemic control (247,248), although in the Framingham offspring study discrimination of subjects at risk of CVD events using both MetS and CRP was not better than using either alone (249).

After the findings of the association between CRP and CHD, a relationship with obesity and elevated CRP and IL-6 was observed in healthy subjects in 1999 (12). Obesity was an important determinant of CRP concentration in monozygotic twins, independent of genetic influences (250). Higher BMI (251,252) and central obesity was seen as a major determinant of increased CRP in the MetS (253) and in T2DM (254).

The association between CRP and a number of the components of the MetS have been described, supposing that the MetS is associated with a systemic inflammatory response (255). An increment of 1 mg/L in CRP over 12 years in elderly Finnish women was associated with a

37% increase in the risk of developing the MetS during the same period after adjustment for baseline age, smoking, the use of drugs for lipids, hormone replacement therapy, and prevalent CVD (256). The optimal CRP cut-off point for the MetS was 0,65 mg/L in a Japanese healthy population (257). An association between CRP and insulin resistance (258,259), fasting and post-load glucose (260,261) and risk for developing diabetes (262-264) has been found in many studies.

Because of all these data linking CRP and cardiovascular disease it has been suggested that CRP could be added to the definition of the MetS. The cut-off point is suggested to be 3 mg/L (265). However, in a Mendelian randomisation study no evidence was found of a causal link between CRP and pathology of the components of the MetS (266). Nevertheless reciprocal association between hs-CRP and adiponectin has been observed in many studies (267,268), suggesting that decreased adiponectin levels might be fundamentally associated with the early stage of low-grade inflammation. In contrast, the KORA S4 study did not show the association between hypoadiponectinemia and proinflammation (269).

2.2.5.3. Interleukin-1 Receptor antagonist

Inflammation in autoimmune diseases is characterized by an imbalance between pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines. The members IL-1 α and IL-1 β of the IL-1 cytokine superfamily are strong inducers of inflammation (270,271). IL-1 Receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) acts in an antagonist manner and serves as a natural compensatory mechanism for the IL-1-induced disease process (272). When IL-1 occupies its receptor, various proinflammatory events are initiated, but when IL-1 Ra occupies the receptor, no such events are initiated, because IL-1 cannot bind to cells (153).

In healthy individuals, IL-1 Ra is detectable in plasma, in contrast to usually undetectable levels of IL-1 β (271). White adipose tissue is an important source of IL-1 Ra (273). IL-1 Ra levels are increased in human obesity (274) and may contribute to the development of insulin resistance (275). In nondiabetic offspring of diabetic probands with the MetS IL-1 Ra and IL-1 β were found to be highly elevated, whereas in the same study population TNF- α did not differ between the factor score tertiles (276). IL-1 Ra has also been found to be the most sensitive marker of cytokine response in the prediabetic state (277); however when diabetes develops, the levels of IL-1 Ra fall (278).

IL-1 Ra was also found to be a sensitive marker of clinical instability in CAD patients (279), levels of IL-1 Ra correlated with extent of myocardial loss in patients with acute myocardial infarction (280), and IL-1 Ra genotype was associated with coronary atherosclerosis in T2DM patients (281).

A recent preliminary study with anakinra (a recombinant human IL-1 Ra), lasting for 13 weeks, showed that anakinra did not affect insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic patients. Also BMI remained stable, but glycemic control improved slightly, most likely through enhanced beta-cell secretory function (282). This may indicate that the effects of IL-1 Ra are different in prediabetes compared to established type 2 diabetes, but further studies are needed to confirm these findings.

2.2.6. Other features in the metabolic syndrome

Insulin resistance is accompanied by many other alterations that are not included in the diagnostic criteria for the metabolic syndrome. Increases in uric acid, pro-thrombotic factors (fibrinogen, plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1), serum viscosity, asymmetric dimethylarginine (an endogenous inhibitor of NO synthase, which plays an important role in endothelial dysfunction), homocysteine, leucocyte count, pro-inflammatory cytokines, the presence of microalbuminuria, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, polycystic ovarian disease, obstructive sleep apnea, cholesterol gallstones and a decrease in adiponectin are all associated with insulin resistance (283). *Cigarette smoking* (284) and a *sedentary lifestyle* (285) can also produce many of the major criteria of the syndrome and beyond. Genetics also plays an important role between environmental factors and the components of the MetS.

2.2.6.1. Prothrombotic state

The prothrombotic state present in the MetS is due to numerous changes in the coagulation pathway, fibrinolytic pathway and platelet function (286). Increased plasma levels of fibrinogen reflect the activation of the coagulation pathway, and increased levels of fibrinogen are associated with low-grade inflammation and insulin resistance in the MetS (287), and with impaired fibrinolysis (288). Fibrinolytic dysfunction, as a consequence of increased levels of PAI-1, also has independent value for future cardiovascular disease (289,290). Insulin resistance has been associated with increased levels of coagulation factors VII-IX (291) and increased red cell blood count (292). Platelet function is also disturbed in insulin resistance. Platelets from obese insulin-resistant subjects have reduced sensitivity to the known antiaggregatory effect of insulin (293). All these might contribute to the increased risk for the development of cardiovascular disease in people with the MetS.

2.2.6.2. Hyperuricemia

Serum uric acid is the major product of the purine metabolism. In cross-sectional studies, uric acid correlates with the components of metabolic syndrome: hypertension, obesity, low HDL

cholesterol, hypertriglyceridemia, and insulin resistance (294-296). In the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study (DPS) baseline uric acid and changes in it during the follow-up were related to corresponding changes in fasting and post-load glucose and insulin levels (297). In the Rotterdam population-based study serum uric acid was a strong and independent risk factor for diabetes during a follow-up of 10.1 years (298). Although hyperuricemia and hyperinsulinemia are closely linked, the mechanism behind this is obscure. The most promising hypothesis is that this occurs at renal level: renal tubular function is influenced by hyperinsulinemia, urinary uric acid clearence decreasing with decreasing insulin-mediated glucose disposal (295). The importance of hyperuricemia as a possible treatment target is not known.

2.2.6.3. Endothelial dysfunction

The endothelium is involved in the regulation of vascular tone, platelet adhesion, coagulation, fibrinolysis and leukocyte adherence, but the term endothelial dysfunction specifically refers to impaired endothelium-dependent relaxation caused by a loss of NO bioacticity in the vessel wall (299). Endothelial cells synthesize a wide variety of other vasoactive mediators, and the balance between them may be an important contributing factor to the vascular function of blood vessels. Endothelin-1 is the most powerful vasoconstrictive factor yet discovered (300), and has been found to be elevated in postmenopausal type 2 diabetic women (301). Endothelial dysfunction has been shown to predict future adverse CVD events (302) and type 2 diabetes (303). Endothelial dysfunction characterizes all insulin-resistant conditions and is thought to link insulin resistance to CVD (299). Reduction of inflammatory cytokine concentrations and improvement of endothelial functions have been found at the same time in obese women after weight loss (304). In a study with offspring of type 2 diabetic patients, the levels of adhesion molecules, relating to endothelial dysfunction, were not elevated. Instead, a correlation was found between inflammatory markers and adhesion molecules, suggesting that low-grade inflammation may precede elevated levels of adhesion molecules (305).

Endothelial dysfunction is linked to insulin resistance and other associated features of the MetS. It has been suggested that dysfunction of the endothelium in large and medium-sized arteries plays a central role in atherogenesis, whereas dysfunction at the peripherial vascular endothelial level plays the primary role in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance (306).

2.2.6.4. Microalbuminuria

Microalbuminuria is a component of the MetS as defined by the WHO (20). Microalbuminuria is a well established marker for incipient nephropathy in patients with diabetes (307). It is also associated with increased CVD in both diabetic and non-diabetic subjects (308,309). Previous studies reported that microalbuminuria in non-diabetic subjects was associated with MetS, and could be a component of it (310,311). However, multiple logistic regression analysis in diabetic and non-diabetic subjects separately showed that microalbuminuria was independently associated only with hypertension, diabetes and waist-hip-ratio, but not with the other variables of the MetS. It is therefore likely that microalbuminuria is more a complication of hypertension and diabetes, showing vascular disturbances, and not an integral part of the MetS (22,23).

2.2.6.5. Polycystic ovary syndrome

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a heterogeneous clinical entity characterized by signs and symptoms of hyperandrogenism and anovulatory disorders often associated with infertility and obesity. The underlying pathogenesis remains uncertain, although key components in the syndrome may be insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia (312, 313). However, in a Finnish population-based study surprisingly few women with the MetS had symptoms suggestive of PCOS, in comparision with obese and lean women. These results suggest that at the population level PCOS only accounts for a distinct subgroup of the MetS (314).

2.2.6.6. Depression

In 1674, Thomas Willis speculated that diabetes was caused by "long sorrow and other depressions" (315). Since then many studies have found similarities in the pathophysiology of depressive disorders and alterations in the metabolic network. It has been proposed that depressive symptoms be classified as" metabolic syndrome type II" (316). In women with suspected CHD, the MetS was independently associated with depression but explained only a small portion of the association between depression and incident CVD (317). In a recent population-based 7-year follow-up study nondepressed women and men with the MetS at baseline were twice as likely to have depressive symptoms at follow-up compared with the non-depressed members of this cohort without the MetS at baseline (318). In the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) the risk of developing diabetes was associated more often with the use of antidepressants than other metabolic factors (319). The high rate of depressive symptoms in the MetS suggests that the MetS may be an important predisposing factor to the development of depression. Effective prevention and treatment of the MetS could also be important for the prevention of depression.

2.3. Genetics of the metabolic syndrome

Genetic factors influence the components of the MetS and predispose subjects to the MetS together with changing environmental and behavioral factors. The genetic factors contributing to the syndrome are still largely unknown. However, it is likely that a large number of genes interact with each other and the environment, and thus contribute to the risk for the MetS (320).

According to the "thrifty gene" hypothesis, the genes that were benificial to the survival for our ancestors during famines by maximizing the ability to store energy as fat, predispose nowadays to obesity, MetS and T2DM when exposed to a sedentary lifestyle and high caloric intake (321). One recently found candidate for this thrifty gene is adipose (Adp), which appears to be involved in an ancient pathway that regulates fat accumulation (322).

Racial differences in the risk (323), familial clustering of the MetS (324,325) and twin studies (326) have given grounds for the argument that genetic factors contribute to the MetS. Insulin resistance also clusters in families. In the Botnia study 45% of the first degree relatives of patients with T2DM were insulin resistant compared with 20% of individuals without a family history of diabetes (157). The estimates of the heritability of obesity vary greatly, but generally about 40-70% of the variation in body weight can be explained by genetic factors (327,328). Genes are believed to explain about 60% of the variance in abdominal fat in menopausal women (329). In the Botnia-study, first-degree relatives of T2DM had a higher waist-hip-ratio than their spouses without a family history of T2DM (157). Other components of the MetS also exhibit strong genetic components: heritability levels ranging from 25 to 45% for TGs, 50-60% for total cholesterol, 30-55% for HDL-cholesterol, 30% for systolic blood pressure, 20-30% for diastolic blood pressure, 50% for hypertension (330) and about 30% for microalbuminuria (331).

Two approaches have been used in the search for the thrifty genes: the candidate gene approach and genome-wide scanning (332). The candidate gene approach aims to identify genes on the basis of information about their function. Genes affecting body weight and fat distribution, lipolysis, fuel oxidation or skeletal muscle glucose metabolism could predispose to the MetS (333). Such candidate genes include β 2- and β 3-adrenergic receptors, hormone sensitive lipase, uncoupling proteins, peroxisomase proliferators-activated receptor gamma-2, TNF- α , insulin receptor substrates and glycogen synthase, as well as many others (334).

Growing interest is being shown in the genes controlling adiponectin and CRP. The ADIPO∂ gene encoding adiponectin has been mapped to chromosome 2q27 (335). There are data that genetic variation within the ADIPO∂ gene may be part of the genetic determinants of risk for type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance via the modulation of adiponectin levels (336,337). CRP concentration in old people may in part be determined genetically by the CRP gene (338). CRP may also suppress adiponectin gene expression partially through the PI-3 kinase pathway, and thus might represent a possible mechanism by which CRP regulates insulin sensitivity (339).

The growing epidemic of obesity and MetS may be explained by gene-environment interactions (340). Alterations in physical activity can have different effects on abdominal fat (341) and even diastolic blood pressure, as seen in the HERITAGE Family Study (342). In the Finnish DPS it was also found that genetic variation may modify the magnitude of the beneficial effects of physical activity on characteristics of the MetS in persons with IGT (343).

An increasing understanding of the role of genes in the development of the MetS may reveal genetic variants that, in combination with conventional risk factors, may help to predict the risk for an individual to developing the MetS and to find different preventive methods and therapy for genetically different subjects.

2.4. Life style and other factors in the metabolic syndrome

During the last century in the western world, industrialization has provided increasing access to large quantities of mass-produced, high caloric foods and many labour saving and transportation devices, abolishing starvation and heavy manual work. As stated earlier, our genes are ancestral energy-conserving, and the result of this combination of genes and industrialization is an epidemic of obesity, MetS, type 2 diabetes and CVD.

Caloric-restricted diet extends the life-span of laboratory rodents up to 50%. This finding has been represented in organisms ranging from yeast to primates, and is the most robust method currently known of extending the lifespan of higher organisms. Caloric restriction even slows or prevents major ageing related diseases in rodent models (344). One mechanism behind this might be sirtuins, which have some unknown role in regulating β -cell function in mammals (345). Theoretically, the same finding has recently been reported in Cuba, where the economic crises of 1989-2005 resulted in reduced energy intake, increased physical activity, and sustained population-wide weight loss. The prevalence of obesity declined from 14% to 7%. During 1997-2002, there were declines in death attributed to diabetes of 51%, to CHD of 35%, to stroke of 20%, and to all causes of 18%. However, a modest increase in the all-cause death rate among elderly subjects, was observed (346).

Sedentary lifestyle is clearly associated with several features, especially abdominal obesity, of the MetS (285,347), but no good prospective studies have shown that a lifestyle intervention can prevent the evolution of the MetS and its complications T2DM and CVD. The most well-known preventive studies (both dietary and increased physical activity) have involved subjects with IGT and the end-point has been the prevention of diabetes. Both the DPS (348) and DPP (349) studies showed the same 58% reduced risk of diabetes in the lifestyle intervention group compared with the control group. The intervention goals in DPS were to reduce body weight (a reduction of 5% or more of baseline weight), limit dietary fat (<30%) and saturated fat (<10%) of total energy consumed, and to increase dietary fibre intake (15 g/100 kcal or more) and physical activity (\geq 30 minutes/day) (348). In the secondary analysis of the DPS study, the effects of the lifestyle intervention on MetS and its components were a significant reduction in the prevalence of the Mets (OR of 0.62) and especially the component of abdominal obesity (OR 0.48). Other components of the MetS did not show significant effects between the groups (350). In many studies it is difficult to distinguish between physical activity and dietary changes, but all the

studies and systematic reviews published thus far show a constant positive effect of physical activity on the prevention of T2DM and MetS (351-355).

Exercise has anti-inflammatory effects by suppressing TNF- α and IL-6 production (356). Inflammatory markers, such as baseline CRP, were found in the DPS to be the best immunological marker of lifestyle changes for progression to overt diabetes (357). In the HERITAGE Family Study CRP levels reduced in response to exercise with high initial CRP levels (358). Exercise-induced increase in adiponectin levels was not found despite decreased abdominal adiposity and improved insulin sensitivity in T2DM men (359).

Dietary aspects are also involved in the inflammatory processes. It is believed that a macronutrient (energy-dense, high fast carbohydrate) diet results in the inability to suppress the inflammation generated by the meal (174). A 900-kcal AHA step 2 diet-based meal rich in fruit and fiber does not cause significant oxidative stress or inflammation, in contrast to the effect of an isocaloric fast food meal (360). Postprandial increases in circulating IL-6 levels, but not plasma CRP levels, were seen after a high-fat meal in abdominally obese men (361). A carbohydrate-rich diet was associated with lower adiponectin concentrations in men (362). Weight loss was associated with a decline in CRP levels in many studies, showing that each 1 kg loss in weight results in a mean decrease in CRP of 0.13 mg/L (363). The mediterranean diet has been shown to be inversely associated with the incidence of the MetS in a prospective study cohort (364).

Smoking is a well recognized health hazard. In addition to its effects on cardiovascular and cancer morbidity, it induces central obesity (365) and increases the risk of developing hypertension, independently of inflammation (366) and type 2 diabetes (367).

Epidemiological studies have shown an association between moderate alcohol consumption and reduced risk for the MetS and T2DM. The mechanisms reported to explain this observation include improvement of the lipid profile, especially increased levels of HDL cholesterol (368) and increased insulin sensitivity (369). This positive effect may be mediated through alcoholinduced increases in adiponectin (362,370,371), also in women (372). The positive cardioprotective effect of moderate alcohol consumption was seen, in particular, in men with the MetS (373).

The intake of coffee may lower the risk of type 2 diabetes. However, although the explanation for this coffee-induced increased insulin sensitivity and type 2 diabetes risk reduction is not known (374-376), it may be caused by increased levels of adiponectin, at least in women (377). Higher magnesium intake, mainly from whole grain consumption, in young adults was also associated with lower risk of MetS (378). On the other hand, elevation in the markers of the iron metabolism increased the incidence of the MetS in both sexes (379). Another new lifestyle feature is the voluntary restriction of sleep duration. Self-reported sleep duration has decreased, while during the same time obesity, MetS and T2DM have increased (380). Both short (<6h)

and long (>8h) sleep duration is related to increased risk (381,382). Psychosocial, stressful life events (383) and low socioeconomic status (384) also predict the risk for developing the MetS. A positive association has been found between serum concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and insulin resistance among nondiabetic adults. The expected association between obesity and diabetes was absent in people with low concentrations of persistent organic pollutants, but association became much stronger along with a higher concentration of pollutants (385).

2.5. Treatment and clinical aspects of the metabolic syndrome

Prevention of the MetS and its complications, diabetes and CVD, is an important public health goal. Lifestyle modification to reduce obesity, increase physical activity and quit smoking, is primary on both the population and individual levels. After the successful DPS (348) and DPP (349) studies, population-based programs to prevent diabetes, and MetS at the same time, have been launched by the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (386), and also at national level, as in the Finnish implementation program to prevent type 2 diabetes (FIN-D2D) (387). Lifestyle modification, especially increased physical activity, is the only known treatment without side-effects which affects positively all components of the MetS. This is important, as cardiovascular mortality is higher, when more components of the MetS are present (388).

If therapeutic lifestyle modification fails, or if the 10-year cardiovascular risk is high, drug therapy to modify different components might be required in addition (33).

Classically, as described below in Figure 3, antihypertensive drugs (389), such as angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers, and lipid-lowering statins, are required along with lifestyle changes (390,391). Low-dose aspirin is needed to prevent MetS-related increase in arterial thrombosis formation (392).

The metabolic abnormalities clustering around abdominal obesity should be the main target for the drugs used in the treatment of the MetS. The recent discovery of the endocannabinoid-CB1 receptor system and its impact on the regulation of the energy metabolism represents a significant advance (393). Studies with rimonabant, the first CB1 blocker, show that in overweight/obese subjects 20 mg/day was associated with clinically meaningful weight loss, a reduction in abdominal obesity, and improvements in insulin resistance, lipid profile, and glucose metabolism. Overall, LDL cholesterol levels remained unchanged. These positive effects may be mediated by increased levels of adiponectin. Rimonabant was generally quite well tolerated, but increase in depression requires special attention (394,395).

Inflammation is strongly associated with the features of the MetS, and elevated CRP level is one marker of this. Lifestyle therapies will reduce concentrations of CRP and thus mitigate an underlying inflammatory state (363). No specific anti-inflammatory drugs are available to treat the proinflammatory state. However, statins are reported to reduce the concentration of CRP (396), and patients who have low CRP levels after statin therapy have better clinical outcomes than those with higher CRP levels, regardless of the level of LDL cholesterol (397).



Figure 3. Treatment of the metabolic syndrome.

Also, thiazolidinediones (e.q. rosiglitazone and pioglitazone) a class of insulin-sensitizing agents currently used in the treatment of diabetic hyperglycemia, are known to lower CRP levels and have positive effects on endothelial dysfunction (398). They were believed to be ideal candidates for the early treatment of many components associated with the MetS, as they also increase adiponectin levels (399); however, recent associations, especially in connection with rosiglitazone, with increased cardiological problems have made this class less promising (400). Antagonist of TNF- α , etanercept, has also been found to lower CRP in the MetS (401). The strong association between hypoadiponectinemia and metabolic dysfunction provides the perfect scenario for adiponectin replacement therapy. Cellular and animal studies have shown evidence for the benefit of adiponectin therapy (402). This may include the increase of plasma

adiponectin levels by the upregulation of adiponectin receptors, or the development of adiponectin receptor agonists (214). Metformin, which have been used more than 50 years, may be the safest drug to accompany lifestyle modification in the MetS (355).

2.6. Early life and the metabolic syndrome in adulthood

The discovery that individuals who develop coronary heart disease grow differently during early life has led to the recognition of new developmental models for the disease. In 1995 David Barker wrote: "The fetal origins hypothesis states that fetal undernutrition in middle to late gestation, which leads to disproportionate fetal growth, programmes later coronary heart disease" (403). Barker's hypothesis is also known as the "Thrifty phenotype hypothesis". In humans, birth size serves as a marker of the intrauterine environment. Considering that birth size is just one snapshot of the trajectory of fetal growth, it is intriguing that long-term health outcomes are predicted by the body size of the newborn (404).

The association between birth size and cardiovascular morbidity is largely modified by growth later in life. The highest risk of coronary disease was found among individuals who were born small and became heavier during childhood (405). This association was especially noticable in women who crossed from the low centile of weight at birth to the high centile of BMI in adulthood (406). Low weight gain during infancy increases the risk for IGT and type 2 diabetes. The effect was greater in people who had low birth weight (407). Low BMI at 2 years of age and increased BMI from 2 to 11 years of age were also associated with insulin resistance later in life (408). Also hypertension (409,410) later in life and its complication, stroke (411), is associated with infant and childhood growth.

These epidemiological findings identify the phenomena of fetal programming without explaining the underlying mechanisms that establish the causal link. Animal models have demonstrated that reduction in the availability of nutritients during fetal development programs the endocrine pancreas and insulin-sensitivive tissues. The molecular mechanisms responsible for intrauterine programming of the β -cells remain elusive, but two hypotheses have emerged: programming of mitochondrial dysfunction (412) and epigenetic regulation, which means the interaction of genes and uterine environment (413). Strong evidence for epigenetic programming comes from monozygotic twin studies (414).

These theories are problematic with respect to explaining the growing epidemic of obesity and MetS in westernized countries, as the relative proportion of underweight newborn children is decreasing (415). Obesity at the age of seven is seen to predict the MetS in adulthood (416,417), and it is possible that the Ala12 allele of the PPAR_Y2 gene is associated with high weight and ponderal index at birth, and weight gain and high waist circumference in adulthood (418). Hypoadiponectinemia, observed even in visceral adiposity in adolescents (419), may

47

partly explain the fact that overweight in childhood (420) and adolescence (421) increases the risk of CHD in adulthood.

2.7. Gender differences in the metabolic syndrome, diabetes and cardiovascular disease

In the general population CHD morbidity and mortality vary widely with a distinctive malepreponderance: a male-female ratio of approximately 2,5 has been found in different countries (422).

Diabetes abolishes the normal gender-related difference in the risk for CVD. In the Framingham Study the risk for acute MI was 150% greater in diabetic than nondiabetic women, but only 50% greater in diabetic than nondiabetic men when adjusted for hypertension, dyslipidemia and obesity among individuals aged from 50 to 59 years (423). In the Framingham study diabetic women were at a similar absolute risk as their men counterparts, at a 2-fold risk in comparison to male nondiabetic subjects, and at a 4-fold risk in comparison to female nondiabetic subjects for CVD (424). In a Finnish study diabetes-related risk for CHD mortality was 4-fold in men and 24-fold in women, and for CHD incidence 3- and 14-fold, respectively (425). After adjusting for conventional risk factors the proportion of diabetes-related CHD risk remained more unexplained in women than in men (425). In Finnish women the association between diabetes and mortality was stronger than that between myocardial infarction and mortality, whereas the opposite was true among men (426). Recent data from NHANES show that the reduction in mortality rates among diabetic patients during last decades has been limited to men (427).

Low-grade inflammation, especially increased CRP levels, have been shown to predict CHD (428), and development of the MetS and type 2 diabetes in men (429) and women (430,431). In the Hoorn study a significant association of hs-CRP with incident DM was observed in men, but not in women (432). In Japanese subjects this association was observed in both sexes (433), but solely in women in the Mexico City Diabetes Study (434) and in the MONICA/KORA study (435).

Women have higher levels of adiponectin than men (127). In the Hoorn Study a high level of adiponectin was strongly associated with a low risk for IGT and T2DM, especially in women (230). Lower plasma adiponectin concentrations characterize women with previous gestational diabetes mellitus independently of their prevailing level of insulin sensitivity or degree of obesity, and are associated with subclinical inflammation and atherogenic parameters (436).

Endogenous sex hormones may, at least in part, explain the gender differences in the risk for diabetes in the prediabetic state and CHD. A recent meta-analysis demonstrated that high testosterone levels are associated with higher risk for T2DM in women but with lower risk in men (437). Low sex hormone-binding globulin is associated with the MetS in women (438).

Testosterone replacement therapy has been found to improve insulin resistance, visceral adiposity and hypercholesterolemia in hypogonadal men with T2DM (439), and rapid weight loss in abdominally obese men with the MetS resulted in a sustained increase in free testosterone levels (440).

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study was undertaken to investigate the associations of adiponectin and low-grade inflammation, measured by hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra, with the metabolic syndrome in a population-based study.

The specific aims were:

1. To examine the association of IL-1 Ra, hs-CRP and adiponectin with relative weight gain between childhood and adulthood.

2. To investigate the relationship between insulin sensitivity with adiponectin and inflammatory markers (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) levels.

 To evaluate the differences and associations between inflammatory markers (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) and adiponectin with the MetS according to the NCEP and IDF definitions.

4. To study the gender difference in the association of the levels of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra with the MetS as defined by the IDF and NCEP criteria.

4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

4.1. Subjects

The study population consisted of middle-aged, Caucasian subjects (n=1 294) born in 1942, 1947,1952, 1957 and 1962 in Pieksämäki, Finland. The gender and age distribution of the study population is shown in Figure 4. The gender distribution in different age groups was not statistically significant. The entire age group was recruited from the local population records by three separate invitations. No exclusion criteria were applied. Altogether 923 (411 men and 512 women) of 1 294 subjects (71.3 %) participated in this cross-sectional study in 1997-98.

For the statistical analysis we excluded 18 subjects (7 men and 11 women) whose hs-CRP concentration was ≥10.0 mg/L in order to eliminate possible cases of acute infections and other occult diseases, leaving a total of 905 subjects. Additional three women were lost from statistical analysis because of missing data for the components of the MetS. In Studies III and IV analysis was done for 902 participants. In study II analysis was done for 907 subjects, because we excluded all the 15 subjects with known diabetes and 1 subject whose hs-CRP concentration was > 30.0 mg/L.

The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Kuopio University Hospital and the University of Kuopio. All the participants gave an informed written consent.



Figure 4. The whole study population by age group and gender.

4.2. Clinical methods

All the measurements were done by two trained nurses at Pieksämäki. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (m) squared. Height and weight were measured to the nearest 0.5 cm and 0.1 kg, respectively. Waist was measured at the midpoint between the lateral iliac crest and the lowest rib to the nearest 1.0 cm. Blood pressure was measured twice with subjects in a sitting position after a 15-minute rest with a mercury sphygmomanometer. The latter value was used in statistical analysis. No physical examination was done by a physician.

All participants filled a standard questionnaire, including questions about smoking habits and physical activity. A current smoker was a subject who smoked at least once a day. Physical activity was defined as exercise that makes a person sweat at least mildly. Subjects exercising more than three times a week for at least 30 minutes per session were defined as physically active.

Fasting blood samples were drawn after 12 hours of fasting. Plasma was separated by centrifugation, and samples frozen immediately at -20° C and sended weekly from Pieksämäki to Kuopio and stored there at -70°C until analyses in 2003.

4.3. Assays and calculations

Insulin was determined by the Phadeseph Insulin Radio-immunoassay (RIA) 100 method (Pharmacia Diagnostics AB, Uppsala, Sweden). Glucose concentration was measured by the automated colorimetric method (Peridochrom Glucose GOD-PAP, Boehringer, Germany). Insulin sensitivity was calculated as follows: QUICKI = 1/(log FPI+ log FPG), where FPI = fasting plasma insulin level expressed as mU/I, and FPG = fasting plasma glucose level expressed as mg/dL (165).

Serum cholesterol and triglycerides were measured at Pieksämäki from fresh serum samples with enzymatic colorimeter methods (CHOD-PAP, GPO-PAP, Boehringer Mannheim GmbH, Germany). Serum HDL cholesterol was measured using the same methods after the precipitation of low-density cholesterol and very-low-density lipoprotein cholesterol by phosphotungstic acid and magnesium.

Serum adiponectin was determined with an enzyme immunoassay (human Adiponectin ELISA Kit, B-Bridge International Inc., Mountains View, CA, USA). Plasma concentration of IL-1 Ra was measured with high-sensitivity assay kits from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). C-reactive protein (CRP) was measured with an Immulite 2000 High Sensitivity CRP assay (DPC, Los Angeles, CA, USA). All these adiponectin, IL-1 Ra and hs-CRP measurements were done at the same time (2003) in Kuopio University.

4.4. Statistical analyses

The results in the studies I, III and IV are expressed as means and standard deviation (SD), with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Statistical significance between groups was evaluated by the chi-square test or t-test. When the assumptions of parametric tests were violated permutation test (Monte Carlo p-value), bootstrap t-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used. Confidence intervals for means were obtained by bias-corrected and accelerated bootstrapping (5000 replications), because of the skewed distribution of the variables. The normality of the variables was tested by using the Shapiro-Wilk W test. Agreement between definitions was determined by the kappa statistic (κ) or Jaccard similarity index (Chamberlain's positive agreement). The level of agreement is considered to be moderate with κ =0.41 to 0.60, substantial with κ =0.61 to 0.80, and very good with κ >0.80 (441). Bootstrap-based multiplicity adjustment was applied to correct levels of significance for multiple testing when appropriate (IV).

Statistical analysis in the Study II was performed (unlike in the other studies) using the SAS version 9.1 for Windows (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The results are shown as means and standard deviations (SD), except for variables with a skewed distribution (insulin, adiponectin, hs-CRP, IL-1 Ra), which are given as medians and interquartile ranges, unless stated differently. The levels of serum plasma adiponectin and inflammatory markers (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) were logarithmically transformed to obtain a normal distribution. The comparison between men and women was performed with Student's t-test for continuous variables and with the chi-square test for categorical variables. Simple and partial Pearson correlations were calculated to examine the association of QUICKI with adiponectin and inflammatory markers without adjustment and after adjustment for age, gender, BMI, smoking status, and physical activity. The α level was set at 0.05 for all tests.

5. RESULTS

5.1. Characteristics of the study subjects

The basic demographic, clinical and biochemical characteristics of study subjects regarding the components of the MetS and adiponectin and pro-inflammatory markers (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) are shown in Table 3 and Figure 5.

Variables	Men (N=411) Mean (SD)	Women (N=512) Mean (SD)	P-value
Demographic			
Age, years	46 (6)	46 (6)	
Body mass index, kg/m ²	26.7 (3.8)	26.3 (4.9)	0.15
Waist, cm	93.8 (10.6)	83.3 (12.2)	<0.001
Clinical			
Blood pressure, mmHg			
Systolic	137 (17)	131 (17)	<0.001
Diastolic	84 (10)	79 (9)	<0.001
Biochemical			
HDL cholesterol, mmol/l	1.3 (0.3)	1.5 (0.3)	<0.001
Triglycerides, mmol/l	1.7 (1.3)	1.2 (0.6)	<0.001
Fp-glucose, mmol/l	5.9 (0.6)	5.6 (0.5)	<0.001
Fp-insulin, mU/l	10.7 (5.9)	9.8 (6.5)	0.033
hs-CRP, pg/ml	1.3 (1.5)	1.5 (1.7)	0.035
IL-1 Ra, pg/ml	172 (131)	192 (167)	0.16
Adiponectin, µg/ml	4.9 (2.7)	7.9 (4.4)	<0.001

Table 3. Demographic, clinical and biochemical characteristics of the whole study population.

HDL = high density lipoprotein, hs-CRP = high-sensitivity C-Reactive Protein

IL-1 Ra= Interleukin-1 Receptor antagonist.



Figure 5. Waist circumference is shown for the entire study population. According to the IDF definition of the MetS, waist circumference was normal in 51% of men and 45% of women. According to the NCEP criteria, waist circumference was normal in 79% of men and 69 % of women.

55

5.2. Associations of adiponectin and pro-inflammatory markers with relative change in BMI between childhood and adulthood (Study I)

The study population comprised all those for whom information on weight and height at the age of 7 years (the start of primary school) was available from their local health registries. The levels of cytokines were lower in men than in women (Table 4). These data were available for 368 subjects, who did not differ in their clinical characteristics and laboratory values from subjects lacking weight and height data at the age of 7 years. The age group born in 1962 was not included in this study (Figure 6). The relative change in BMI was calculated as adult BMI divided by childhood BMI.



Figure 6. The population (N=368) in Study I by age group and gender.

Characteristics	Men	Women	P-value
	N=176	N=192	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Demographic			
At 7 years			
Height, cm	122 (5)	121 (5)	NS
Weight, kg	23 (4)	23 (4)	0.22
Body mass index, kg/m ²	15.4 (1.3)	15.4 (1.7)	0.91
Adulthood			
Age, years	46 (4)	46 (5)	0.11
Height, cm	177 (6)	163 (6)	<0.001
Weight, kg	82 (12)	70 (13)	<0.001
Body mass index, kg/m ²	26.3 (3.4)	26.2 (4.9)	0.81
Clinical			
Blood pressure, mmHg			
Systolic	135 (16)	130 (17)	0.002
Diastolic	83 (10)	79 (9)	<0.001
Biochemical			
Total cholesterol, mmol/l	5.9 (1.0)	5.6 (1.0)	0.009
HDL cholesterol, mmol/l	1.3 (0.3)	1.5 (0.3)	<0.001
Total triglycerides, mmol/l	1.6 (0.9)	1.3 (0.8)	0.002
Fasting plasma glucose, mmol/l	6.0 (1.0)	5.7 (1.0)	<0.001
Adiponectin, µg/ml	4.6(2.2)	8.0(4.8)	<0.001
hs-CRP, pg/ml	1.4(2.4)	2.0(2.8)	0.03
IL-1 Ra, pg/ml	166(97)	209(223)	0.02

Table 4. Demographic data in childhood and adulthood and clinical and biochemicalcharacteristics of the subjects in Study I in adulthood.

NS = non-significant; HDL = high-density lipoprotein.

Figures 7-8 show the significant positive relationship between the inflammatory markers (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) at adulthood and the relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood. Figure 9 shows the significant inverse relationship between adiponectin measured at adulthood and the relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood. In both sexes the strongest correlation was found between the relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood and IL-1 Ra: for women (r= 0.64 (95% CI: 0.55 to 0.72)) and for men (r= 0.27 (95% CI: 0.12 to 0.40)).



Figure 7. Relationship between IL-1 Ra levels at adulthood and the relative change of BMI between childhood and adulthood in males and females.



Figure 8. Relationship between hs-CRP levels at adulthood and the relative change of BMI between childhood and adulthood in males and females.



Figure 9. Relationship between adiponectin levels at adulthood and the relative change of BMI between childhood and adulthood in males and females.

5.3. Associations of adiponectin, C-reactive protein and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist with insulin sensitivity in a population-based cohort (Study II)

Insulin sensitivity in this study was measured by QUICKI-index. About 50% of subjects were physically active, and 34% of men and 22 % of women were current smokers. The median adiponectin concentration was lower in men than in women (4.2 vs. 6.9 μ g/ml, p< 0.001). Levels of hs-CRP were higher in women than in men (0.9 vs.0.7 pg/ml, p=0.040). There was no statistically significant difference between the sexes in the levels of IL-1 Ra (men vs. women, 141 vs. 149 pg/ml, p= 0.071). The QUICKI index was higher in women than in men (0.340 vs. 0.334, p<0.001) (Table 5).

The Pearson correlation between QUICKI and adiponectin level was 0.334 (95% Cĺ, 0.275 to 0.392) and partial correlation adjusted for gender, age, BMI, smoking status and physical activity was 0.247 (95% CI, 0.185 to 0.308). IL-1 Ra and CRP correlated inversely with QUICKI. The correlation between QUICKI and IL-1 Ra, adjusted for gender, BMI, smoking status, physical activity and age was statistically significant (Table 6).

Variables	Males	Females	P-value
	N=400	N=507	
Age, years	47 ± 6	46 ± 6	0.58
Current smokers (%)	34	22	<0.001
Physically active (%)	46	54	0.43
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.6 ± 3.7	26.3 ± 5.0	0.27
Waist (cm)	93.6 ± 10.2	83.4 ± 12.3	<0.001
Quicki	0.334 ± 0.023	0.340 ± 0.022	<0.001
Fp-glucose (mmol/l)	6.0 ± 0.9	5.7 ± 0.6	<0.001
Fp-insulin (mU/l)	8.9 (7.0-12.3)	8.7(6.8-11.1)	0.11
Adiponectin (ug/ml)	4.2(3.0-6.0)	6.9(4.8-9.7)	<0.001
hs-CRP (pg/ml)	0.7(0.3-1.8)	0.9(0.4-2.2)	0.040
IL1–Ra (pg/ml)	141(104-202)	149(105-219)	0.071
IL1–Ra (pg/ml)	141(104-202)	149(105-219)	0.071

Table 5. Clinical and laboratory characteristics of the Study II population.

Data are mean ± SD, medians (interquartile ranges), or percent. BMI=body mass index, hs-CRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; IL-1 Ra= interleukin 1 receptor antagonist,

 Table 6. Association of insulin sensitivity, measured by QUICKI, with adiponectin, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) levels.

Inflammation cytokines	Quantitative insulin sensiti	vity check index (QUICKI)
	Pearson correlation	Partial correlation§
	r (95 % CI)	r (95 % CI)
Adiponectin ^{\$} (ug/ml)	0.334 (0.275 to 0.392)	0.247 (0.185 to 0.308)
hsCRP ^{\$} (pg/ml)	-0.241 (-0.302 to -0.178)	-0.004 (-0.070 to 0.062)
IL1–Ra ^{\$} (pg/ml)	-0.385 (-0.440 to -0.328)	-0.178 (-0.240 to -0.113)

^{\$} Data logarithmically transformed.[§] Adjusted for sex, BMI, smoking status, physical activity, and age.



Figure 10. A scatter-plot between insulin sensitivity, measured by QUICKI, and log-transformed adiponectin, hs-CRP), and IL-1 Ra levels. Pearson and partial Pearson correlation coefficients (adjusted for age, gender, body mass index, smoking status and physical activity) and regression line are shown.

The correlation between QUICKI and adiponectin, CRP and IL-1 Ra and the partial correlation (adjusted for age, gender, BMI, smoking status and physical activity) are shown in Figure 10 for both sexes. The gender difference was statistically significant only for IL-1 Ra (p=0.017). In women the correlation of QUICKI with IL-1 Ra was -0.500 and partial correlation -0.279, and in men the corresponding correlations were -0.348 and -0.142.

5.4. The associations of CRP, IL-1 Ra and adiponectin with the metabolic syndrome defined by the NCEP and the IDF criteria (Study III)

Among the 923 participants, the prevalence of the MetS according to the IDF definition was 38% in men and 34% in women. According to the NCEP criteria the corresponding numbers were 34% in men, and 27% in women. In women the agreement (κ) between the IDF and NCEP criteria was 0.75 (95% Cl 0.68 to 0.81) and in men 0.60 (95% Cl 0.52 to 0.68).

Insulin sensitivity index measured by QUICKI was significantly higher in both men and women without the MetS than with the MetS according to both definitions (the IDF criteria: 0.35±0.18 vs. 0.32±0.02, p<0.001; the NCEP criteria: 0.35±0.02 vs. 0.32±0.02, p<0.001).

When the MetS was present according to both IDF and NCEP definitions, waist and triglyceride levels were significantly higher and HDL cholesterol lower in both men and women compared to those who had the MetS according to the IDF but not NCEP criteria, or the MetS according to the NCEP but not IDF criteria (Table 7).

In men the mean hs-CRP level was 1.00 pg/ml in those having the MetS only according to the NCEP definition, 1.52 pg/ml in those having the MetS only according to the IDF definition, and 1.73 pg/ml in those having the MetS according to both definitions (IDF and NCEP) (p=0.033 between groups and linearity 0.020). In women the corresponding mean hs-CRP levels were 0.81, 1.45 and 2.62 pg/ml (p<0.001 between the groups, linearity 0.010). The corresponding levels of adiponectin and IL-1 Ra for both sexes are also shown in Table 8.

Figure 11 shows the correlation of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra with the number of components of the MetS present (0-1, 2-3, 4-5) according to the IDF and the NCEP criteria for both men and women (p for linearity < 0.001 in all definitions).

Only NCEP Male Female Male Female (N=10) (N=10) Mean (SD) Mean (SD) Demographic 48 (7) 49 (5) Age, years 48 (7) 49 (5) Age, years 48 (7) 49 (5) Age, years 48 (7) 49 (5) Body mass index, kg/m² 25.7 (1.9) 24.1 (1.9) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Vaist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Clinical 141 (12) 134 (6) Blood pressure, mmHg 87 (11) 80 (10) Systolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	Defi	nitions of the m	letabolic syndrom	Θ	
MaleFemale (N=28)(N=28)(N=10)Mean (SD)Mean (SD)DemographicMean (SD)Age, years48 (7)Age, years49 (5)Body mass index, kg/m²25.7 (1.9)Vaist, cm89 (4)76 (4)Clinical89 (4)76 (4)Blood pressure, mmHg141 (12)134 (6)Systolic141 (12)134 (6)Diastolic87 (11)80 (10)Biochemical1.2 (0.3)1.2 (0.2)HDL cholesterol, mmol/l2.5 (1.5)1.6 (0.6)	Only NCEP	Only	IDF	Both IDF a	nd NCEP
(N=28) (N=10) Mean (SD) Mean (SD) Demographic Mean (SD) Demographic 48 (7) 49 (5) Age, years 48 (7) 49 (5) Body mass index, kg/m² 25.7 (1.9) 24.1 (1.9) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Clinical 141 (12) 134 (6) Blood pressure, mmHg 87 (11) 80 (10) Systolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	e Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
Mean (SD)Mean (SD)Demographic $18 (7)$ $49 (5)$ Demographic $48 (7)$ $49 (5)$ Age, years $48 (7)$ $49 (5)$ Body mass index, kg/m² $25.7 (1.9)$ $24.1 (1.9)$ Waist, cm $89 (4)$ $76 (4)$ Waist, cm $89 (4)$ $76 (4)$ Clinical $89 (4)$ $76 (4)$ Blood pressure, mmHg $141 (12)$ $134 (6)$ Systolic $141 (12)$ $134 (6)$ Diastolic $87 (11)$ $80 (10)$ Biochemical $1.2 (0.3)$ $1.2 (0.2)$ HDL cholesterol, mmol/l $2.5 (1.5)$ $1.6 (0.6)$	8) (N=10)	(N=46)	(N=44)	(N=109)	(N=125)
Demographic 49 (5) Age, years 48 (7) 49 (5) Body mass index, kg/m² 25.7 (1.9) 24.1 (1.9) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Clinical 89 (4) 76 (4) Blood pressure, mmHg 141 (12) 134 (6) Systolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 1.2 (0.2) 1.2 (0.2) Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	SD) Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Age, years 48 (7) 49 (5) Body mass index, kg/m² 25.7 (1.9) 24.1 (1.9) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Vaist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Clinical 89 (4) 76 (4) Blood pressure, mmHg 141 (12) 134 (6) Systolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)					
Body mass index, kg/m² 25.7 (1.9) 24.1 (1.9) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Clinical 89 (4) 76 (4) Blood pressure, mmHg 141 (12) 134 (6) Systolic 141 (12) 134 (6) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	7) 49 (5)	48 (6)	47 (6)	47 (6)	48 (6)
Waist, cm 89 (4) 76 (4) Clinical 89 (1) 76 (4) Clinical 134 (6) 134 (6) Blood pressure, mmHg 87 (11) 80 (10) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	(1.9) 24.1 (1.9)	27.1 (1.7)	27.2 (2.3)	30.8 (3.4)	31.5 (5.1)
Clinical Blood pressure, mmHg Systolic 141 (12) 134 (6) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	1) 76 (4)	97 (2)	85 (2)	106 (9)	97 (11)
Blood pressure, mmHg 141 (12) 134 (6) Systolic 141 (12) 134 (6) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)					
Systolic 141 (12) 134 (6) Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)					
Diastolic 87 (11) 80 (10) Biochemical 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.6) Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	2) 134 (6)	142 (19)	134 (16)	144 (16)	141 (16)
<i>Biochemical</i> HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	1) 80 (10)	87 (9)	82 (7)	89 (9)	85 (7)
HDL cholesterol, mmol/l 1.2 (0.3) 1.2 (0.2) Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)					
Triglycerides, mmol/l 2.5 (1.5) 1.6 (0.6)	.3) 1.2 (0.2)	1.4 (0.3)	1.5 (0.4)	1.1 (0.2)	1.3 (0.3)
	.5) 1.6 (0.6)	1.6 (0.9)	1.3 (0.6)	2.4 (1.8)	1.7 (0.8)
Fp-glucose, mmol/l 6.1 (0.6) 5.8 (0.4)	.6) 5.8 (0.4)	6.1 (0.5)	5.9 (0.6)	6.3 (0.7)	6.0 (0.6)

Table 7 Demographic clinical and biochemical characteristics of subjects with the metabolic syndrome (Study III)

63

Variables Onl Men	Defin				
Onl		itions of metabolic :	syndrome	P-vali	ue †
Men	nly NCEP	Only IDF	Both IDF and NCEP	Between group	Linearity
Number	28	46	109		
Adiponectin, µg/ml, mean (SD) 4.	4.91 (2.54)	4.94 (3.05)	3.81 (2.10)	0.021	0.034
IL-1Ra, pg/ml, mean (SD)	140 (73)	189 (118)	228 (203)	0.032	0.018
Hs-CRP, pg/ml, mean (SD) 1.(1.00 (0.98)	1.52 (1.40)	1.73 (1.70)	0.033	0.020
Women					
Number	10	44	125		
Adiponectin, µg/ml, mean (SD) 8.4	3.48 (5.08)	7.62 (4.18)	6.63 (3.52)	0.25	0.14
IL-1Ra, pg/ml, mean (SD)	146 (84)	222 (216)	305 (248)	0.004	0.044
hs-CRP, pg/ml, mean (SD) 0.	0.81 (1.06)	1.45 (1.18)	2.62 (2.26)	<0.001	0.010

Table 8. Levels of adiponectin, interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) according to the IDF and the NCEP definitions of the metabolic svndrome and according to gender 64

Bootstrap type ANOVA.



Figure 11. Relationship between adiponectin, hs-CRP, IL-1 RA and the number of components of the metabolic syndrome according to the IDF and NCEP criteria (mean and 95% confidence intervals obtained by bias-corrected and accelerated bootstrapping).

5.5. Gender differences in CRP , IL-1 Ra and adiponectin levels in the metabolic syndrome defined by the NCEP and the IDF definitions (Study IV)

Waist circumference, blood pressure, triglyceride and glucose levels were higher and HDL cholesterol concentrations lower in men than in women (p<0.001). Mean adiponectin (7.9(4.4) vs. 4.9(2.7) μ g/ml, p < 0.001) and mean hs-CRP levels were higher in women than in men (1.5(1.7) vs. 1.3(1.5) mg/L, p=0.035), but no gender difference was found in IL-1 Ra levels. No gender difference was found in the use of drugs for treatment of hypertension and dyslipidemia. The prevalences of the MetS were the same as in Study III. Adiponectin levels were significantly lower (p<0.001) and hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra concentrations higher (p<0.001) in subjects with the MetS compared to subjects without the MetS.

In subjects with the MetS defined by the IDF criteria the gender difference in the levels of hs-CRP (higher in women) was 0.65 mg/L [(95% CI, 0.23 to 1.06), p<0.001] and in the levels of IL-1 Ra 67 pg/ml [(95% CI, 21 to 113), p=0.0028]. Similar gender differences were observed in subjects with the MetS according to the NCEP criteria (the gender difference in hs-CRP levels was 0.92 mg/L [(95% CI 0.47 to 1.41), p<0.001] and in IL-1 Ra levels 83 pg/ml [(95% CI 32 to 135), p=0.0016]). In subjects without the MetS, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra levels did not differ between the sexes (Table 9). **Table 9.** Adiponectin, interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) and high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) levels according to the IDF and the NCEP definitions of the metabolic syndrome in men and women.

		ă	efinitions of the	metabolic syndrome		
		IDF			NCEP	
	Not present	Present	P-value [†]	Not present	Present	P-value [†]
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Men						
No of subjects (%)	250 (62)	155 (38)		268 (66)	137 (34)	
Adiponectin, µg/ml	5.31 (2.75)	4.15 (2.46)	<0.001	5.29 (2.83)	4.04 (2.23)	<0.001
IL-1 Ra, pg/ml	145 (72)	217 (182)	<0.001	153 (84)	210 (187)	<0.001
hs-CRP, mg/L	1.10 (1.39)	1.67 (1.62)	<0.001	1.18 (1.44)	1.57 (1.61)	0.04
Women						
No of subjects, %	328 (66)	169 (34)		362 (73)	135 (27)	
Adiponectin, µg/ml	8.44 (4.69)	6.89 (3.72)	<0.001	8.34 (4.63)	6.77 (3.67)	<0.001
IL-1 Ra, pg/ml	145 (77)	284 (242) ¹	<0.001	154 (106)	294 (243) ³	<0.001
hs-CRP, mg/L	1.10 (1.26)	2.32 (2.09) ²	<0.001	1.15 (1.26)	2.49 (2.24) ⁴	<0.001
[†] Bootstrap type t-test with 95% confidence interval ot Statistical differences betw	bootstrap-based mi stained by bias-corr /een the sexes: ¹ p=	ultiplicity adjustme ected and acceler 0.0028, ² p<0.001	ants (5000 replic ated bootstrapp , ³ p=0.0016 an	ations). ing (5000 replication d ⁴ p<0.001.	s).	

6. DISCUSSION

6.1. Study population and design

The study population consisted of middle aged (mean age about 46 years) Caucasian subjects from the city of Pieksämäki, eastern Finland. Entire age groups, born in 1942, 1947, 1952, 1957 and 1962, were recruited from the local comprehensive population data records by three separate invitations. No exclusion criteria were applied. Altogether 923 of 1294 subjects (71.3%) participated in this cross-sectional study conducted in 1997-98 at Pieksämäki health center.

This is a representative population-based age-cohort study. The gender distribution did not differ between the age groups. The strength of this study is that the number of male participants (44.6%) was high compared to many other population-based studies (52). The prevalence of the MetS in the study population (IDF men 38%,women 34% and NCEP men 34% and women 27%) was about the same as in the Oulu project Elucidating the Risk of Atherosclerosis study, which is a population-based study with participants randomly selected from Finnish national population register (220). In that study population (mean age about 50 years) the prevalence of the MetS was, on the IDF definition, 37.6% and on the NCEP definition 29.8% of all study subjects.

Because of the rather low mean age of our study population, there were only few cases of diagnosed CHD (4/0.4%) and DM (15/1.6%). Of the total population 43 (4.7%) of men and 41 (4.4%) of women were on antihypertensive medication, and 14 (1.5%) and 6 (0.7%) on lipid lowering medication.

Due to the nature of the study there is no data about the missing 28.7% of the study population who did not attend despite three invitations. The missing subjects were, anyhow, evenly distributed to all age groups. It is unlikely that this will effect the study results.

6.2. Study methods

The adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra analyses were determined at the scientific laboratory of Kuopio University. To minimize the inter-assay variations all the analysis of cytokines and adiponectin were performed at the same time in 2003. Fresh plasma samples were immediately frozen to -20° C and stored at -70° C after transportation to the central laboratory. As far as known, the analyses are reliably done after at least 3-5 years storage in -70° C (442). One limitation of our study may be that we measured total adiponectin and not the high molecular weight (HMW) multimer of adiponectin, which has been shown to be a better marker for the

MetS than total adiponectin (443), especially in early diagnosis of insulin resistance in metabolically obese, normal weight subjects (444).

In Studies III and IV 18 subjects (7 men and 11 women) were exluded whose hs-CRP concentrations were >10,0 mg/L in order to eliminate possible cases of acute infections and other occult diseases. In the insulin resistance study (Study II) 15 (1.6%) persons were excluded from all statistical analyses due to known diabetes and one person with CRP >30 mg/L, as treatment for diabetes and acute infections could effect our results. However, when these subjects were included in the statistical analysis, the results remained essentially the same.

A limitation of these studies is the cross-sectional design, which does not give answers regarding the exact predictive values of adiponectin and cytokines for diabetes and cardiovascular disease, which are the main future complications of the MetS.

6.3. Associations of cytokines and adiponectin with growth between childhood and adulthood

The novel finding in this study is an association between the relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood and levels of adiponectin and markers of a low-grade inflammation measured in adulthood. This might mean that decreased levels of adiponectin and elevated levels of IL-1 Ra and hs-CRP are indicators of relative BMI change. The association was particularly strong among women, but it was also present in men. This may suggest that in females the growth pattern, i.e., fat distribution, is different from that in males. The gender difference is, however, unclear, as in one study intra-abdominal fat tended to be higher in men than in women (445), while in another women and men had similar amounts of liver and intra-abdominal fat, but women had more subcutaneous fat (446). In general women have a higher percentage of body fat than men, and markers of inflammation correlate strongly with measures of adiposity (447).

The elevated levels of the low-grade inflammatory markers used (IL-1 Ra and hs-CRP) and low levels of adiponectin reflected BMI gain retrospectively. IL-1 Ra had the strongest correlations with relative weight change. The level of IL-1 Ra has been shown to be markedly and reversibly elevated in human obesity and predicted by lean body mass and insulin levels (274). IL-1 Ra has also been shown to be the most sensitive marker of cytokine response in the prediabetic state in the offspring of type 2 diabetic patients (277). Later on the levels of IL-1 Ra decrease as type 2 diabetes develops (278). This might indicate that it protects cells from being overloaded by glucose uptake in the diabetic state.

Levels of adiponectin are decreased in obesity. Inflammation and the influx of fat into the cells associated with obesity could explain this observation by inhibiting adiponectin expression (448). These study results support the hypothesis that adiponectin may be the link between over nutrition, weight gain, insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease (126, 228). The recent finding that obesity at the age of 18 years increased lifetime risk for diabetes (449) may reflect the effect over many years of lower levels of adiponectin and higher levels of cytokines. In agreement with this notion a Swedish 6-year follow-up study of 2 821 non-diabetic healthy men demonstrated a significant correlation between positive inflammation-sensitive plasma proteins (fibrinogen, orosomucoid, α 1-antitrypsin, haptoglobin and ceruloplasmin) and weight gain (450). Therefore, the inflammatory process, possibly genetically determined, could be the driving force for weight change from childhood to adulthood, and not just a marker of current obesity. However, a prospective study, with an admittedly short follow-up period (2-3 years), in Pima Indians failed to demonstrate an association between hypoadiponectinemia and weight gain (451).

A limitation of this study is cross-sectional and retrospective design. For this reason we used the relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood. Prospective studies from childhood to adulthood are needed to verify this finding and to show whether the inflammation comes first and, if so, whether it predicts future fat mass.

It can be concluded that elevated levels of inflammatory markers IL-1Ra and hs-CRP and decreased levels of adiponectin are related to relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood in both females and males.

6.4. Associations of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra with insulin sensitivity

The finding of this population-based study (n=923) was that QUICKI correlated significantly with adiponectin and IL-1 Ra levels. However, the correlation between QUICKI and hs-CRP was not statistically significant after adjustment for age, gender, BMI, smoking status and physical activity. Therefore, it is possible that inflammation is more a consequence than a cause of obesity and insulin resistance.

This data agrees with previous results indicating that a low level of adiponectin is associated with decreased insulin sensitivity and may lead to type 2 diabetes (229). The new finding of the present study was that the negative correlation between insulin sensitivity and IL-1 Ra remained significant after adjustment for gender, BMI, smoking, age and physical activity. The members of the IL-1 cytokine superfamily, IL-1 α and IL-1 β , are strong inducers of inflammation (270). Previous studies also show that insulin resistance may precede the elevation of CRP levels in the development of obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Similarly to these findings, in one study hs-CRP levels were not significantly associated with insulin sensitivity, but CRP was related to adiposity in a study of 10-to 16-year-old children (452). In contrast, in young people hypoadiponectinemia has been shown to correlate independently with insulin resistance and

visceral obesity (419). Similar strong correlations of adiponectin with insulin sensitivity and CRP with adiposity have been demonstrated in studies of adult obese and non-obese people with and without disorders of glucose metabolism (453).

In this study, the association between QUICKI and hs-CRP was similar in both sexes, but it was not as strong as the association between QUICKI and IL-1 Ra. The correlation between QUICKI and hs-CRP was not statistically significant after adjustment for confounding factors. Generally, hs-CRP is considered to be more a risk factor for coronary heart disease than for insulin resistance (248,249).

Correlations of adiponectin and CRP with QUICKI were very similar in both sexes. The strongest correlation was observed between insulin sensitivity and IL-1 Ra, and this was observed especially in women (r=-0.500 Pearson and -0.279 partial correlation). It is not clear why there is a gender difference between IL-1 Ra and QUICKI. This may be a consequence of differential fat distribution or hormonal differences between the sexes.

The other anti-inflammatory markers, especially IL-10, have high correlations with metabolic parameters. Previous studies have shown that IL-10 level is elevated in obese women without the metabolic syndrome, and that IL-10 level is low in women who have the metabolic syndrome or type 2 diabetes (454). A positive correlation of IL-10 level and insulin sensitivity has recently been demonstrated in young healthy individuals (455). In the study of the offspring of type 2 diabetic subjects the level of IL-1 Ra was the most sensitive marker of cytokine response in the prediabetic state (277). In that study, the level of IL-1 β was increased in the normal glucose tolerance group, whereas it was decreased in the impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) group. Eizirik et al. (456) have shown that 10- to 100-fold excess of IL-1 Ra over IL-1 β suffices to block the effects of IL-1 β on pancreatic islets. In the above-mentioned study (277) the ratio of IL-1 Ra to IL-1 β was found to be >100-fold higher in the IGT group, indicating decreased biological activity of IL-1 β . Therefore, it is unlikely that IL-1 β would mediate β -cell failure during the progression from IGT to type 2 diabetes.

All the statistical analyses in this study were adjusted for smoking status and physical activity. Smoking generates systemic inflammation, and thus proinflammatory cytokines might be elevated (457). Regular exercise more than three times a week has an anti-inflammatory effect. During exercise IL-6 is produced by muscle fibers, and it inhibits the production of proinflammatory cytokines, especially tumor necrosis factor (TNF) alpha (356).

This study showed that insulin sensitivity, measured by the QUICKI index, and its correlations with adiponectin and inflammatory markers corroborate existing evidence that a low adiponectin level and low-grade inflammation are associated with insulin resistance.

6.5. Hypoadiponectinemia and pro-inflammation in the metabolic syndrome

This study shows that proinflammatory cytokines and adiponectin are associated with the MetS. Cytokine levels were higher and adiponectin levels lower in subjects who had the MetS according to both definitions (IDF, NCEP) compared to subjects who had the MetS according to only one definition. The only-IDF definition group of the MetS had higher levels of hs-CRP and IL-1Ra compared to the group with only-NCEP definition, probably due to abdominal obesity as the central criterion for the syndrome. A similar stronger relationship with the IDF compared to the NCEP definition was found in a Chinese population with hs-CRP (458). Subjects with the MetS according to only the NCEP criteria had quite normal levels of adiponectin and inflammatory markers, which may indicate that these subjects are not at such a high risk for CVD and/or diabetes. On the other hand the levels of triglycerides were higher and HDL-cholesterol tended to be lower in this NCEP-only population. In a recent study a similar risk for CVD and diabetes was observed in subjects having the MetS according to the IDF, NCEP and WHO definitions (56).

The current study also confirmed that levels of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra were similarly and linearly correlated with the number of components of the MetS according to the IDF and NCEP definitions in both sexes. Similar results have been reported previously with respect to the levels of hs-CRP (254,459) and adiponectin (220,460,461) in different populations. Despite the fact that hs-CRP and adiponectin have been found to be highly correlated with the components of the MetS, it is not yet recommended that they could be added to the definition criteria (53). Hs-CRP values are different in different ethnic groups, and adiponectin is different between the sexes and also more difficult to measure than the other accepted values. In the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study hs-CRP was the best immunological predictor for the progression from impaired glucose tolerance to overt type 2 diabetes (357). Our findings show that according to any of the definitions of the MetS, conventional cardiovascular risk factors, insulin resistance measured by QUICKI, low adiponectin and high levels proinflammatory markers cluster in the same individuals.

The prevalence of the MetS was 38 % in men and 34% in women according to the IDF definition, and 34% and 27%, respectively, according to the NCEP definition. Our results agree with previous results from Finland (220). On the other hand, the level of agreement between both definitions was better in women. In large part both definitions of the MetS identified the same high-risk individuals, but the IDF definition more reliably identified individuals with more unfavourable proinflammatory parameters than did the NCEP definition.

In this study it was possible to compare the correlations of IL-1 Ra with hs-CRP and adiponectin in the same study population. The new finding was that IL-Ra showed a similar correlation to those of hs-CRP and adiponectin with the MetS.
It can be concluded that decreased levels of adiponectin and increased levels of hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra possibly reflect the same phenomenon, and correlate linearly with the number of components of the MetS according to both the IDF and NCEP definitions. The levels of inflammatory markers (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) are higher among patients with the MetS defined by only the IDF criteria compared to those defined by only the NCEP criteria.

6.6. Gender differences in hs-CRP, IL-1 Ra and adiponectin levels in the metabolic syndrome

This study showed that the levels of proinflammatory markers, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra, were significantly higher among women with the MetS compared to men with the MetS, independently of the definition used (NCEP, IDF). In contrast, no gender difference in these markers between men and women was observed in subjects without the MetS. If it is taken into account that obesity and the MetS are strongly related, our results are in line with earlier studies showing a stronger association between obesity and hs-CRP in women than in men. This could be related to the higher percentage of body fat in women (446,462). A recent finding in Finland shows that in women the waist had increased by 2.7 cm over the past 10 years and by only 1.0 cm in men. Waist circumference increased more than BMI among women, especially unemployed women (463). The increasing waistlines may be involved in increasing T2DM numbers among women, because girls are also "intrinsically" more insulin-resistant than boys. It was found that girls had 15-25% higher concentrations of cord insulin compared with boys, independent of many confounders (464). Is this genetic or epigenetic and what is the role of hormones? Although the answers are unknown, these questions have given rise to the "sex insulin hypothesis" (465). Insulin-resistant diabetes is common in Turner syndrome (monosomy X) (466) and in Klinifelter syndrome/variants (polysomy X) (467). Hormones complicate matters further; women are more insulin resistant during their prepubertal and postmenopausal years, whereas men seem to be more insulin-resistant during their reproductive years (468).

Hypoadiponectinemia is an early marker of this process and reflects the interaction of the adiponectin gene and environmental factors related to obesity, insulin resistance and the MetS (214). Decreased synthesis of adiponectin has been assumed to lead to dysregulation of the mechanisms that inhibit the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (448). Recent data show that the reduction in mortality rates among diabetic patients has been limited to men (427). The low-grade inflammation in women with the MetS shown in our study could be one explanation why prediabetic women tend to have a more atherogenic risk profile than men years before the diagnosis of diabetes (469). This may also explain, at least in part, why the MetS is a stronger predictor of cardiovascular disease in women (470) than in men.

It is possible to conclude that women with the MetS had higher levels of hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra compared to men. These observed gender-differences in cytokines with long lasting inflammatory process may explain why type 2 diabetes is associated with relatively higher cardiovascular mortality in women than in men.

6.7. Implications for clinical practice and research

Despite recent criticism of the diagnosis of the MetS, there is no question that risk factors for CVD cluster together. So far, no common clearly accepted etiology for the various components have been found. The question is whether this ever-increasing cluster of features conceals a distinctive clinical entity and whether it helps to identify people who clearly are at increased risk for CVD and T2DM.

However, the identification of subjects, as early as possible, with a high risk for CVD and T2DM is of great importance. Tools for identification in clinical practice are easily available and they are not expensive. We have a rather well-tested lifestyle modification, which should be started as early as possible among patients with the MetS. The prevention of childhood obesity epidemics now is of great importance for the near future. In the search for a common etiology of the MetS, T2DM and CVD ("common soil hypothesis") the new findings about the active role of adipose tissue via adipocytokines and chronic inflammation are emerging as at the core of this problem. These studies showed in a population-based level that decreased levels of adiponectin and increased levels of markers of chronic inflammation (hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) correlate linearly with the number of components defined by the IDF or the NCEP criteria. What is the direction of causality? There is experimental evidence that inflammatory mediators alone can trigger insulin resistance in cells, experimental models and humans in the absence of other triggering factors, such as obesity (57). This suggests that inflammation is proximal to metabolic deterioration and may lead to diabetes. This question cannot, however, be answered in this study design, but the prevention of at least a relative change in BMI to higher levels during growth is desirable. The results tend support the view that when an obese child reduces his or her relative weight to become a non-obese adult, this may protect against the MetS and its complications (417).

Diabetes as a potentially preventable complication of the MetS is relatively more dangerous for women than for men. The recent data show that the reduction in mortality rates among diabetic patients has been limited to men. Significantly higher levels of cytokines among women with MetS compared to men found in this study could be one explanation why prediabetic women have a more atherogenic risk profile than men years before the diagnosis of diabetes. In contrast, no gender difference in the cytokines between men and women were observed in subjects without the MetS. This long-lasting inflammatory stress may in part explain why type 2

diabetes is associated with relatively higher cardiovascular mortality in women and thus lifestyle modifications should be started very early among women with the MetS. This large, partly unexplained excess risk for CVD in women with type 2 diabetes needs further prospective research.

For everyday clinical purposes the measurement of IL-1 Ra and adiponectin are not at present recommended despite the fact that they are good markers for the MetS. Maybe the use of hs-CRP as CHD risk estimate is the most useful among subjects at intermediate risk (471, 472). A better understanding of the genes involved in the interplay between the environment and the human body in terms of increased waist size and cytokines will help to identify the right candidates for preventive therapies, maybe the use of IL-1 Ra for prevention of T2DM is possible. Adiponectin replacement therapy or the enhancing adiponectin action through modulation of expression and/or function of adiponectin receptors may be a novel and promising therapeutic strategy for the Mets and T2DM in the future (214).

7. SUMMARY

This study was done to evaluate the associations and meanings of adiponectin and low-grade inflammation (measured by hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra) with the MetS in a community-based age-cohorts. Five different whole age groups with the mean age of 46 years living in the same geographical area were included. These cross-sectional studies were done during 1997-1998 and 923 of 1 294 (71.3%) individuals participated. The prevalence of the MetS according to the IDF definition was in men 38% and in women 34%. The corresponding figures according to the NCEP definition were 34% and 27%.

The study showed an association between the relative change in BMI from childhood to adulthood and the levels of adiponectin and markers of a low-grade inflammation. This suggests that low levels of adiponectin and elevated levels of IL-1 Ra and hs-CRP could be indicators of relative weight gain. The association was particularly strong among women. IL-1 Ra had the strongest correlations with relative BMI change. Inflammation associated with obesity could explain this observation by inhibiting adiponectin expression. These results support the hypothesis that adiponectin may be the link between overnutrition, weight gain, insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease.

Insulin sensitivity correlated significantly with adiponectin and IL-1 Ra levels, independently of confounding factors. Insulin sensitivity did not correlate with hs-CRP after adjustment for age, gender, BMI, smoking status and physical activity. The correlations of adiponectin and CRP with insulin sensitivity were similar in both sexes. The strongest correlation was observed between insulin sensitivity and IL-1 Ra, and this was observed especially in women.

Levels of adiponectin, hs-CRP and IL- 1 Ra were similarly and linearly correlated with number of the components of the MetS according to the IDF and NCEP definitions in both sexes. These cytokines and adiponectin are likely to be central components of the MetS. Cytokine levels were higher and adiponectin levels lower in subjects who had the MetS on both definitions (IDF, NCEP) compared to subjects who had the MetS on only one definition. Both definitions of the MetS largely identified the same high risk individuals.

The levels of proinflammatory markers, hs-CRP and IL-1 Ra, were significantly higher among women with the MetS compared to men with the MetS, independently of the definition used (NCEP, IDF). No gender difference in these markers was observed in subjects without the MetS. The relatively greater decrease in adiponectin level in women with the MetS could induce more pro-inflammation in women than in men. The low-grade inflammation in women with the MetS could explain why prediabetic women tend to have a more atherogenic risk profile than men years before the diagnosis of diabetes.

In conclusion, the MetS is associated with hypoadiponectinemia and low-grade inflammation. An association in this study was found between relative change in BMI between childhood and adulthood, insulin sensitivity, the number of components of the MetS and especially in female gender.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Isomaa B, Almgren P, Tuomi T et al. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with the metabolic syndrome.Diabetes Care. 2001;24:683-89.
- 2. Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA et.al. The metabolic syndrome and total cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. JAMA. 2002;288:2709-16.
- Laaksonen DE, Lakka HM, Niskanen LK, Kaplan GA, Salonen JT, Lakka TA. Metabolic syndrome and development of diabetes mellitus:application and validiation of recently suggested definitions of the metabolic syndrome in a prospective cohort study. Am J Epidemiol. 2002;156:1070-77.
- 4. Lorenzo C, Okoloise M, Williams K, Stern MP, Haffner SM. The metabolic syndrome as predictor of type 2 diabetes:the San Antonio Heart Study. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:3153-59
- 5. Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Shaw J. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature. 2001;414:782-87.
- 6. Weiss R, Dziura J, Burgert TS et al. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:2362-74
- 7. Despres JP, Lemieux I. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. Nature. 2006;444:881-7.
- Matsuzawa Y. Adipocytokines and Metabolic syndrome. Semin Vasc Med. 2005; 5(1):34-9.
- Scherer PE, Williams S, Fogliano M, Baldini G, Lodish HF. A novel serum protein similar to C1q.produced exclusively in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:26746-49.
- Stefan N, Vozarova B, Funahashi T et al. Plasma adiponectin concentration is associated with skeletal muscle insulin receptor tyrosine phosphorylation, and low plasma concentration precedes a decrease in whole-body insulin sensitivity in humans. Diabetes. 2002;51:1884-88.
- 11. Matsuzawa Y. Therapy Insight:adipocytokines in the metabolic syndrome and related cardiovascular disease. Nature Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med.2006;3:35-42.
- Yudkin JS, Stewehouwer CD, Emeis JJ, Coppack SW. C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: associations with obesity,insulin resistance, and endothelial dysfunction: a potential role for cytokines originating from adipose tissue? Arterioscler.Thromb.Vasc.Biol. 1999;19:972-78.
- 13. Stern MP. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: the "common soil" hypothesis.Diabetes. 1995;44:369-74.
- 14. Enzi G, Busetto L, Inelman EM, Coin A, Sergi G. Historical perpective: visceral obesity and related comorbidity in Joannes Baptista Morgagni's " De Sedibus et Causis Morborum per Anatomen Indagata". Int J Obesity. 2003; 27:534-5.

- 15. Kylin E. Studien ueber das Hypertonie-Hyperglykämie-Hyperurikämiesyndrom.Zentralbl Inn Med. 1923;44:105-27.
- 16. Vague J. La differenciation sexuelle, facteur determinant des formes de l'obesite. Presse Med. 1947; 30:339-40.
- 17. Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes. 1988;37:1595-607.
- 18. Kaplan NM. The deadly quartet. Upper-body obesity, glucose intolerance, hypertriglyceridemia, and hypertension. Arch Intern Med. 1989;149:1514-20.
- 19. DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E. Insulin resistance. A multifaceted syndrome responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Diabetes Care.1991;14:173-94.
- 20. World Health Organization: Definition, Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and its Complications. Geneva, World Health Organization 1999;(Tech.Rep.Ser.,no.99.2).
- 21. Zavaroni I, Bonini L, Gasparini P et al. Dissociation between urinary albumin excretion and variables associated with insulin resistance in a healthy population. J Intern Med. 1996;240:151-56.
- 22. Jager A, Kostense PJ, Nijpels G, Heine RJ, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CD. Microalbuminuria is strongly associated with NIDDM and hypertension, but not with the insulin resistance syndrome: The Hoorn Study. Diabetologia.1998;41:151-56.
- 23. Mykkänen L, Zaccaro DJ, Wagenknecht LE, Robbins DC, Gabriel M, Haffner SM. Microalbuminuria is associated with insulin resistance in nondiabetic subjects: the insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. Diabetes. 1998;47:793-800.
- 24. DeFronzo RA, Tobin JD, Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance.Am J Physiol. 1979;237:E214-23.
- 25. Balkau B, Charles MA. Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). Diabet.Med. 1999;16:442-43.
- 26. Laakso M. How good a marker is insulin level for insulin resistance? Am J Epidemiol. 1993;137:959-65.
- Pouliot MC, Despres JP,Lemieux S et al.Waist circumference and abdominal sagittal diameter: best simple anthropometric indexes of abdominal visceral adipose tissue accumulation and related cardiovascular risk in men and women. Am J Cardiol. 1994;73:460-468.
- 28. Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA. 2001;285:2486-97.
- Bloomgarden ZT. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) consensus conference on the insulin resistance syndrome: 25-26 August 2002, Washington, DC. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:933-9.

- International Diabetes Federation: The IDF consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome 2005.Available from http://www.idf.org/ webdata/docs/ metab_syndrome_def.pdf. Accessed on 19 October 2005.
- 31. Lean ME, Han TS, Morrison CE. Waist circumference as a measure for indicating need for weight management. BMJ. 1995;311:158-61.
- Tan CE, Ma S, Wai D, Chew SK, Tai ES. Can we apply the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel definition of the metabolic syndrome to Asians? Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1182-86.
- 33. Grundy SM, Hansen B, Smith SC Jr, Cleeman JI, Kahn RA; American Heart Association; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Diabetes Association. Clinical management of metabolic syndrome. Report of the American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Diabetes Association Conference on Scientific Issues Related to Management. Circulation 2004;109:551-6.
- Wang J, Ruotsalainen S, Moilanen L, Lepistö P, Laakso M, Kuusisto J. The metabolic syndrome predicts cardiovascular mortality: a 13-year follow-up study in elderly non-diabetic Finns. European Heart Journal. 2007;28:857-64.
- 35. Ford ES, Giles WH, Dietz WH. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA. 2002;287:356-59.
- 36. Ford ES, Giles WH. A comparison of the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome using two proposed definitions. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:575-81.
- 37. Ilanne-Parikka P, Eriksson JG, Lindstöm J et al.on behalf of the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study Group. Prevalence of the Metabolic syndrome and its components.Findings from a Finnish general population sample and the Diabetes Prevention Study cohort. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:2135-40.
- Vanhala MJ, Kumpusalo EA, Pitkäjärvi TK, Takala JK. "Metabolic syndrome" in a middle-aged Finnish population. Journal of Cardiovascular Risk. 1997;4:291-5.
- Vanhala M. Metabolic syndrome in Finland.Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences 112.1996.
- Mikkola I, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Laakso M et al. Metabolic syndrome in connection with BMI in young Finnish male adults. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;76(3):404-9.
- Athyros VG, Ganotakis ES, Elisaf M, Mikhailidis DP. The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome using the National Cholesterol Educational Program and International Diabetes Federation definitions. Curr Med Res Opin. 2005;21:1157-59.
- 42. Ford ES, Li C, Zhao G, Pearson WS, Mokdad AH. Prevalence of the metabolic sydnrome among U.S. adolescents using the definition from the International Diabetes Federation. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:587-9.

- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1:diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med. 1998;15:539-53.
- 44. Trevisan M, Liu J, Bahsas FB, Menotti A. Syndrome X and mortality:a populationbased study. Risk Factor and Life Expectancy Research Group. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;148:958-66.
- 45. Pyörälä M, Miettinen H, Halonen P, Laakso M, Pyörälä K. Insulin resistance syndrome predicts the risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in healthy middle-aged men: the 22-year follow-up results of the Helsinki Policemen Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20:538-44
- Lempiäinen P, Mykkänen L, Pyörälä K, Laakso M, Kuusisto J. Insulin resistance syndrome predicts coronary heart disease in elderly nondiabetic men. Circulation. 1999;100(2):123-28
- 47. Hunt KJ, Resendez RG, Williams K, Haffner SM, Stern MP. National Cholesterol Education Program versus World Health Organization metabolic syndrome in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the San Antonio Heart Study. Circulation. 2004;110:1251-57
- 48. Dekker JM, Girman C, Rhodes T et al. Metabolic syndrome and 10-year cardiovascular disease risk in the Hoorn Study. Circulation. 2005;112:666-73.
- 49. McNeill AM, Rosamond WD, Girman CJ et al. The metabolic syndrome and 11year risk of incident cardiovascular disease in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:385-90.
- 50. Girman CJ, Rhodes T, Mercuri M et al. for the 4S Group and the AFCAPS/TexCAPS Research Group. The Metabolic syndrome and risk of major coronary events in the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study(4S) and the Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study (AFCAPS/TexCAPS). Am J Cardiol. 2004;93:136-141.
- Saely CH, Koch L, Schmid F et al.Adult Treatment Panel III 2001 but not International Diabetes Federation 2005 criteria of the metabolic syndrome predicts clinical cardiovascular events in subjects who underwent coronary angiography. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:901-7.
- Wang J, Ruotsalainen S, Moilanen L, Lepistö P, Laakso M, Kuusisto J. The metabolic syndrome and incident end stage peripherial vascular disease: a 14year follow-up study in elderly Finns. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:3099-3104.
- 53. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet. 2005;365:1415-28.
- 54. Hanley AJG, Karter AJ, Williams K et al. Prediction of type 2 diabetes mellitus with alternative definitions of the metabolic syndrome. The Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. Circulation. 2005;112:3713-21.
- 55. Wang JJ, Hu G, Miettinen ME, Tuomilehto J. The metabolic syndrome and incident diabetes:assessment of four suggested definitions of the metabolic syndrome in a Chinese population with high post-prandial glucose. Horm Metab Res. 2004;36:708-15.

- 56. Lorenzo C, Williams K, Hunt KJ, Haffner SM. The National Cholesterol Education Program-Adult Treatment Panel III, International Diabetes Federation, and World Health Organization definitions of the metabolic syndrome as predictors of incident cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:8-13.
- 57. Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic diseases. Nature. 2006;444:860-7.
- Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha:direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science.1993;259:87-91.
- 59. Larsen GL, Henson BM. Mediators of inflammation.Ann. Rev.Immunol. 1983;1:335-59.
- 60. Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. J.Clin.Invest. 2005;115:1111-19.
- 61. Shoelson SE, Lee J, Goldfine AB.Inflammation and insulin resistance. J.Clin. Invest. 2006;116:1793-1801.
- 62. Kahn R, Buse J, Ferrannini E, Stern M. The metabolic syndrome:time for a critical appraisal: Joint statement from the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2289-304.
- Malik S, Wong ND, Franklin SS et al. Impact of the metabolic syndrome on mortality from coronary heart disease, cardiovascular disease, and all causes in United States adults. Circulation. 2004;110:1245-50.
- 64. Girman CJ, Dekker JM, Rhodes T et al. An exploratory analysis of criteria for the metabolic syndrome and its prediction of longterm cardiovascular outcomes: the Hoorn Study.Am J Epidemiol. 2005;162:438-47.
- 65. Kahn R. The metabolic syndrome(emperor) wears no clothes. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1693-6.
- Meigs JB. Invited commentary: insulin resistance syndrome? Syndrome X? Multiple metabolic syndrome? A syndrome at all? Factor analysis reveals patterns in the fabric of metabolic risk factors. Am J Epidemiol. 2000;152:908-11.
- 67. Lawlor DA, Ebrahim S, May M, Davey SG. (Mis)use of factor analysis in the study of insulin resistance syndrome. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159:1013-18.
- Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Cardiovascular risk factors clustering with endogenous hyperinsulinaemia predict death from coronary heart disease in patients with Type II diabetes. Diabetologia. 2000;43:148-55.
- 69. Meigs JB, D Agostino RB,Sr., Wilson PW, Cupples LA, Nathan DM, Singer DE. Risk varible clustering in the insulin resistance syndrome. The Framingham Offspring Study. Diabetes. 1997;46:1594-600.
- 70. Donahue RP, Bean JA, Donahue RD, Goldberg RD, Prineas RJ. Does insulin resistance unite the separate components of insulin resistance syndrome?

Evidence from the Miami Community Health Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997;17:2413-17

- 71. Hanson RL, Imperatore G, Bennett PH, Knowler WC. Components of the "metabolic syndrome" and incidence of type 2 diabetes.Diabetes. 2002;51:3120-27.
- 72. Kekäläinen P, Sarlund H, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Hyperinsulinemia cluster predicts the development of type 2 diabetes indipendently of family history of diabetes. Diabetes Care. 1999;22:86-92.
- 73. Pladevall M, Singal B, Williams LK et al. A single factor underlies the metabolic syndrome. A confirmatory factor analysis. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:113-22.
- 74. Li C, Ford ES. Is there a single underlying factor for the metabolic syndrome in adolescents?. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1556-61.
- 75. Kopelman PG. Obesity as a medical problem. Nature. 2000;404:635-43
- 76. Vaque J. The degree of masculine differentation of obesities: a factor determining predisposition to diabetes, atherosclerosis, gout and uric calculous disease. Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1956;20-34
- 77. Ford ES, Giles WH, Mokdad AH. Increasing prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:2444-9.
- Peltonen M, Korpi-Hyövälti E, Oksa H et al. Prevalence of obesity,type 2 diabetes, and other disturbances in glucose metabolism in Finland- the FIN-D2D survey. Suomen Lääkärilehti. 2006;61:163-70.
- Balkau B, Deanfield JE, Despres JP et al. International day for the evaluation of abdominal obesity (IDEA): a study of waist circumference, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes mellitus in 168,000 primary care patients in 63 countries. Circulation. 2007;116(17):1942-51.
- 80. Fuller NJ, Elia M. Potential use of bioelectrical impedance of the "whole body" and of body segments for the assessment of body composition:comparison with densitometry and anthropometry. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1989;43:779-91.
- 81. Ellis KJ. Human body composition:in vivo methods. Physiol Rev. 2000;80:649-80.
- Lohman TG, Harris M, Teixeira PJ, Weiss L. Assessing body composition and changes in body composition. Another look at dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2000;904:45-54.
- Chowdhury B, Sjöström L, Alpsten M, Kostanty J, Kvist H, Lofgren R. A multicompartment body composition technique based on computerized tomography. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1994;18:219-34.
- 84. Ross R, Leger L, Morris D, Guardo R. Quantification of adipose tissue by MRI: relationship with anthropometric variables. J Appl Physiol. 1992;72:787-95.

- Abate N, Garg A, Peschock RM, Stray-Gundersen J, Grundy SM. Relationship of generalized and regional adiposity to insulin sensitivity in men. J Clin Invest. 1995;96:88-98.
- 86. Kuk JL, Lees S, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Waist circumference and abdominal adipose tissue distribution: influence of age and sex. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81(6):1330-4.
- 87. Klein S, Allison DB, Heymsfield SB et al. Waist circumference and cardiometabolic risk. A consensus statement from Shaping America's health:Association for Weight Management and Obesity Prevention; NAASO, the Obesity Society;the American Society for Nutrition;and the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1647-52.
- Razak F, Anand S, Vuksan V et al. For the SHARE investigators. Ethnic differences in the relationship between obesity and glucose-metabolic abnormalities: a cross-sectional population-based study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2005;29:656-67.
- 89. Obesity in Asia collaboration. Waist circumference thresholds provide an accurate and widely applicable method for the discrimination of diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007; 30(12):3116-8.
- Ross R, Freeman J, Hudson R, Janssen I. Abdominal obesity, muscle composition, and insulin resistance in premenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:5044-51.
- 91. Despres JP, Lemieux S, Lamarche B et al. The insulin resistance-dyslipidemic syndrome:contribution of visceral obesity and therapeutic implications. In J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1995;19 (suppl 1):S76-86.
- 92. Carr DB, Utzschneider KM, Hull RL et al.Intra-abdominal fat is a major determinant of the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III criteira for the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes. 2004;53:2087-94.
- 93. Goodpaster BH, Krishnaswami S, Harris TB et al. Obesity, regional body fat distribution, and the metabolic syndrome in older men and women. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165:777-83.
- Wang Y, Rimm EB, Stampher MJ, Willett WC, Hu FB. Comparison of abdominal adiposity and overall obesity in predicting risk of type 2 diabetes among men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81:555-63.
- 95. Boyko EJ, Fujimoto WY, Leonetti DL, Newell-Morris L. Visceral adiposity and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study among Japanese Americans. Diabetes Care. 2000;23:465-71.
- 96. Dagenais GR, Yi Q, Mann JF, Bosch J, Pogue J, Yusuf S. Prognostic impact of body weight and abdominal obesity in women and men with cardiovascular disease. Am Heart J. 2005;149:54-60.
- 97. Rexrode KM, Carey VJ, Henneknes CH et al. Abdominal obesity and coronary heart disease in women. JAMA.1998;280:1843-8.

- 98. Kuk JL, Katzmarzyk PT, Nichaman MZ, Church TS, Blair SN, Ross R. Visceral fat is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in men. Obesity. 2006;14(2):336-41.
- Nyholm B, Nielsen MF, Kristensen K et al.Evidence of increased visceral obesity and reduced physical fitness in healthy insulin-resistant first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetic patients. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;150:207-14.
- 100. Coppack SW, Evans RD, Fisher RM et al. Adipose tissue metabolism in obesity:lipase action in vivo before and after a mixed meal. Metabolism. 1992;41:264-72.
- 101. Baldeweg SE, Golay A, Natali A, Balkau B, Del PS, Coppack SW. Insulin resistance, lipid and fatty acid concentration in 867 healthy Europeans. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). Eur J Clin Invest. 2000;30:45-52.
- 102. Arner P, Hellström L, Wahrenberg H, Brönnegård M. Beta-adrenoceptor expression in human fat cells from different regions. J Clin Invest. 1990;86:1595-600.
- 103. Bolinder J, Kager L, Ostman J, Arner P. Differences at the receptor and postreceptor levels between human omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue in the action of insulin on lipolysis. Diabetes. 1983;32:117-23.
- 104. Meek SE, Nair KS, Jensen MD. Insulin regulation of regional free fatty acid metabolism. Diabetes. 1999;48:10-14.
- 105. Coillard C, Bergeron N, Prud'homme D et al. Postprandial triglyceride response in visceral obesity in men. Diabetes. 1998;47:953-60.
- 106. Blackburn P, Lamarche B, Coillard C et al. Contribution of visceral adiposity to the exaggerated postprandial lipemia of men with impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:3303-9.
- 107. Björntorp P. Metabolic implications of body fat distribution. Diabtes Care. 1991; 14(12): 1132-43.
- 108. Björntorp P. Visceral obesity: a "civilization syndrome". Obes res. 1993;1(3):206-22.
- 109. Björntorp P. Body fat distribution, insulin resistance, and metabolic diseases. Nutrition. 1997;13:795-803.
- 110. Seppälä-Lindroos A, Vehkavaara S, Häkkinen AM et al. Fat accumulation in the liver is associated with defects in insulin suppression of glucose production and serum free fatty acids independent of obesity in normal men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:3023-8.
- 111. Sinha R, Dufour S, Petersen KF et al.Assessment of skeletal muscle triglyceride content by(1)H nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in lean and obese adolescents: relationships to insulin sensitivity, total body fat, and central adiposity. Diabetes. 2002;51:1022-7.

- 112. Kotronen A, Seppälä-Lindroos A, Bergholm R, Yki-Järvinen H. Tissue specificity of insulin resistance in humans: fat in the liver rather than muscle is associated with features of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetologia. 2008;51:130-8.
- 113. Kotronen A, Westerbacka J, Bergholm R, Pietiläinen KH, Yki-Järvinen H. Liver fat in the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(9):3490-7.
- 114. Kotronen A, Juurinen L, Hakkarainen A et al. Liver fat is increased in type 2 diabetic patients and underestimated by serum ALT compared to equally obese non-diabetic subjects. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:165-9.
- 115. Taksali SE, Caprio S, Dziura J et al. High visceral and low abdominal subcutaneous fat stores in the obese adolescent. A determinant of an adverse metabolic phenotype. Diabetes. 2008;57:367-71.
- 116. Sopasakis VR, Sandqvist M, Gustafson B et al. High local concentrations and effects on differentation implicate interleukin-6 as a paracrine regulator. Obes Res. 2004;12:454-60.
- 117. Le Lay S, Krief S, Farnier C et al. Cholesterol, a cell size-dependent signal that regulates glucose metabolism and gene expression in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:16904-10.
- 118. Weyer C, Foley JE, Bogardus C, Tataranni PA, Pratley RE. Enlarged subcutaneous abdominal adipocyte size, but not obesity itself, predicts type II diabetes independent of insulin resistance. Diabetologia. 2000;43:1498-1506.
- 119. Fantuzzi G. Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;115:911-9.
- Lago F, Dieguez C, Gomez-Reino J, Gualillo O. Adipokines as emerging mediators of immune response and inflammation. Nature Clinical Practice Rheum. 2007;3(12):716-24.
- 121. Lau DC, Dhillon B, Yan H, Szmitko PE, Verma S. Adipokines: molecular links between obesity and atherosclerosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;288:H2031-41.
- 122. Krauss RM: Lipids and lipoproteins in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1496-1504.
- 123. Diamant M, Lamb HJ, van de Ree MA et al. The association between abdominal visceral fat and carotid stiffness is mediated by circulating inflammatory markers in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90:1495-1501.
- 124. Hoene M, Weigert C. The role of interleukin-6 in insulin resistance, body fat distribution and energy balance. Obesity Reviews 2008;9:20-9.
- 125. Nishizawa H, Shimomura I, Kishida K et al. Androgens decrease plasma adiponectin, an insulin-sensitizing adipocyte-derived protein. Diabetes. 2002;51:2734-41.
- 126. Weyer C, Funahashi T, Tanaka S et al. Hypoadiponectinemia in obesity and type 2 diabetes: close association with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(5):1930-5.

- 127. Rathmann W, Haastert B, Herder C et al. Differential association of adiponectin with cardiovascular risk markers in men and women? The KORA survey 2000. Int J Obes(Lond). 2007;31(5):770-6.
- 128. Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature. 1994;372(6505):425-32.
- 129. Van Harmelen V, Reinisdottir S, Eriksson P et al. Leptin secretion from subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue in women. Diabetes. 1998;47:913-7.
- 130. Halaas JL. Gajiwala KS, Maffei M et al. Weight-reducing effects of the protein encoded by the obese gene. Science. 1995;269:543-6.
- Jessop DS. Central non-glucocorticoid inhibitors of the hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenal axis. J Endocrinol. 1999;160:169-180 (Review).
- 132. Peelma F, Waelput W, Iserentant H et al. Leptin:linking adipocyte metabolism with cardiovascular and autoimmune diseases. Prog Lipid Res. 2004;43:283-301.
- 133. Guerre-Millo M. Adiponectin: an update. Diabetes Metab. 2007;Dec 7: (Epub ahead of print)
- 134. Wallace AM, McMahon AD, Packard CJ et al. Plasma leptin and the risk of cardiovascular disease in the west of Scotland coronary prevention study (WOSCOPS). Circulation. 2001;104:3052-6.
- 135. Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. Br J Nutr. 2004;92:347-55.
- 136. Oda N, Imamura S, Fujita T et al. The ratio of leptin to adiponectin can be used as an index of insulin resistance. Metabolism. 2008;57(2):268-73.
- Viikari LA, Huupponen RK, Viikari JSA et al. Relationship between leptin and Creactive protein in young finnish adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:4753-8.
- 138. Franks PW, Brage S, Luan J et al. Leptin predicts a worsening of the features of the metabolic syndrome independently of obesity. Obesity Research. 2005;13:1476-84.
- 139. Steppan CM, Bailey ST, Bhat S et al. The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. Nature. 2001;409:307-12.
- 140. Reilly MP, Lehrke M, Wolfe ML, Rohatgi A, Lazar MA, Rader DJ. Resistin is an inflammatory marker of atherosclerosis in humans. Circulation. 2005;111:932-9.
- 141. McTernan CL, McTernan PG, Harte AL, Levick PL, Barnett AH, Kumar S. Resistin, central obesity, and type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 2002;359.46-7.
- 142. Fukuhara A, Matsuda M, Nishizawa M et al. Visfatin: a protein secreted by visceral fat that mimics the effect of insulin. Science. 2005;307:426-30.
- 143. Berndt J, Kloting N, Kralisch S et al. Plasma visfatin concentrations and fat depot-specific mRNA expression in humans. Diabetes. 2005;54(10):2911-6.

- 144. Kersaw EE, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:2548-56.
- 145. Mertens I, Van Gaal LF. New International Diabetes Federation (IDF) and National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP-ATP III) criteria and the involvement of hemostasis and fibrinolysis in the metabolic syndrome. J. Thromb. Haemost. 2006;4:1164-6.
- 146. Alessi M, Juhan-Vague I. PAI-1 levels and the metabolic syndrome: links, causes, and consequences. Arterioscler. Thromb.Vasc. Biol. 2006;26:200-7.
- 147. Tatemoto K, Hosoya M, Habata Y et al. Isolation and characterization of a novel endogenous peptide ligand for the human APJ receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1998;251:471-6.
- 148. Daviaud D, Boucher J, Gesta S et al. TNFalpha up-regulates apelin expression in human and mouse adipose tissue. FASEB J. 2006;20:1528-30.
- 149. Park CH, Valore EV, Waring AJ, Ganz T. Hepcidin, a urinary antimicrobial peptide synthesized in the liver. J Biol Chem. 2001;16:7806-10.
- 150. Fleming RE. Hepcidin activation during inflammation: make it STAT. Gastroenterology. 2007;132:447-9.
- 151. Hida K, Wada J, Eguchi J et al. Visceral adipose tissue-derived serine protease inhibitor: a unique insulin-sensitizing adipocytokine in obesity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:10610-5.
- 152. Youn B-S, Köting N, Kratzsch J et al. Serum vaspin concentrations in human obesity and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2008;57:372-7.
- 153. Dinarello CA. The role of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist in blocking inflammation mediated by interleukin-1. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:732-4.
- 154. Despres JP. Abdominal obesity: the most prevalent cause of the metabolic syndrome and related cardiometabolic risk. Eur Heart J. Suppl. 2006;8(suppl.B):B4-12.
- 155. Wassink AMJ, Olijhoek JK, Visseren FLJ. The metabolic syndrome:metabolic changes with vascular consequences. Eur J Clin Invest. 2007;37(1):8-17.
- 156. Kuller LH. Ethnic differences in atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease and lipid metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2004;15:109-13.
- 157. Groop L, Forsblom C, Lehtovirta M et al.Metabolic consequences of a family history of NIDDM (the Botnia study):evidence for sex-specific parental effects. Diabetes. 1996;45.1585-93.
- 158. Martin BC, Warran JH, Krolewski AS, Bergman RN, Soeldner JS, Kahn CR.Role of glucose and insulin resistance in development of type 2 diabetes mellitus:results of a 25-year follow-up study. Lancet. 1992;340:925-9.

- 159. Heldbald B, Nilsson P, Engström G, Berglund G, Janzon L. Insulin resistance in non-diabetic subjects is associated with increased incidence of myocardial infarction and death. Diabet Med. 2002;19:470-5.
- 160. Lakka HM, Lakka TA, Tuomilehto J, Sivenius J, Salonen JT. Hyperinsulinemia and the risk of cardiovascular death and acute coronary and cerebrovascular events in men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160:1160-8.
- 161. Folsom AR, Szklo M, Stevens J, Liao F, Smith R, Eckfeldt JH. A prospective study of coronary heart disease in relation to fasting insulin, glucose, and diabetes. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Diabetes Care. 1997;20:935-42.
- 162. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia. 1985;28:412-9.
- 163. The DECODE Insulin study group. Plasma insulin and cardiovascular mortality in non-diabetic European men and women: a meta-analysis of data from eleven prospective studies. Diabetologia. 2004;47:1245-56.
- 164. Ferrannini E, Balkau B. Insulin: in search of a syndrome. Diabet Med. 2002;19:724-9.
- 165. Katz A, Nambi SS, Mather K et al. Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index: a simple, accurate method for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85:2402-10.
- 166. Chen H, Sullivan G, Quon MJ. Assessing the predictive accuracy of QUICKI as a surrogate index for insulin sensitivity using a calibration model. Diabetes. 2005;54:1914-25.
- 167. Vanhala P, Vanhala M, Kumpusalo E, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S. The quantitative insulin sensitivity check index QUICKI predicts the onset of type 2 diabetes better than fasting plasma insulin in obese subjects: a 5-year follow up study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(12):5834-7.
- 168. Kahn CR, Flier JS, Bar RS et al. The syndromes of insulin resistance and acanthosis nigricans. Insulin-receptor disorders in man. N Engl J Med. 1976;294:739-45.
- 169. Lazar MA. The humoral side of insulin resistance. Nat Med. 2006;12(1):43-44.
- 170. Kershaw E, Flier J. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:2548-56.
- 171. Cai D, Yuan M, Frantz DF et al. Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. Nat Med. 2005;11:183-90.
- 172. Dandona P, Aljada A, Mohanty P et al. Insulin inhibits intranuclear factor kappaB and stimulates IkappaB in mononuclear cells in obese subjects: evidence for an anti-infalmmatory effect? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:3257-65.

- 173. Aljada A, Ghanim H, Mohanty P, Kapur N, Dandona P.Insulin inhibits the proinflammatory transcription factor early growth response gene-1(Egr)-1 expression in mononuclear cells (MNC) and reduces plasma tissue factor (TF) and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1(PAI-1) concentrations. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:1419-22.
- 174. Dandona P, Aljada A, Chaudhuri A, Mohanty P, Garg R. Metabolic syndrome. A comprehensive perspective based on interactions between obesity, diabetes, and inflammation. Circulation. 2005:111:1448-54.
- 175. Hotamisligil GS. Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase pathways in inflammation and origin of obesity and diabetes. Diabetes. 2005; 54(Suppl.2):S73-S78.
- 176. Chen X, Iqbal N, Boden G. The effects of free fatty acids on gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis in normal subjects. J Clin Invest. 1999;103:365-72.
- 177. Yki-Järvinen H. Glucose toxicity. Endocr Rev. 1992;13:415-31.
- 178. O'Rahilly SP, Nugent Z, Rudenski AS et al. Beta-cell dysfunction, rather than insulin insensitivity, is the primary defect in familial type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 1986;2:360-4.
- 179. Vauhkonen I, Niskanen L, Vanninen E, Kainulainen S, Uusitupa M, Laakso M. Defects in insulin secretion and insulin action in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus are inherited. Metabolic studies on offspring of diabetic probands. J Clin Invest. 1998;101:86-96.
- 180. Bartnik M, Ryden L, Ferrari R et al. The prevalence of abnormal glucose regulation in patients with coronary artery disease across Europe. The Euro Heart Survey on diabetes and the heart. Eur Heart J. 2004,25:1880-90.
- 181. Juutilainen A, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Type 2 diabetes as a "coronary heart disease equivalent". An 18-year prospective population-based study in Finnish subjects. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2901-7.
- 182. Air EL, Kissela BM. Diabetes, the metabolic syndrome, and ischemic stroke. Epidemiology and possible mechanisms. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:3131-40.
- 183. Rana JS, Nieuwdorp M, Jukema JW, Kastelein JJP. Cardiovascular metabolic syndrome - an interplay of obesity, inflammation, diabetes and coronary heart disease. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2007;9:218-32.
- 184. Lebovitz HE. Insulin resistance- a common link between type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2006;8:237-49.
- 185. Ginsberg HN, Huang LS. The insulin resistance syndrome:impact on lipoprotein metabolism and atherothrombosis. J Cardiovascular Risk. 2000;7:325-31.
- 186. Boden G, Shulman GI. Free fatty acids in obesity and type 2 diabetes:defining their role in the development of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction. Eur J Clin Invest. 2002;32 (Suppl.3):S14-S23.

- 187. Eckel RH, Yost TJ, Jensen DR. Alterations in lipoprotein lipase in insulin resistance. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1995;19(Suppl 1):S16-S21.
- 188. Matikainen N, Mänttäri S, Westerbacka J et al. Postprandial lipemia associates with liver fat content. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:3052-9.
- 189. Murakami T, Michelagnoli S, Longhi R et al. Triglycerides are major determinants of cholesterol esterification/transfer and HDL remodeling in human plasma. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995;15:1819-28.
- 190. Brinton EA, Eisenberg S, Breslow JL. Increased apo A-1 and apo A-II fractional catabolic rate in patients with low high density lipoprotein-cholesterol levels with or without hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest. 1991;87:536-44.
- 191. Manzato E, Zambon S, Zambon A, Cortella A, Sartore G, Crepaldi G. Levels and physicochemical properties of lipoprotein subclasses in moderate hypertriglyceridemia. Clin Chim Acta. 1993;219:57-65.
- Packard CJ. LDL subfractions and atherogenicity: an hypothesis from University of Glasgow. Curr Med Res Opin. 1996;13:379-90.
- 193. Sacks FM, Campos H. Low-density lipoprotein size and cardiovascular disease: a reappraisal. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:4525-32.
- 194. Welborn TA, Breckenridge A, Rubinstein AH, Dollery CT, Fraser TR. Seruminsulin in essential hypertension and in peripherial vascular disease. Lancet. 1966;1:1336-7.
- 195. Ferrannini E, Buzzigoli G, Bonadonna R et al.Insulin resistance in essential hypertension. N Engl J Med. 1987;317:350-7.
- 196. Pollare T, Lithell H, Berne C. Insulin resistance is a characteristic feature of primary hypertension independent of obesity. Metabolism. 1990;39:167-74.
- 197. Denker PS, Pollock VE. Fasting serum insulin levels in essential hypertension. A meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med. 1992;152:1649-51.
- 198. Haffner SM, Ferrannini E, Hazuda H, Stern M. Clustering of cardiovascular risk factors in confirmed prehypertensive individuals. Hypertension. 1992;20:38-45.
- 199. Skarfors ET, Lithell OH, Selinus I. Risk factors for the development of hypertension: a 10-year longitudinal study in middle-aged men. J Hypertens. 1991;9:217-23.
- 200. Lissner L, Bengtsson C, Lapidus L, Kristjansson K, Wedel H. Fasting insulin in relation to subsequent blood pressure changes and hypertension in women. Hypertension. 1992;20:797-801.
- 201. Steinberg HO, Chaker H, Leaming R, Johnson A, Brechtel G, Baron AD. Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction. Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance. J Clin Invest.1996;97:2601-10.
- 202. DeFronzo RA. The effect of insulin on renal sodium metabolism. A review with clinical implications. Diabetologia. 1981;21:165-71.

- 203. Landsberg L. Insulin-mediated sympathetic stimulation: role in the pathogenesis of obesity-related hypertension (or, how insulin affects blood pressure, and why). J Hypertens. 2001;19:523-8.
- 204. Moore RD. Effects of insulin upon ion transport. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1983;737:1-49.
- 205. Reynolds RM, Chapman KE, Seckl JR, Walker BR, McKeigue PM, Lithell HO. Skeletal muscle glucocorticoid receptor density and insulin resistance. JAMA. 2002;287:2505-6.
- 206. Fernandez-Rela JM, Ricart W. Insulin resistance and chronic cardiovascular inflammatory syndrome. Endocrine Reviews. 2003;24:278-301.
- 207. Nishida M, Funahashi T, Shimomura I. Pathophysiological significance of adiponectin. Med Mol Morphol. 2007;40:55-67.
- 208. Weidmann P, Böhlen L, deCourten M. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia in hypertension. J Hypertens. 1995;13:S65-S72.
- 209. Ebstein W. Zur therapie des diabetes mellitus, insbesondere über die anwendung des salicylsauren natron bei demselben. Berlin KlinWochenschrift. 1876;13:337-40.
- 210. Pickup JC, Crook MA. Is type II diabetes mellitus a disease of the innate immune system? Diabetologia. 1998;41:1241-8.
- 211. Tataranni PA, Ortega E. Does an adipokine-induced activation of the immune system mediate the effect of overnutrition on type 2 diabetes? Diabetes. 2005;54:917-27.
- 212. Duncan BB, Scmidt MI, Pankow JS et al. Low-grade systemic inflammation and the development of type 2 diabetes. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Diabetes. 2003;52:1799-1805.
- 213. Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N et al. Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin in obesity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;257:79-83.
- 214. Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T, Kubota N, Hara K, Ueki K, Tobe K. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors in insulin resistance, diabetes, and the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:1784-92.
- 215. Hu E, Liang P, Spiegelman PM. AdipoQ is a novel adipose-specific gene dysregulated in obesity. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:10697-703.
- 216. Maeda K, Okubo K, Shimomura I, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y, Matsubara K. cDNA cloning and expression of a novel adipose specific collagen-like factor,apM1(AdiPose Most abundant Gene transcript 1) Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1996;221:286-9.
- 217. Nakano Y, Tobe T, Choi-Miura NH, Mazda T, Tomita M. Isolation and characterization of GBP28, a novel gelatin-binding protein purified from human plasma. J Biochem (Tokyo). 1996;120:803-12.

- 218. Waki H, Yamauchi T, Kamon J et al. Impaired multimerization of human adiponectin mutants associated with diabetes: molecular structure and multimer formation of adiponectin. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:40352-63.
- 219. Hulthe J, Hulten LM, Fagerberg B. Low adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin concentrations are associated with the metabolic syndrome and small dense low-density liporotein particles:atherosclerosis and insulin resistance study. Metabolism. 2003; 52:1612-14.
- 220. Santaniemi M, Kesäniemi YA, Ukkola O. Low plasma adiponectin concentration is an indicator of the metabolic syndrome. European J of Endocrinol. 2006;155:745-50.
- 221. Hotta K, Funahashi T, Arita Y, et al. Plasma concentrations of a novel, adiposespecific protein, adiponectin, in type 2 diabetic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20:1595-99.
- 222. Kumada M, Kihara S, Sumitsuji S et al. Association of hypoadiponectinemia with coronary artery disease in men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;1:85-9.
- 223. Pischon T, Rimm EB. Adiponectin : a promising marker for cardiovascular disease.Clin Chem. 2006;52:797-99
- 224. Yamamoto Y, Hirose S, Saito I, Nishikai K, Saruta T. Adiponectin, an adipocytederived protein, predicts future insulin resistance: two-year follow-up study in Japanese population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004; 89:87-90.
- 225. Snehalatha C, Mukesh B, Simon M, Viswanathan V, Haffner SM, Ramachandran A. Plasma adiponectin is an independent predictor of type 2 diabetes in Asian indians. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:3226-29.
- 226. Retnakaran R, Hanley A, Zinman B. Does hypoadiponectinemia explain the increased risk of diabetes and cardiovascular disease in South Asians? Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1950-4.
- 227. Adamczak M, Wiecek A, Fuhashi T, Chudek J, Kokot F, Matsuzawa Y. Decreased plasma adiponectin concentration in patients with essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens.2003;16:72-75.
- 228. Pischon T, Girman CJ, Hotamisligil GS, Rifai N, Hu FB, Rimm EB. Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. JAMA. 2004;291:1730-7.
- 229. Lindsay RS, Funahashi T, Hanson RL et al. Adiponectin and development of type 2 diabetes in the Pima Indian population. Lancet. 2002;360:57-8.
- 230. Snijder MB, Heine RJ, Seidell JC et al. Associations of adiponectin levels with incident impaired glucose metabolism and type 2 diabetes in older men and women. The Hoorn Study. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2498-2503.
- 231. Koshimura J, Fujita H, Narita T et al.Urinary adiponectin excretion is increased in patients with overt diabetic nephropathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004; 316:165-9.

- 232. Kadowaki T, Yamauchi T. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. Endocrine Reviews.2005;26:439-51.
- 233. Yu JG, Javorschi S, Hevener AL et al. The effect of thiazolidinediones on plasma adiponectin levels in normal, obese, and type 2 diabetic subjects. Diabetes. 2002;51:2968-74.
- 234. Furuhashi M,Ura N, Higashiura K et al.Blockade of the renin-angiotensin system increases adiponectin concentrations in patients with essential hypertension. Hypertension. 2003;42:76-81.
- 235. Koh KK, Quon MJ, Han SH et al. Vascular and metabolic effects of combined therapy with ramipril and simvastatin in patients with type 2 diabetes. Hypertension. 2005;45:1088-93.
- 236. Yang WS, Lee WJ, Funahashi T et al. Weight reduction increases plasma levels of an adipose-derived anti-inflammatory protein, adiponectin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:3815-9.
- 237. Swarbrick MM, Austrheim-Smith IT, Stanhope KL et al. Circulating concentrations of high-molecular adiponectin are increased following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Diabetologia.2006;49:2552-8.
- 238. Nagasawa A, Fukui K, Funahashi T et al. Effects of soy protein diet on the expression of adipose genes and plasma adiponectin. Horm Metab Res.2002;34:635-9.
- Flachs P, Mohamed-Ali V, Horakova O et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids of marine origin induce adiponectin in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetologia. 2006;49:394-7.
- 240. Blüher M, Williams CJ, Klöting N et al. Gene expression of adiponectin receptors in human visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue is related to insulin resistance and metabolic parameters and is altered in response to physical training. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:3110-15.
- 241. Brooks NL, Moore KS, Clark RD, Perfetti MT, Trent CM, Combs TP. Do low levels of circulating adiponectin represent a biomarker or just another risk for the metabolic syndrome? Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolism. 2007;9:246-58.
- 242. Löfström G. Comparison between the reaction of acute phase serum with pneumococcus C-polysaccharide and with pneumococcus type 27. Br J Exp Pathol. 1944;25:21-6.
- 243. de Beer FC, Hind CR, Fox KM, Allan RM, Maseri A, Pepys BM. Measurement of serum C-reactive protein concentrations in myocardial ischaemia and infarction. Br Heart J. 1982;47:239-43.
- 244. Scirica B, Morrow DA. Is C-reactive protein an innocent bystander or proatherogenic culprit? Circulation. 2006;113:2128-51.
- 245. Ridker PM, Cushman M, Stampfer MJ, Tracy RP, Hennekens CH. Inflammation, aspirin, and the risk of cardiovascular disease in apparently healthy men. N Engl J Med. 1997;336:973-9.

- 246. Ridker PM, Rifai N, Rose L, Buring JE, Cook NR. Comparison of C-reactive protein and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in the prediction of first cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:1557-65.
- 247. Schulze MB, Rimm EB, Li T, Rifai N, Stampfer MJ, Hu FB.C-reactive protein and incident cardiovascular event among men with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:889-94.
- 248. Malik S, Wong ND, Franklin S, Pio J, Fairchild C, Chen R. Cardiovascular disease in U.S. patients with metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and elevated C-reactive protein. Diabetes Care. 2005; 28:690-3.
- 249. Rutter MK, Meigs JB, Sullivan LM, D'Agostino RB, Wilson PWF. C-reactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and prediction of cardiovascular events in the Framingham Offspring Study. Circulation. 2004;110:380-5.
- 250. Greenfield JR, Samaras K, Jenkins AB et al. Obesity is an important determinant of baseline serum C-reactive protein concentration in monozygotic twins, independent of genetic influences. Circulation. 2004;109:3022-8.
- 251. Visser M, Bouter LM, McQuillan GM, Wener MH, Harris TB. Elevated C-reactive protein levels in overweight and obsese adults. JAMA. 1999;282:2131-5.
- 252. Hirsso PK, Timonen MJ, Jokelainen JJ et al. Association between high-sensitivity measurement of C-reactive protein and metabolic syndrome by International Diabetes Federation, National Cholesterol Education Program and World Health Organization criteria in a population-based cohort of 55-year-old Finnish individuals. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2177-8.
- 253. Santos AS, Lopes C, Guimaraes JT, Barros H. Central obesity as a major determinant of increased high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in metabolic syndrome. Int J Obes (Lond). 2005;29:1452-6.
- 254. Kahn SE, Zinman B, Haffner SM et al and the ADOPT Study Group. Obesity is a major determinant of the association of C-reactive protein levels and the metabolic syndrome in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2006;55:2357-64.
- 255. Fröhlich M, Imhof A, Berg G et al. Association between C-reactive protein and features of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care. 2000;23:1835-9.
- 256. Hassinen M, Lakka TA, Komulainen P, Gylling H, Nissinen A, Rauramaa R. Creactive protein and metabolic syndrome in elderly women. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:931-2.
- 257. Oda E, Oohara K, Abe A et al. The optimal cut-off point of C-reactive protein as an optimal component of metabolic syndrome in Japan. Circ J. 2006;70:384-8.
- 258. Nakanishi N, Shiraishi T, Wada M. Association between C-reactive protein and insulin resistance in a Japanese population. The Minoh Study. Internal Med. 2005;44:542-7.
- 259. McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Lamendola C et al. Differentation between obesity and insulin resistance in the association with C-reactive protein. Circulation. 2002;106:2908-12.

- 260. Nakanishi N, Shiraishi T, Wada M. Association between fasting glucose and Creactive protein in a Japanese population. The Minoh Study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005;69:88-98.
- 261. Festa A, D'Agostino Jr R, Tracy RP, Haffner SM. C-reactive protein is more strongly related to post-glucose load glucose than to fasting glucose in non-diabetic subjects; the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. Diabet. Med. 2002;19:939-43.
- 262. Pradhan AD, Mansson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Ridker PM. C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA. 2001;286:327-34.
- 263. Freeman DJ, Norrie J, Caslake MJ et al. C-reactive protein is an independent predictor of risk for the development of diabetes in the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study. Diabetes. 2002;51:1596-1600.
- 264. Doi Y, Kiyohara Y, Kubo M et al. Elevated C-reactive protein is a predictor of the development of diabetes in a general Japanese population. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2497-2500.
- 265. Ridker PM. C-reactive protein, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. Curr Iss in Cardiol. 2005,32:384-6.
- 266. Timpson NJ, Lawlor DA, Harbord RM et al. C-reactive protein and its role in metabolic syndrome: mendelian randomisation study. Lancet. 2005;366:1954-9.
- Behre CJ, Fagerberg B, Hulten LM, Hulthe J. The reciprocal association of adipocytokines with insulin resistance and C-reactive protein in clinically healthy men. Metabolism. 2005;54:439-44.
- 268. Ouchi N, Kihara S, Funahashi T et al. Reciprocal association of C-reactive protein with adiponectin in blood stream and adipose tissue. Circulation. 2003;107:671-4.
- 269. Herder C, Hauner H, Haastert B et al. Hypoadiponectinemia and proinflammatory state: Two sides of the same coin? Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1626-31.
- 270. Dinarello CA. Interleukin-1 and interleukin-1 antagonism. Blood. 1991;77:1627-52.
- 271. Hurme M, Santtila S. IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1 Ra) plasma levels are coordinately regulated by both IL-1 Ra and IL-1beta genes. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28:2598-2602.
- 272. Arend WP, Gabay C. Physiologic role of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Arthritis Res. 2000;2:245-8.
- 273. Juge-Aubry CE, Somm E, Giusti V et al. Adipose tissue is a major source of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: upregulation in obesity and inflammation. Diabetes. 2003;52:1104-10.
- 274. Meier CA, Bobbioni E, Gabay C, Assimacopoulos-Jeannet F, Golay A, Dayer JM. IL-1 receptor antagonist serum levels are increased in human obesity: a possible link to the resistance to leptin?. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:1184-8.

- 275. Somm E, Cettour-Rose P, Asensio C et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist is upregulated during diet induced obesity and regulates insulin sensitivity in rodents. Diabetologia. 2006;49:387-93.
- 276. Salmenniemi U, Ruotsalainen E, Pihlajamäki J et al. Multiple abnormalities in glucose and energy metabolism and coordinated changes in levels of adioponectin, cytokines, and adhesion molecules in subjects with metabolic syndrome. Circulation. 2004;110:3842-8.
- 277. Ruotsalainen E, Salmenniemi U, Vauhkonen I et al. Changes in inflammatory cytokines are related to impaired glucose tolerance in offspring of type 2 diabetic subjects. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2714-20.
- 278. Maedler K, Sergeev P, Ehses JA et al. Leptin modulates beta cell expression of IL-1 receptor antagonist and release of IL-1beta in human islets. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004;101:8138-43.
- 279. Patti G, D'Ambrosio A, Dobrina A et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist: a sensitive marker of instability in patients with coronary disease. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2002;14:139-43.
- Patti G, Mega S, Pasceri V et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist levels correlate with extent of myocardial loss in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Clin Cardiol. 2005;28:193-6.
- 281. Marculescu R, Endler G, Schillinger M et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist genotype is associated with coronary atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2002;51:3582-5.
- 282. Larsen CM, Faulenbach M, Vaag A et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 2007;356:1517-26.
- 283. Eckel RH. Mechanisms of the components of the metabolic syndrome that predispose to diabetes and atherosclerotic CVD. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society.2007;66:82-95.
- Eliasson B, Attvall S, Taskinen MR, Smith U. The insulin resistance syndrome in smokers is related to smoking habits. Arterioscler and Thromb. 1994;14:1946-50.
- 285. Lakka TA, Laaksonen DE, Lakka HM et al. Sedentary lifestyle, poor cardiorespiratory fitness, and the metabolic syndrome. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise. 2003;35:1279-86.
- 286. Nieuwdorp M, Stroes ES, Meijers JC, Buller H. Hypercoagulability in the metabolic syndrome. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2005;5:155-59.
- 287. Raynaud E, Perez-Martin A, Brun J, Aissa-Benhaddad A, Fedou C, Mercier J. Relationship between fibrinogen and insulin resistance. Atherosclerosis. 2000;150:365-70.
- 288. Aso Y, Wakabayashi S, Yamamoto R, Matsutomo R, Takebayashi K, Inukai T. Metabolic syndrome accompanied by hypercholesterolemia is strongly associated with proinflammatory state and impairment of fibrinolysis in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2211-6.

- 289. Anand SS, Yi Q, Gerstein H et al. Relationship of metabolic syndrome and fibrinolytic dysfunction to cardiovascular disease. Circulation. 2003;108:420-5.
- 290. Mavri A, Alessi MC, Juhan-Vague I. Hypofibrinolysis in the insulin resistance syndrome: implication in cardiovascular diseases. J Intern Med. 2004;255:448-56.
- 291. Wannamethee SG, Lowe GD, Shaper AG, Rumley A, Lennon L,Whincup PH. The metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance: relationship to haemostatic and inflammatory markers in older non-diabetic men. Atherosclerosis. 2005;181:101-8.
- 292. Barbieri M, Ragno E, Benvenuti E et al. New aspects of the insulin resistance syndrome:impact on haematological parameters. Diabetologia. 2001;44:1232-7.
- 293. Trovati M, Mularoni EM, Burzacca S et al. Impaired insulin-induced platelet antiaggregating effect in obesity and in obese NIDDM patients. Diabetes. 1995;44:1318-22.
- 294. Modan A, Halkin H, Karasik A, Lusky A. Elevated serum uric acid: a facet of hyperinsulinemia. Diabetologia. 1987;30:713-8.
- 295. Facchini F, Chen YD, Hollenbeck CB, Reaven GM. Relationship between resistance to insulin-mediated glucose uptake, urinary acid clearence, and plasma uric acid concentration. JAMA. 1991;266:3008-11.
- 296. Vuorinen-Markkola H, Yki-Järvinen H. Hyperuricemia and insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1994;78:25-29.
- 297. Niskanen L, Laaksonen DE, Lindström J et al. Serum uric acid as a harbinger of metabolic outcome in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. The Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:709-11.
- 298. Denghan A, van Hoek M, Sijbrands EJ, Hofman A, Witteman JCM. High serum uric acid as a novel risk factor for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:361-2.
- 299. Yki-Järvinen H. Insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;17:411-30.
- 300. Levin ER. Mechanism of disease: endothelins. N Engl J Med. 1990;323:27-36.
- 301. Saltevo J, Puolakka J, Ylikorkala O. Plasma endothelin in postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome: a comparison of oral combined and transdermal oestrogen-only replacement therapy. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2000;2:293-8.
- 302. Schachinger V, Britten MB, Zeiher AM. Prognostic impact of coronary vasodilator dysfunction on adverse long-term outcome of coronary heart disease. Circulation. 2000;101:1899-1906.
- 303. Thorand B, Baumert J, Chambless L et al. Elevated markers of endothelial dysfunction predict type 2 diabetes mellitus in middle-aged men and women from the general population. Arterioscler Thromb Vas Biol. 2006;26:398-405.

- 304. Ziccardi P, Nappo F, Giugliano G et al. Reduction of inflammatory cytokine concentrations and improvement of endothelial functions in obese women after weight loss over one year. Circulation. 2002;105:804-9.
- 305. Ruotsalainen E, Vauhkonen I, Salmenniemi U et al. Markers of endothelial dysfunction and low-grade infalmmation are associated in the offspring of type 2 diabetic subjects. Atherosclerosis. 2008; 197:271-7.
- 306. Pinkney JH, Stehouwer CDA, Coppack SW, Yudkin JS. Endothelial dysfunction: cause of the insulin resistance syndrome. Diabetes.1997;46:Suppl.2:S9-S13.
- 307. Mogensen CE, Christensen CK. Predicting diabetic nephropathy in insulindependent patients. N Engl J Med. 1984;311.89-93.
- 308. Valmadrid CT, Klein R, Moss SE, Klein BE. The risk of cardiovascular disease mortality associated with microalbuminuria and gross proteinuria in persons with older-onset diabetes mellitus. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160:1093-100.
- Yudkin JS, Forrest RD, Jackson CA. Microalbuminuria as predictor of vascular disease in non-diabetic subjects. Islington Diabetes Survey. Lancet. 1988:2:530-3.
- 310. Jensen JS, Borch-Johnsen K, Jensen G, Feldt-Rasmussen B. Atherosclerotic risk factors are increased in clinically healthy subjects with microalbuminuria. Atherosclerosis. 1995;112:245-52.
- 311. Lin CC, Liu CS, Li TC, Chen CC, Li CI, Lin WY. Microalbuminuria and the metabolic syndrome and its components in the Chinese population. Eur J Clin Invest. 2007;37:783-90.
- 312. Dunaif A, Segal K, Futterweit W, Dobrjansky A. Profound peripherial insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in polycystic ovary syndrome. Diabetes. 1989; 38:1165-72.
- 313. Dunaif A. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovarian syndrome: mechanisms and implications for pathogenesis. Endocr Rev. 1997;18:774-800.
- 314. Korhonen S, Hippeläinen M, Niskanen L, Vanhala M, Saarikoski S. Relationship of the metabolic syndrome and obesity to polycystic ovary syndrome: A controlled, population- based study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001;184:289-96.
- 315. Willis T. Diabetes: A Medical Odyssey. New York, Tuckahoe, 1971.
- McIntyre RS, Soczynska JK, Konarski JZ et al. Should depressive syndromes be reclassified as " Metabolic syndrome type II "? Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2007;19:257-64.
- 317. Vaccarino V, McClure C, Johnson BD et al. Depression, the metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk. Psychosom med. 2008;70:40-8.
- 318. Koponen H, Jokelainen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Kumpusalo E, Vanhala M. Metabolic syndrome predisposes to depressive symptoms: a population-based 7year follow-up study. J Clin Psychiatry. 2008; 69:178-82.

- 319. Rubin RR, Ma Y, Marrero DG et al. Elevated depression symptoms, antidepressant medicine use, and risk of developing diabetes during the Diabetes Prevention Program. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:420-6.
- 320. Salmenniemi U. Metabolic and genetic abnormalities clustering with intraabdominal obesity.Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences 381. 2006.
- 321. Neel JV. Diabetes mellitus. A "thrifty" genotype rendered detrimental by "progress"? Am J Hum Genet. 1962;14:353-62.
- 322. Suh JM, Zeve D, McKay R et al. Adipose is a conserved dosage-sensitive antiobesity gene. Cell Metab. 2007;6:195-203.
- 323. Resnick HE, Valsania P, Halter JB, Lin X. Differential effects of BMI on diabetes risk among black and white Americans. Diabetes Care. 1998,21:1828-35.
- 324. Gulli G, Ferrannini E, Stern M, Haffner S, DeFronzo RA. The metabolic profile of NIDDM is fully established in glucose-tolerant offspring of two Mexican-American NIDDM parents. Diabetes. 1992;41:1575-86.
- 325. Bouchard C. Genetics and the metabolic syndrome. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disorder. 1995;19 (Suppl. 1):S52-9.
- 326. Carmelli D, Cardon LR, Fabsitz. Clustering of hypertension, diabetes, and obesity in adult male twins: same genes or same environments? Am J Hum Genet. 1994;55:566-73.
- 327. Maes HH, Neale MC, Eaves LJ. Genetic and environmental factors in relative body weight and human adiposity. Behav Genet. 1997;27:325-51.
- 328. Lyon HN, Hirschhorn JN. Genetics of common forms of obesity: a brief overview. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;82:215S-217S.
- 329. Samaras K, Spector TD, Nguen TV, Baan K, Campbell LV, Kelly PJ. Independent genetic factors determine the amount and distribution of fat in women after the menopause. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:781-5.
- 330. Bouchard C, Perusse L. Genetics of causes and manifestations of the metabolic syndrome. In: G Crepaldi, ed. 6th European Symposium on metabolism: the plurimetabolic syndrome; Padova. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishers;1994.
- Forsblom CM, Kanninen T, Lehtovirta M, Saloranta C, Groop LC. Heritability of albumin excretion rate in families of patients with type II diabetes. Diabetologia. 1999;42:1359-66.
- 332. Groop L.Genetics of the metabolic syndrome. Br J Nutr. 2000;83 suppl 1:S39-S48.
- 333. Groop L, Orho-Melander M. The dysmetabolic syndrome. J Intern Med. 2001;250:105-20.
- 334. Ukkola O, Bouchard C. Clustering of metabolic abnormalities in obese individuals: the role of genetic factors. Ann Med. 2001;33:79-90.

- 335. Vionnet N, Hani E-H, Dupont S et al. Genomewide search for type 2 diabetessusceptibility genes in French whites: evidence for a novel susceptibility locus for early onset diabetes on chromosome 3q27-qter. Am J Hum Genet. 2000;67:1470-80.
- 336. Hara K, Boutin P, Mori Y et al. Genetic variation in the gene encoding adiponectin is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes in the Japanese population. Diabetes. 2002;51:536-40.
- 337. Schwarz P, Towers G, Fischer S et al. Hypoadiponectinemia is associated with progression toward type 2 diabetes and genetic variation in the ADIPO∂ gene promoter. Diabetes Care.2006;29:1645-50.
- 338. Hurme M, Kivimäki M, Pertovaara M et al. CRP gene is involved in the regulation of human longevity: a follow-up study in Finnish nonagerians. Mech Ageing Dev. 2007;128:574-6.
- 339. Yuan G, Chen X, Ma Q et al. C-reactive protein inhibits adiponectin gene expression and secretion in 3T3-Li adipocytes. J Endocrinol. 2007;194:275-81.
- 340. Farooqi IS, O'Rahilly S. Genetic factors in human obesity. Obesity Reviews. 2007;8 (Suppl 1): 37-40.
- 341. Wilmore JH, Despres JP, Stanforth PR et al. Alterations in body weight and composition consequent to 20 wk of endurance training: the HERITAGE Family Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999;70:346-52.
- 342. Rankinen T,Gagnon J, Perusse L et al.AGT M235T and ACE ID polymorphisms and exercise blood pressure in the HERITAGE Family Study. Am J Physiol: Heart Circ Physiol. 2000;279:H368-74.
- 343. Kilpeläinen T, Lakka T, Laaksonen D et al. Interaction of single nucleotide polymorphisms in ADRB2, ADRB3, TNF, IL6, IGF1R, LIPC, LEPR, and GHRL with physical activity on the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and changes in characteristics of the metabolic syndrome: The Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Metabolism. 2008;57:428-36.
- 344. Bordone L, Guarente L. Calorie restriction, SIRT1 and metabolism: understanding longevity. Nat Rev Moll Cell Biol. 2005;6:298-305.
- 345. Guarente L. Sirtuins as potential targets for metabolic syndrome. Nature. 2006;444:868-74.
- 346. Franco M, Ordunez P, Caballero B et al. Impact of energy intake, physical activity, and population-wide weight loss on cardiovascular diseases and diabetes mortality in Cuba, 1980-2005.Am J Epidemiol. 2007;166:1374-80.
- 347. Zhu S, St-Onge MP, Heshka S, Heymsfield SB. Lifestyle behaviors associated with lower risk of having the metabolic syndrome. Metabolism. 2004;53:1503-11.
- 348. Tuomilehto J, Lindstöm J, Eriksson JG et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifesyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:1343-50.

- 349. The Diabetes Prevention Programm Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:393-404.
- 350. Ilanne-Parikka P, Eriksson JG, Lindström J et al. Effect of lifestyle intervention on the occurrence of metabolic syndrome and its components in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Diabetes Care. 2008; 31:805-7.
- 351. Laaksonen DE, Lindström J, Lakka TA et al. Physical activity in the prevention of type 2 diabetes. The Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Diabetes. 2005;54:158-65.
- 352. Laaksonen DE, Lakka HM, Salonen JT, Niskanen LK, Rauramaa R, Lakka TA. Low levels of leisure-time physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness predict development of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1612-8.
- 353. Jeon CY, Lokken RP, Hu FB, van Dam R. Physical activity of moderate intensity and risk of type 2 diabetes. A systematic review. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:744-52.
- 354. Healy GN, Wijndaele K, Dunstran DW et al. Objectively measured sedentary time, physical activity, and metabolic syndrome. The AUSDIAB study.Diabetes Care. 2008;31:369-71.
- 355. Orchard TJ, Temprosa M, Goldberg R et al. The effect of metformin and intensive lifestyle intervention on the metabolic syndrome: The Diabetes Prevention Program Randomized Trial. Ann Intern Med. 2005;142:611-9.
- 356. Petersen AM, Pedersen BK. The anti-inflammatory effect of exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2005;98:1154-62.
- 357. Herder C, Peltonen M, Koenig W et al. Systemic immune mediators and lifestyle changes in the prevention of type 2 diabetes.Results from the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Diabetes. 2006;55:2340-6.
- 358. Lakka TA, Lakka HM, Rankinen T et al. Effect of exercise training on plasma levels of C-reactive protein in healthy adults: the HERITAGE Family Study. European Heart Journal. 2005;26:2018-25.
- 359. Boudou P, Sobngwi E, Mauvais-Jarvis F, Vexiau P, Gautier J-F. Absence of exercise-induced variations in adiponectin levels despite decreased abdominal adiposity and improved insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic men.Eur J of Endocrinol. 2003,149.421-4.
- 360. Mohanty P, Daoud N, Ghanim H et al. Absence of oxidative stress and inflammation following the intake of a 900 kcalorie meal rich in fruit and fiber. Diabetes. 2004;53:A405.
- 361. Blackburn P, Despres JP, Lamarche B et al. Postprandial variations of plasma inflammatory markers in abdominally obese men. Obesity. 2006;14:1747-54.
- 362. Pischon T, Girman CJ, Rifai N, Hotamisligil GS, Rimm EB. Association between dietary factors and plasma adiponectin concentrations in men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81:780-6.

- 363. Selvin E, Paynter NP, Erlinger TP. The effect of weight loss on C-reactive protein. A systematic review. Arch Intern Med. 2007;167:31-39.
- 364. Tortosa A, Bes-Rastrillo M, Sanchez-Villegas A, Basterra-Gortari FJ, Nunez-Cordoba JM, Martinez-Gonzalez MA. Mediterranean diet inversely associated with the incidence of metabolic syndrome. The SUN prospective cohort. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:2957-9.
- 365. Barrett-Connor E, Khaw KT. Cigarette smoking and increased central adiposity. Ann Intern Med. 1989;111:783-7.
- 366. Niskanen L, Laaksonen DE, Nyyssönen K et al. Inflammation, abdominal obesity, and smoking as predictors of hypertension. Hypertension. 2004;44:859-65.
- 367. Willi C, Bodenmann P, Ghali WA, Faris PD, Cornuz J. Active smoking and the risk of type 2 diabetes. A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2007;298:2654-64.
- 368. Gaziano JM, Buring JE, Breslow JL et al. Moderate alcohol intake, increased levels of high-density lipoprotein and its subfractions, and decreased risk of myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 1993;329:1829-34.
- 369. Davies MJ,Baer DJ, Judd JT, Brown ED, Campbell WS, Taylor PR. Effects of moderate alcohol intake on fasting insulin and glucose concentrations and insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women. A randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;287:2559-62.
- 370. Sierksma A, Patel H, Ouchi N et al. Effect of moderate alcohol consumption on adiponectin, tumor necrosis factor- α, and insulin sensitivity.Diabetes Care. 2004;27:184-9.
- 371. Beulens JW, van Loon LJC, Kok FJ et al. The effect of moderate alcohol consumption on adiponectin oligomers and muscle oxidative capacity: a human intervention study. Diabetologia. 2007;50:1388-92.
- 372. Ögge LE, Brohall G, Behre CJ, Schmidt C, Fagerberg B. Alcohol consumption in relation to metabolic regulation, inflammation, and adiponectin in 64-year-old caucasian women. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:908-13.
- 373. Gigleux I, Gagnon J, St-Pierre A et al. Moderate alcohol consumption is more cardioprotective in men with metabolic syndrome. J Nutr. 2006;136:3027-32.
- 374. van Dam RM, Willett WC, Manson JAE, Hu FB. Coffee, caffeine, and risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:398-403.
- 375. Tuomilehto J, Hu G, Bidel S, Lindström J, Jousilahti P. Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus among middle-aged Finnish men and women. JAMA. 2004;291:1213-9.
- 376. Smith B, Wingard DL, Smith TC, Kritz-Silverstein D, Barrett-Connor E. Does coffee consumption reduce the risk of type 2 diabetes in individuals with impaired glucose? Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2385-90.

- 377. Williams CJ, Fargnoli JL, Hwang JJ et al. Coffee consumption is associated with higher plasma adiponectin concentrations in women with or without type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:504-7.
- 378. He K, Liu K, Daviglus ML et al. Magnesium intake and incidence of metabolic syndrome among young adults. Circulation. 2006;113:1675-82.
- 379. Vari IS, Balkau B, Kettaneh A et al. Ferritin and transferrin are associated with metabolic syndrome abnormalities and their change over time in a general population. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1795-1801.
- Spiegel K, Knutson K, Leproult R, Tasali E, Cauter EV. Sleep loss: a novel risk factor for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. J Appl Physiol 2005;99:2008-19.
- 381. Tuomilehto H, Peltonen M, Partinen M et al. Sleep duration is associated with an increased risk for the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in middle-aged women: the FIN-D2D survey. Sleep Med. 2008; 9:221-7.
- 382. Chaput JP, Despres JP, Bouchard C, Tremblay A. Association of sleep duration with type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetologia. 2007;50:2298-2304.
- 383. Räikkönen K, Matthews KA, Kuller LH. Depressive symptons and stressfull life events predict metabolic syndrome among middle-aged women. A comparison of WHO, Adult Treatment Panel III and IDF definitions. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:872-7.
- 384. Wamala SP, Wolk A, Orth-Gomer K. Determinants of obesity in relation to sosioeconomic status among middle-aged Swedish women. Prev Med. 1997;26:734-44.
- 385. Lee DH, Lee IK, Jin SH, Steffes M, Jacobs DR. Association between serum concentrations of persistent organic pollutants and insulin resistance among nondiabetic adults. Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2002. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:622-8.
- 386. Alberti KGMM, Zimmet P, Shaw J. International Diabetes Federation: a consensus on type 2 diabetes prevention. Diabet. Med. 2007;24:451-63.
- 387. Saaristo T, Peltonen M, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S et al for the FIN-D2D Study Group. National type 2 diabetes prevention programme in Finland: FIN-D2D Int J Circumpolar Health. 2007;66:101-12.
- 388. Hu G, Qiao Q, Tuomilehto J et al. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in non-diabetic European men and women. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164:1066-76.
- 389. Chobian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR et al. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure. Hypertension. 2003;42:1206-52.
- 390. Ballantyne CM, Olsson AG, Cook TJ, Mercuri MC, Pedersen TR, Kjekshus. Influence of low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and elevated triglyceride on coronary heart disease events and response to simvastatin therapy in 4S. Circulation. 2001;104:3046-51.

- 391. Pyörälä K, Ballantyne CM, Gumbiner B et al. Reduction of cardiovascular events by simvastatin in nondiabetic coronary heart disease patients with and without the metabolic syndrome: subgroup analyses of the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1735-40.
- 392. Colwell JA. Antiplatelet agents for the prevention of cardiovascular diseases in diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiovasc. Drugs. 2004;4:87-106.
- 393. Despres JP, Lemieux I, Almeras N. Contribution of CB1 blockade to the management of high risk abdominal obesity. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006;30 Suppl 1:S44-52.
- 394. Christensen R, Kristensen PK, Bartels EM, Bliddal H, Astrup A. Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2007;370:1706-13.
- 395. Van Gaal L, Pi-Sunyer X, Despres JP, McCarthy C, Scheen A. Efficacy and safety of rimonabant for improvement of multiple cardiometabolic risk factors in overweight/obese patients. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(suppl 2);S229-S240.
- 396. Jialal I, Stein D, Balis D, Grundy SM, Adams-Huet B, Devaraj S. Effect of hydroxymethyl glutaryl coenzymeA reductase inhibitor therapy on high sensitive C-reactive protein levels. Circulation. 2001;103:1933-35.
- 397. Ridker PM, Cannon CP, Morrow D et al. C-reactive protein levels and outcomes after statin therapy. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:20-8.
- 398. Haffner SM, Greenberg AS, Weston WM, Chen H, Williams K, Freed MI. Effect of rosiglitazone treatment on nontraditional markers of cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2002;106:679-84.
- 399. Wyne KL. The metabolic syndrome: evolving evidence that thiazolidinediones provide rational therapy. Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolism. 2006;8:365-80.
- 400. Diamond G, Bax L, Kaul S. Uncertain effects of rosiglitazone on the risk for myocardial infarction and cardiovascular death. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147:578-81.
- 401. Bernstein LE, Berry J, Kim S, Canavan B, Grinspoon SK. Effects of etanercept in patients with the metabolic syndrome. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166:902-8.
- 402. Chandran M, Phillips SA, Ciaraldi T, Henry RR. Adiponectin: more than just another fat cell hormone? Diabetes Care. 2003;26:2442-50.
- 403. Barker DJ. Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. BMJ. 1995;311:171-4.
- 404. Eriksson JG. The fetal origins hypothesis-10 years on. BMJ. 2005;330:1096-7.
- 405. Barker DJP, Gluckman PD, Godfrey KM, Harding JE, Owen JA, Robinson JS. Fetal nutrition and cardiovascular disease in adult life. Lancet. 1993:341:938-41.
- 406. Rich-Edwards JW, Kleinman K, Michels KB et al. Longitudinal study of birth weight and adult body mass index in predicting risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in women. BMJ. 2005;330:115-8.

- 407. Eriksson JG, Osmond C, Kajantie E, Forsen TJ, Barker DJP. Patterns of growth among children who later develop type 2 diabetes or its risk factors. Diabetologia. 2006;49:2853-8.
- 408. Barker DJP, Osmond C, Forsen TJ, Kajantie E, Eriksson JG. Trajectories of growth among children who have coronary events as adults. N Engl J Med. 2005;353;1802-9.
- 409. Gamborg M, Byberg L, Rasmussen F et al. Birth weight and systolic blood pressure in adolescence and adulthood: meta-regression analysis of sex- and age-specific results from 20 Nordic studies. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;166:634-45.
- 410. Eriksson JG, Forsen TJ, Kajantie E, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Childhood growth and hypertension in later life. Hypertension. 2007;49:1415-21.
- 411. Osmond C, Kajantie E, Forsen TJ, Eriksson JG, Barker DJP. Infant growth and stroke in adult life: the Helsinki Birth cohort study. Stroke. 2007;38:264-70.
- 412. Lowell BB, Shulman GI. Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. Science. 2005;307:384-7.
- 413. Remacle C, Dumortier O, Bol V et al. Intrauterine programming of the endocrine pancreas. Diabetes, Obesity, and Metabolism. 2007;(Suppl 2):196-209.
- 414. Grunnet L, Vielwerth S, Vaag A, Poulsen P. Birth weight is nongenetically associated with glucose intolerance in elderly twins, independent of adult obesity. J Intern Med. 2007;262:96-103.
- 415. Vanhala M. Childhood weight and metabolic syndrome in adults. Ann Med. 1999;31:236-9.
- 416. Vanhala MJ, Vanhala PT, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi SM, Kumpusalo E, Takala JK. Relative weight gain and obesity as a child predict metabolic syndrome as an adult. Int J Obesity. 1999;23:656-9.
- 417. Vanhala M, Vanhala P, Kumpusalo E, Halonen P, Takala J. Relation between obesity from childhood to adulthood and the metabolic syndrome: population based study. BMJ. 1998;317:319.
- 418. Pihlajamäki J, Vanhala M, Vanhala P, Laakso M. The Pro12Ala polymorphism of the PPAR γ2 gene regulates weight from birth to adulthood. Obesity Res.2004;12:187-90.
- 419. Bacha F, Saad R, Gungor N, Arslanian SA. Adiponectin in youth. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:547-52.
- 420. Baker JL, Olsen LW, Sorensen TIA. Childhood body-mass index and the risk of coronary heart diasease in adulthood. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:2329-37.
- 421. Bibbins-Domingo K, Coxson P, Pletcher MJ, Lightwood J, Goldman L. Adolescent overweight and future adult coronary disease. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:2371-9.

- 422. Barrett-Connor E. Sex differences in coronary heart disease. Why are women so superior? Circulation. 1997;95:252-64.
- 423. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors: the Framingham study. Circulation. 1979;59:8-13.
- 424. Kannel WB, Wilson PW. Risk factors that attenuate the female coronary disease advantage. Arch Intern Med. 1995;155:57-61.
- 425. Juutilainen A, Kortelainen S, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Gender difference in the impact of type 2 diabetes on coronary heart disease. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:2898-2904.
- 426. Hu G, Jousilahti P, Qiao Q, Katoh S, Tuomilehto J. Sex differences in cardiovascular and total mortality among diabetic and non-diabetic individuals with or without history of myocardial infarction. Diabetologia.2005;48:856-61.
- 427. Gregg EW, Gu Q, Cheng YJ, Narayn KM, Cowie CC. Mortality trends in men and women with diabetes, 1971 to 2000. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147:149-55.
- 428. Laaksonen DE, Niskanen L, Nyyssönen K et al. C-reactive protein in the prediction of cardiovascular and overall mortality in middle-aged men: a population-based cohort study. Eur Heart Journal. 2005;26:1783-9.
- 429. Laaksonen DE, Niskanen L, Nyyssönen K et al. C-reactive protein and the development of the metabolic syndrome and diabetes in middle-aged men. Diabetologia. 2004;47:1403-10.
- 430. Pradhan AD, Manson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Ridker PM. C-reactive-protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes. JAMA. 2001;286:327-34.
- 431. Hu FB, Meigs JB, Li TY, Rifai N, Manson JE. Inflammatory markers and risk of developing type 2 diabetes in women. Diabetes. 2004;53:639-700.
- 432. Snijder MB, Dekker JM, Visser M et al. Prospective relation of C-reactive protein in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:1656-7.
- 433. Doi Y, Kiyohara Y, Kubo M et al. Elevated C-reactive protein is a predictor of the development of diabetes in a general Japanese population: the Hisayama Study. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2497-2500.
- 434. Han TS, Sattar N, Williams K, Gonzalez-Villalpando C, Lean MEJ, Haffner SM. Prospective study of C-reactive protein in relation to the development of diabetes and metabolic syndrome in Mexico City Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care. 2002;51:2016-2021.
- 435. Thorand B, Baumert J, Kolb H et al. Sex differences in the prediction of type 2 diabetes by inflammatory markers. Results from MONICA/KORA Augsburg case-cohort study, 1984-2002. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:854-60.
- 436. Winzer C, Wagner O, Festa A et al. Plasma adiponectin, insulin sensitivity, and subclinical inflammation in women with prior gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1721-7.

- 437. Ding EL, Song Y, Malik VS, Liu S. Sex differences of endogenous sex hormones and risk of type 2 diabetes. A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2006;295:1288-99.
- 438. Weinberg ME, Manson JE, Buring JE et al. Low sex hormone-binding globulin is associated with the metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. Metabolism. 2006;55:1473-80.
- 439. Kapoor D, Goodwin E, Channer KS, Jones TH. Testosterone replacement therapy improves insulin resistance, glycaemic control, visceral adiposity and hypercholesterolemia in hypogonadal men with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol. 2006;154:899-906.
- 440. Niskanen L, Laaksonen DE, Punnonen K, Mustajoki P, Kaukua J, Rissanen A. Changes in sex hormone-binding globulin and testosterone during weight loss and weight maintenance in abdominally obese men with the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism. 2004;6:208-15.
- 441. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorial data. Biometrics. 1977;33:412-9.
- 442. Shand B, Elder P, Scott R, Frampton C, Willis J. Biovariability of plasma adiponectin. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2006;44:1264-8.
- 443. Hara K, Horikoshi M, Yamauchi T et al. Measurement of the high-molecular weight form of adiponectin in plasma is useful for the prediction of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1357-62.
- 444. Katsuki A, Suematsu M, Gabazza EC et al. Decreased high-molecular weight adiponectin-to-total adiponectin in sera is associated with insulin resistance in Japanese metabolically obese normal-weight men with normal glucose tolerance. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2327-8.
- 445. Warren M, Schreiner PJ, Terry JG. The relation between visceral fat measurement and torso level- is one level better than another? The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study, 1990-1992. Am J Epidemiol. 2006;163:352-8.
- 446. Westerbacka J, Corner A, Tiikkainen M et al. Women and men have similar amounts of liver and intra-abdominal fat, despite more subcutaneous fat in women: implications for sex differences in markers of cardiovascular risk. Diabetologia. 2004;47:1360-9.
- 447. Thorand B, Baumert J, Döring A et al. Sex differences in the relation of body composition to markers of inflammation. Atherosclerosis. 2006;184:216-24.
- 448. Tilg H, Moschen AR. Adipocytokines: mediators linking adipose tissue, inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006; 6:772-83
- 449. Narayan KMV, Boyle J, Thompson TJ, Gregg EW, Williamson DF. Effect of BMI on lifetime risk for diabetes in US. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:1562-6.
- 450. Engström G, Hedblad B, Stavenow L, Lind P, Janzon L, Lindgärde F. Inflammation-sensitive plasma proteins are associated with future weight gain. Diabetes. 2003;52:2097-3101.

- 451. Vozarova B, Stefan N, Lindsay RS et al. Low plasma adiponectin concentrations do not predict weight gain in humans. Diabetes. 2002;51:2964-7.
- 452. Moran A, Steffen LM, Jacobs DR et al. Relation of C-reactive protein to insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk factors in youth. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:1763-8.
- 453. Behre CJ, Fagerberg B, Hulten LM, Hulthe J. The reciprocal association of adipocytokines with insulin resistance and C- reactive protein in clinically healthy men. Metabolism. 2005;54:439-44.
- 454. Espositio K, Pontillo A, Giugliano F et al. Association of low Interleukin-10 levels with the metabolic syndrome in obese women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:1055-8.
- 455. Straczkowski M, Kowalska I, Nikolajuk A, Kruwoska A,Gorska M. Plasma Interleukin-10 Concentration is positively related to insulin sensitivity in young healthy individuals. Diabetes Care 2005;28: 2036-37
- 456. Eizirik DL, Tracey DE, Bendtzen K, Sandler S. An interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein protects insulin-producing beta cells against suppressive effects of interleukin-1 beta. Diabetologia.1991;34:445-8.
- 457. Mochida-Nishimura K, Surewicz K, Cross JV et al. Differential activation of MAP kinase signalling pathways and nuclear factor kappaβ in bronchoalveolar cells of smokers and non-smokers. Mol Med. 2001;7:177-85.
- 458. Lin MS, Shih SR, Li HY et al. Serum C-reactive protein levels correlates better to metabolic syndrome defined by International Diabetes Federation than NCEP ATP III in men. Diab Res Clin Pract. 2007;77:286-92.
- 459. Festa A, D'Agostino Jr. R, Howard G, Mykkänen L, Tracy RP, Haffner SM. Chronic subclinical inflammation as part of the insulin resistance syndrome: the insulin resistance atherosclerosis study (IRAS). Circulation. 2000;102;42-7.
- 460. Shaibi GQ, Cruz ML, Weigensberg MJ et al. Adiponectin independently predicts metabolic syndrome in overweight Latino youth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:1809-13.
- 461. Adam FM, Nara MJ, Adam JM. Fasting insulin, adiponectin, hs-CRP levels and the components of metabolic syndrome. Acta Med Indones. 2006;38:179-84.
- 462. Lakoski SG, Cushman M, Criqui M et al. Gender and C-reactive protein: data from the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) cohort. Am Heart J. 2006; 152(3):593-598.
- 463. Sarlio-Lähteenkorva S, Silventoinen K, Lahti-Koski M. Laatikainen T, Jousilahti P. Socio-economic status and abdominal obesity among Finnish adults from 1992 to 2002. Int J Obes (Lond).2006;30:1653-60.
- 464. Shields BM, Knight B, Hopper H et al. Measurement of cord insulin and insulinrelated peptides suggest that girls are more insulin resistant than boys at birth. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:2661-6.
- 465. Wilkin TJ, Murphy MJ. The gender insulin hypothesis: why girls are born lighter than boys, and implications for insulin resistance. Int J Obes. 2006;30:1056-61.
- 466. Salgin B, Amin R, Yuen K, Williams RM, Murgatroyd P, Dunger DB: Insulin resistance is an intrinsic defect independent of fat mass in women with Turner's syndrome. Horm Res.2006;65:69-75.
- 467. Yesilova Z, Oktenli C, Sanisoglu SY et al. Evaluation of insulin sensitivity in patients with Klinifelter's syndrome: a hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp study. Endocrine. 2005;27:11-15.
- 468. Mittendorfer B. Insulin resistance: sex matters. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2005;8:367-72.
- 469. Haffner SM, Miettinen H, Stern MP. Relatively more atherogenic coronary heart disease risk factors in prediabetic women than prediabetic men. Diabetologia. 1997; 40: 711-717
- 470. Pischon T, Hu FB, Rexrode KM, Girman CJ, Manson JE, Rimm EB. Inflammation, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of coronary disease in women and men. Atherosclerosis. 2008;197:392-9.
- 471. Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW et al. Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: Application to clinical and public health practice: A statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2003;107:499-511.
- 472. Damås JK, Aukrust P. Systemic markers of inflammation- are they useful predictive tools in coronary artery disease?. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2006;40:262-6.

9. ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS I-IV

I Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Kautiainen H, Laakso M. Levels of Adiponectin, C-reactive Protein and Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist are associated with the relative change in body mass index between childhood and adulthood. Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research. 2007;4:328-31

II Saltevo J, Laakso M, Jokelainen J, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Kumpusalo E, Vanhala M. Levels of Adiponectin, C-reactive Protein and Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist Are Associated with Insulin Sensitivity: a Population-Based study. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews. 2008;2 Apr: E-pub ahead a print

III Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Kautiainen H, Kumpusalo E, Laakso M. Association of Creactive Protein, Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist and Adiponectin with the Metabolic Syndrome. The Mediators of Inflammation. 2007; Article ID 93573:1-8

IV Saltevo J, Vanhala M, Kautiainen H, Kumpusalo E, Laakso M. Gender differences in C-reactive protein, Interleukin-1 Receptor antagonist and Adiponectin levels in the Metabolic Syndrome:a population-based study. Diabetic Medicine 2008;23 Apr: E-pub ahead a print

Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences

D 411. Skommer, Joanna. Novel approaches to induce apoptosis in human follicular lymphoma cell lines - precinical assessment. 2007. 80 p. Acad. Diss.

D 412. Kemppinen, Kaarina. Early maternal sensitivity: continuity and related risk factors. 2007. 80 p. Acad. Diss.

D 413. Sahlman, Janne. Chondrodysplasias Caused by Defects in the Col2a1 Gene. 2007. 86 p. Acad. Diss.

D 414. Pitkänen, Leena. Retinal pigment epithelium as a barrier in drug permeation and as a target of non-viral gene delivery. 2007. 75 p. Acad. Diss.

D 415. Suhonen, Kirsi. Prognostic Role of Cell Adhesion Factors and Angiogenesis in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. 2007. 123 p. Acad. Diss.

D 416. Sillanpää, Sari. Prognostic significance of cell-matrix interactions in epithelial ovarian cancer. 2007. 96 p. Acad. Diss.

D 417. Hartikainen, Jaana. Genetic predisposition to breast and ovarian cancer in Eastern Finnish population. 2007. 188 p. Acad. Diss.

D 418. Udd, Marianne. The treatment and risk factors of peptic ulcer bleeding. 2007. 88 p. Acad. Diss.

D 419. Qu, Chengjuan. Articular cartilage proteoglycan biosynthesis and sulfation. 2007. 78 p. Acad. Diss.

D 420. Stark, Harri. Inflammatory airway responses caused by Aspergillus fumigatus and PVC challenges. 2007. 102 p. Acad. Diss.

D 421. Hintikka, Ulla. Changes in adolescents' cognitive and psychosocial funtioning and self-image during psychiatric inpatient treatment. 2007. 103 p. Acad. Diss.

D 422. Putkonen, Anu. Mental disorders and violent crime: epidemiological study on factors associated with severe violent offending. 2007. 88 p. Acad. Diss.

D 423. Karinen, Hannele. Genetics and family aspects of coeliac disease. 2008. 110 p. Acad. Diss.

D 424. Sutinen, Päivi. Pathophysiological effects of vibration with inner ear as a model organ. 2008. 94 p. Acad. Diss.

D 425. Koskela, Tuomas-Heikki. Terveyspalveluiden pitkäaikaisen suurkäyttäjän ennustekijät. 2008. 253 p. Acad. Diss.

D 426. Sutela, Anna. Add-on stereotactic core needle breast biopsy: diagnosis of non-palpable breast lesions detected on mammography or galactography. 2008. 127 p. Acad. Diss.

D 427. Saarelainen, Soili. Immune Response to Lipocalin Allergens: IgE and T-cell Cross-Reactivity. 2008. 127 p. Acad. Diss.